
  
 This meeting will be available to view live on Peterborough City 

Council's Youtube Page. Due to the government legislation on social 
distancing and the limited space available if you would like to observe 
the meeting in person, please register by emailing or calling the 
Democratic Services Officer on the details below. 

 

 

 

AB 
 
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 15 JUNE 2021 
1.30 PM 
 

Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Peterborough, PE2 8TY 
 
 
 

AGENDA  

 Page No 

 
1. Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council.  

 
 

 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor 
 

 

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on: 
 

 

 4.1 23 March 2021 
 

5 - 18 

 4.2 13 April 2021 
 

19 - 24 

 4.3 20 April 2021 
 

25 - 40 

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters 
 

 

 5.1 21/00287/R3FUL - Land At Bishops Road Eastgate 
Peterborough 
 

41 - 78 

 5.2 21/00229/REM - Land East Of Aqua Drive Hampton Water 
Peterborough 
 

79 - 118 

Public Document Pack

1



 5.3 21/00150/HHFUL - Pond House The Park Wisbech Road 
Thorney 
 

119 - 128 

 
 
Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. Audio-recordings of 
meetings may be published on the Council’s website. A protocol on this facility is available at:  
 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recor
ding&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385 
 

Committee Members: 
 

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), P Hiller (Vice Chairman), R Brown, Warren, Iqbal, Jones, Hogg, 
Bond, Dowson, Hussain and Sharp 

 
Substitutes: Councillors: B Rush, M Jamil, Bond and Yurgutene 

 
Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Dan Kalley on telephone 01733 
296334 or by email – daniel.kalley@peterborough.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385


CASE OFFICERS: 
 
Planning and Development Team:  Nicholas Harding, Sylvia Bland, Janet Maclennan, David 

Jolley, Louise Simmonds,, Amanda McSherry, Matt Thomson, 
Asif Ali, Michael Freeman, Jack Gandy, Carry Murphy, Mike 
Roberts, Karen Ip, Shaheeda Montgomery and Susan 
Shenston 

 
Minerals and Waste:   Alan Jones 
 
Compliance:   Jason Grove, Amy Kelley and Alex Wood-Davis 
 
 
NOTES: 
 
1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer, 

Head of Planning and/or Development Management Manager as soon as possible. 
 
2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  

Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.   
 
3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 

implications for that policy, except where expressly stated. 
 
4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 

specifically referred to in the report itself. 
 
5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
 received after their preparation. 
 
 
 

3



This page is intentionally left blank

4



 
 
     
 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

MEETING 
HELD AT 1:30PM, ON 

TUESDAY, 23 MARCH 2021 
HELD VIA ZOOM CONFERENCE ON YOUTUBE 

 
Committee Members Present: Harper (Chairman), Coles, Bond, Brown, Hussain, Hogg, Amjad 
Iqbal, Jones, Rush, Simons and Warren.   

 
Officers Present: Nick Harding, Head of Planning Peterborough and Fenland 

Janet Maclennan, Principal Development Management Officer 
Daniel Kalley, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Karen Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer 
Stephen Turnbull, Planning Solicitor 
Nick Greaves, Principal Engineer 
 

 
43. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Casey and Hiller. Councillors Coles 

and Simons was in attendance as substitutes. 
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

44.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

  
Agenda Item 5.1 - 19/00347/FUL - FERRY MEADOWS COUNTRY PARK HAM LANE 

ORTON WATERVILLE PETERBOROUGH. 

 
Councillor Rush declared non-pecuniary interest in that he was a member of the Royal 
Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB), but would remain open minded throughout 
decision-making process. 
 
Councillor Jones declared a non-pecuniary interest in that that he held a parking pass for 

Ferry Meadows but would remain open minded throughout decision-making process. 

 
45. MEMBERS’ DECLARATION OF INTENTION TO MAKE REPRESENTATIONS AS 

WARD COUNCILLOR 
 

 There were no declarations to speak as Ward Councillor. 

 
46. MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 26 JANUARY 2021 AND 23 FEBRUARY 2021 
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2021 and 23 February 2021 were agreed 
as a true and accurate record.  
  

5



The Planning Enforcement and Environmental Committee agreed that the speaking time 

would be extended to 30 minutes between objectors and supporters. 

 
47. PLANNING AND ENFORCEMENT MATTERS 

 
47.1 19/00347/FUL - FERRY MEADOWS COUNTRY PARK HAM LANE ORTON 

WATERVILLE PETERBOROUGH. 

 
 The Committee received a report, which sought permission for the erection of an indoor 

Lakeside Activity Centre (LAC), which would incorporate a one-storey activity centre 
approximately 14 metres in height with a 34.25 metre high tower to serve an Olympic 
standard climbing facility. The proposed building would have a footprint of 60 metres in 
length by 23 metres in width.  
 
The building would have a total internal floor area of 1412m² (1,052 sqm ground with 360 
sqm first floor) comprising 1261m2 D2 (assembly and leisure) and 151m2 
(restaurant/Café) use.  
 
The proposal would include the following: Internal Lead Climbing: - The centre would 
contain 50 lines which was desirable for a National Performance Centre; circa 14 would 
form the competition lead wall, with 8m overhang. A 15 metre Speed Wall with five degree 
gradient and width of six metre. The Canyon: Intermediate Lead Walls on both sides with 
viewing area on Level one mezzanine (utilising the building’s six metre grid). Bouldering: 
- 11 metre of Competition Standard Bouldering Wall which would be extended to 30 metre 
for competitions. - Beginner Bouldering behind the Competition Lead Wall. Bouldering 
Cave on Level one Mezzanine: 34 metre of Wall Space. Clip ‘n’ Climb: Providing 25 to 30 
pieces of equipment Children’s Play Area and cafe: 25 to 30 pieces of equipment could be 
housed. Function Rooms, an office, training room, kitchen and changing rooms. External 
Lead Climbing at the northern elevation of the building: ranging from 7 to 11 metre with 12 
lines. Viewing Area/Additional Cafe Seating: Located on the mezzanine; would enable 
parents to view their children on the Clip ‘n Climb and climbers to view the ‘The Canyon’ 
Area. Competition Viewing Area: An area for spectators to view competitions. Access to 
the site would be via an existing access road leading from Ham Lane. A new car park was 
proposed to the south of site directly adjacent to the existing overflow car park. It would 
provide 225 standard car parking bays, six mini-bus parking bays and 10 accessible 
parking bays. An additional 10 accessible parking bays had also been proposed to the 
rear of the proposed climbing centre, within 50 metres of the main entrance. It was 
proposed that the climbing centre operated between the hours of 07:00am and 10:00pm 
Monday to Friday, 08:30am and 10:00pm Saturday, and 09:30am and 10:00 on Sundays 
or Bank Holidays. 

 

The Head of Planning introduced the item and highlighted key information from the report 

and the update report. The Officer recommendation was for approval. 

 
 Councillor Day, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to questions 

from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 Ferry Meadows held a special place in the hearts of residents. 

 The application had frightened some local residents and it was not because they 

were against future growth of the City, but Ferry Meadows should be preserved as 

a quite haven for people and wildlife forever.  

 The height of the proposed building had concerned residents as it would be a huge 

visual impact. 

 The impact on the City’s goal to be carbon neutral would be compromised in light 

of the Climate Emergency aims. 

6



 Residents would like the climbing centre to be built in a different location in the 

City. 

 Ferry Meadows was developed to create recreation opportunities for the City. The 

building was the right building, it was proposed in the wrong place. 

 There would be an air pollution impact. Ferry Meadows had been known to close 

its car parks when pollution was high, and this proposal would make the issues 

being experienced worse. 

 During lockdown, people were advised to travel to Ferry Meadows on foot or by 

bicycle. Ferry Meadows should be the type of place where other vehicles were not 

permitted. 

 Oak Meadows was currently being used as an overflow car park and would be 

extended with this type of development. 

 What was once an unspoilt view when approaching from the railway bridge had 

also become heavily used by vehicles. Residents felt that the access road leading 

to Gunwade Lake, could become busier with traffic. 

 There was currently no bus service to Ferry Meadows and the use of an electric 

bus service was long overdue. 

 The application was out of keeping and would encourage visitors by car.  

 There had been increased parking on the residential streets near Ferry Meadows 

due to the charges implemented by the Nene Park Trust (NPT), this was creating 

distress and congestion. As a result, the LA had to introduce anti-social parking 

measures. 

 It was clear that a new travel infrastructure, which was mindful of the transport 

hierarchy and the Climate Emergency should be implemented. 

 Residents were right to fear that the application would attract increased motorised 

vehicles into the area. They feared that the air quality would be impacted along 

with the health of local residents and wildlife. 

 The Committee was asked to consider the concerns of local residents who had 

objected to the application and the impact that the increased  traffic movement 

could have on the park and the surrounding areas given the City’s climate change 

ambitions. 

 Ward Councillors had received a significant amount of emails objecting to the 

climbing wall proposal. However, there had been some residents living some 

distance from the park that had been in support.  

 

 Simon Martin, David Turnock, Michael Samways, Laurance Dobney, Andrea Lindley and 

Victoria Johnson, objectors, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 

Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 
Simon Martin: 
 

 It appeared that the Committee had made their viewpoints clear on the Nene 

ParkTrust site in favour of the application. 

 There were 6,000 concerned local residents who had not been listened to. 

 Market research had been used to justify the project and 250 individuals had 

commented, it was curious how many of them had been climbers. 

 Most concerns centred on the location of the proposal. In January 2020 UK 

climbing featured an article that stated a more appropriate location ought to be 

arranged. 

 There appeared to be a conflict of interest as it was believed that an individual 

involved in the project had been associated with many board discussions such as 

the New Towns Trust.  

7



 The forecasting on visitor figures equated to 270 visitors every single day and it 

was asked how these numbers would be achieved given the demographic of 

Peterborough. 

 Should the business fail as many had nationally, there was uncertainty as to who 

would be responsible for the management and the costs of removal and restoration 

of the area. 

 The carbon impact had not appeared meet the Council’s green credentials.  

 The nearby laybys were already full of vehicles avoiding the car parking charges 

and there was little effort to improve the situation and avoid traffic congestion, 

including pollution in the area. 

 Such a substantial structure would have a negative impact on the only natural 

green space in the City and the risks would be irreversible.  

 A project of this type should only be considered on a Brown Field site with 

established robust infrastructure and transport links.  

 There could be a reason why no other funding was being invested in the project 

other than from NPT, and it was thought that it was a vanity project. 

 There should be an investigation undertaken about the conflict of interest by the 

Council and reconsideration should be given to constituents wishes. 

 Members commented that no Council Member decision had been made on the 

proposed application. 

 The Planning Lawyer advised that Mr Martin was referring to the applicant and 

there had been no conflict of interest for any Members of the Planning Committee. 

 Mr Martin advised that it was apparent that it was a comment made on the Nene 

Park Trust site in relation to the Committee’s support.  

 The Planning Officer confirmed that the comments in question had been made in 

terms of the Council’s officer recommendation. The Planning Committee could 

approve or go against any such recommendation as they saw fit. 

 The NPT Chief Executive’s activities in relation to the New Towns Fund had always 

been declared and had not taken part in any of the meetings where conversations 

were held about the current application. 

 The Chairman reiterated that there was no predetermination issue in relation to the 

Members of the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee in relation to 

the current application being considered for the proposed climbing wall. 

 

David Turnock: 

 

 The Committee had a difficult decision to make against the potential harm that 

could be impacted on a public park. 

 Out of the 12 areas of harm highlighted by officers in relation to the proposal, it had 

been commented that the harm outweighed the benefits from the proposed 

lakeside activity centre. 

 The essential issue felt by the Civic Society was that there needed to be a true 

appreciation of the character of Ferry Meadows. 

 Residents visited the rural setting of Ferry Meadows to relax from their everyday 

cares to find calm in a countryside location with a small range of amenities and to 

enjoy the wildlife and nature. 

 The Covid 19 pandemic had seen many visitors to Ferry Meadows, who enjoyed 

activities such as cycling and exercise. 

 The main issue was whether the proposed facility was in the right place. The 

sequential test reviewed the areas that were acceptable for such a tall structure 

and those in the City Centre were not. There had been little consideration to other 

8



location points around which would be more accessible from highway routes, such 

has the Ice Rink and Rugby Club.  

 The report alluded to the site receiving up to 100,000 visits per year and would 

equate to over 2,000 journeys per week and most would arrive by car along Ham 

Lane. 

 The Civic Society had reviewed the impact on wildlife and found that the building 

could be iconic and oversized. Due to the increase in visits particularly by car, the 

site would not be compatible with the park and would damage an area that had 

operated well without such a sports facility. 

 It was potentially a good building but was proposed for the wrong place. 

 

Michael Samways 

 

 The residents had valued Ferry Meadows and had invested in its future and were 

not NIMBY (not in my back yard) objectors. 

 Some of the objections had included students from the Orton Longueville School. 

 Several objections had been received from residents of Orton Waterville. 

 The sequential tests for alternative sites had not been a convincing and had not 

demonstrated commercial preferable viability.  

 There were other sites such as the Showground, Rowing Lake, Thorpe Wood and 

land in the Royal Estate which had assigned activity in their own master plans, and 

these had not been considered as preferable sites. Furthermore, these options 

would have less environmental impact or risk of flood. 

 There would be a loss of amenity value as the site would not be easily accessible 

to residents with mobility issues.  

 The pandemic had shown how important green spaces were to residents' well-

being. 

 The main mobility points raised was the loss of the shorefront parking particularly 

for viewing sailability sailors and this access should be maintained. 

 Key environmental impacts should be considered such as bats, light pollution, 

impact carbon emissions and landscape. 

 The parking charges had caused a huge issue due to visitors parking on side 

streets. 

 Use of sustainable travel should be encouraged more especially for long distance 

users. 

 Consultation had been undertaken by the objector using walk around visits and 

social media. There had been a variety of methods to speak to residents outside 

of using social media including talking face to face with residents where possible 

following the current Covid 19 guidelines. 

 

Lawrance Dobney 

 

 The Ferry Meadows Park had created a good outside area for residents to enjoy. 

 Ferry Meadows was created to enjoy outdoor pursuits and in the last 12 months 

this had become most important. 

 There were habitats created for the wildlife which would be impacted. 

 The proposed 34 metres building would be an eyesore. 

 No other structure would be permitted around a quarter of a mile in any other 

residential area, and it was questionable as to why this proposal should be. 

 The increased traffic predicted for Ham Lane, including construction traffic would 

be overwhelming and there had been a concern for pedestrian safety, especially 

for children on bikes. 

9



 Ferry Meadows was an outdoor pursuit which was free to use. There had been a 

concern that low-income parents could be pressurised by their children to join in 

the climbing wall activities, at a cost they could not easily afford. 

 The proposed climbing wall area should be kept accessible for people with health 

issues such as obesity. 

 The development would spoil the surrounding natural beauty. 

 

Andrea Lindley 

 

 A petition had been delivered to the Council with over 1,100 signatures of objection 

to the proposal back in 2019, and this had included visitors from outside of the City 

as well as local residents that had visited Ferry Meadows. 

 Ferry Meadows was given to the people of Peterborough by the Development 

Corporation and Nene Park were responsible for the management and care of it 

on behalf of residents. The landowners of Ferry Meadows were Peterborough City 

Council. 

 Ferry Meadows was a well-known country park locally and nationally and was 

awarded the green flag in 2019, attracting nearly 2 million visitors.  

 Country parks on the Local Plan were deemed to provide play and recreational 

areas and other outdoor pursuits such as running and walking.  

 Ferry Meadows had been removed from the LP in 2019, under section policy 25 

which sought to minimise development contrary to the purpose and pursuits of 

country parks.  

 The Council whilst considering recreation in areas around the Nene Valley had 

clearly stated that due regard to the natural environment should be maintained. 

Policy 24 had outlined that activities should be low key in the Nene Valley, moving 

more formal recreation to urban areas of the City. There also appeared to be a lack 

of clarity or determination in LP 24 as to the transition of informal activities to formal 

activities from rural to urban areas. 

 Ferry Meadows was a country park which allowed residents and visitors access to 

green open spaces, wildlife, and nature in a rural landscape. The Nene Valley was 

a rural area and therefore, the proposed development was not appropriate in this 

type of country park. 

 The mechanisms of development had been passed to the NPT, which was a non-

statutory body, however there was reference within the 2017 master plan and that 

these should be low key in Ferry Meadows country park. 

 Ferry Meadows was located within the Nene Valley and consideration for 

development should be dealt with under section 27 of the LP. Therefore proposed 

largescale building and car park would not conserve or enhance the landscape in 

a rural country park. 

 It was questioned how the best interests of the City’s residents and countrywide 

visitors would be protected if the proposal was approved. 

 There had been no objection to NPT organising the fireworks display or kite flying 

events, however the proposed application was for a more permanent event. 

 There were no concerns about how the NPT stewardship of the land had been 

conducted. However, it was not a private country park it was for all to enjoy. 

 The centre could have an immediate draw to it; however, similar climbing walls had 

been subject to liquidation.  

 The petition was started in 2019 for a two-week period and conducted in the City 

Centre and at Ferry Meadows. The petition concluded that there seemed to be a 

lack of understanding about the proposed climbing wall. 

10



 The fireworks, running, and other ad Hoc events were one off events, whereas the 

climbing wall was a permanent structure. 

 If the petition time could have been extended, then it was anticipated that more 

people would have signed it. 

 The parking charge increase of 5% and had created a parking issue in nearby 

streets and the additional car parking proposed would not alleviate the issues. 

 

Victoria Johnson 

 

 The heart of the park where the climbing wall was proposed for erection had 

provided the best views, especially over the Hanglands.  

 Public users with mobility issues would be encouraged to travel further up the 

valley if the proposal was approved. 

 The only way to access the park was on Oundle Road and on the busiest days, the 

pollution was very unpleasant. 

 Climbers would need vehicles to transport their equipment, which would increase 

pollution. 

 Many disabled people using the park were fearful of losing the access point. Some 

also commented that they could also not afford the access fees.  

 Car parking charges had been £1.80 for an hour and a balance needed to be found 

to increase visitors, however, a climbing wall was not the right facility for that.  

 
3:10pm – At this point the Committee took a short break. 
 

 Cllr Fitzgerald, Jackie Bland, Ian Forsythe, Mark Woods and Rob Grover, supporters   
addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the 
key points highlighted included: 
 

Councillor Fitzgerald: 

 

 There had been much opposition, however it was questioned whether how many 

of them lived in the City.  

 The silent majority appeared to be in favour of the proposals. 

 There was an ambition to increase economic growth opportunities as well as sports 

opportunities for Peterborough to promote healthier lifestyle choices, therefore the 

application seemed to meet that ambition. 

 Growth should link with local plans and policies and be in sync with the Council’s 

green aspirations and safeguard the environment. 

 The site could be deemed iconic once built. 

 The height and location had been raised as a concern; however, this was 

subjective.  

 There were many buildings that had been constructed in places that were out of 

character, however, those buildings such as Peterborough Cathedral and the 

Shard in London had become iconic.  

 The concerns raised by wildlife, flora and fauna had been mitigated and covered 

within the report. 

 As people move away from using petrol or diesel vehicles the carbon emission 

impact would be less in the future. 

 Oundle Road could be a busy road at peak hours however, allowances had been 

made in relation to those issues. Peterborough was renowned for the best 

11



highway’s network with the fasted travel route compared to another City’s such as 

Manchester. 

 The business case was not relevant to the Planning application. The finances in 

relation to the NPT charity was available to the public had someone wished to 

scrutinise how efficiently it was being operated. The positives of the proposal 

outweighed the negatives, and these were covered in the report. 

 The number of people that were usually in support were mainly silent. There had 

been significant canvassing undertaken who were in support.  

 

Jackie Bland 

 

 The speaker was a supporter and had lived locally and had enjoyed many of the 

facilities. 

 The supporter had been a Chief Executive Officer of the County Sports Partnership 

and two national disability charities based in Peterborough. 

 The supporter was speaking as Chairperson of the NPT Board. 

 A great deal of work had been involved by many to deliver the proposal which had 

captured the needs of many stakeholders. 

 Central to the Nene Park’s mission was to support healthy lifestyles and this was 

conducted in many ways through the provision of leisure and recreational facilities 

in what was regarded as a peri-urban park within an urban area.  

 NPT operated a honeypot approach which provided some areas for activities, 

socialising, eating and other areas for peaceful enjoyment. 

 The team consulted widely across the City on its Master Plan to determine ways in 

which the NPT could provide a greater impact on improving mental and physical 

health. It was identified through the consultation that there needed to be a wider 

range of activities on offer, which could be accessed all year round and during poor 

weather. 

 It was also important that activities would be accessible to users of all ages and 

abilities and to families with young children. 

 The lakeside area of Ferry Meadows was already a busy hub which included 

existing large buildings, car parks and outdoor pursuits.  

 The site was missing indoor activities and on inclement weather, the car parks 

would be empty. 

 Families and schools would be attracted to the indoor facility offering a wide range 

of activities in the winter months, such as the nature-based toddler area, clip and 

climb and the café which would offer a place to socialise, whilst providing 

magnificent views across the lakes. 

 The landmark building would be located in a beautiful, landscaped area which 

would offer improved disabled access, with new areas to view the lake by car, 

improve environmental impact and wildlife diversity. 

 The NPT was dedicated to nature, wildlife and climate change mitigation and there 

was an ongoing commitment in these areas. 

 In 2017 when the NPT was considering its options for new recreational initiatives, 

the association of British Climbing walls had recorded one million visits in the Uk, 

with an estimated 20% annual income increase.  

 Climbing had been known to improve physical, mental health and was inclusive for 

people with disabilities. 

12



 The applicant had proposed an Olympic standard facility to allow people to fulfil 

goals and dreams to become a potential Olympic competitor from Peterborough. 

 The NPT was proud of what they had achieved on the waters of the park and hoped 

to replicate the success on the walls of a lakeside activity centre, by becoming a 

regional and national centre for climbing and para-climbing. 

 There would be provision for car park areas where people with disabilities could 

drive up to the lake to enjoy the views. The car parks would provide a better view 

across the lake currently offered.  

 The entire area surrounding area would be made accessible for disabled people 

and offered a café which had views across the lake.  

 Many people would want to take up the opportunity as a form of entertainment. 

 The offer was meant to reach out to a broader range of people and provide a 

choice. It was not just the offer a building with a climbing wall. 

 The intension was to offer the opportunity for people to meet and to provide 

activities for young people and young adults. 

 The term honeypot was meant to attract people to make use of other activities the 

park had to offer. 

 The NPT was charitable organisation and not a commercial venture. 

 There were currently over 5,5k visitors to NPT a day and the proposal would only 

increase that figure by a few hundred more per day. There would not be a huge 

impact on the park. The proposal had also been heavily scrutinized by the NPT 

trustee board. 

 The hub was  a contained area of activity, however the NPT would always look to 

increase the variety of activities, but these would not trickle into other areas of the 

park. 

 The new car park was to address the issues being experienced with the current 

car park in that it was an inefficient use of space and had been prone to drainage 

issues.  

 The NPT were working with the Council to address the issues of parking on the 

neighbouring streets. It was also felt that the issues had exacerbated over the 

Covid-19 pandemic period.  

 The new car park would operate on the same camera and payment system as the 

current car park. 

 Most visitors had used the car parking instead of street parking. There had been 

incentives introduced such as charges on weekends only and there had been 

transport improvements to be undertaken by the Council. Charging points for 

electric vehicles were available and free to use. 

 It was likely that there would be a beneficial parking offer for those using the 

climbing wall and sign up to annual passes. 

 

Ian Forsythe 

 

 Concerns were felt about the future and rising costs for the park. Ferry Meadows 

had introduced car parking fees, but with a sympathetic mind to the people who 

lived locally. 

 The supporter was the Director of Opportunity Peterborough, which had supported 

economic generation and jobs for the City. 

13



 The supporter had visited a climbing wall and had experienced a venue that was a 

vibrant environment full of engagement for people with different abilities, therefore 

the application for the same venue for Peterborough was welcomed. 

 If growth for Peterborough was sustained, the City would attract professional 

employees to help build the vibrance of the City. 

 Fletton Quays had changed the perception of Peterborough. 

 Architecture divided people; however, the climbing wall proposal would provide a 

venue for the City to enjoy. 

 The climbing wall proposal was great offer for Peterborough and there could be 

other opportunity to expand to other activity centres, such as a snowdome. 

 

Mark Woods  

 

 The supporter was a CEO for Cambridgeshire Meridian Academies trust and was 

representing the views Nene Park and West Town Academy. 

 The proposed climbing wall would provide and enhanced facility accessible in all 

weathers for students, families and the wider community. 

 Nene Park Academy prided themselves on offering a challenging and broad 

curriculum with unique and exciting opportunities for students to take advantage of 

to develop physically and mentally healthy individuals. 

 Students had already been offered outdoor adventure opportunities with bodies 

such as the outward-bound trust and visits to local cultural and heritage sites. 

There had been no climbing facility. Students recent feedback was that they would 

like to have experienced climbing at these outdoor adventures. 

 The climbing wall proposal would enhance activities on offer through the school for 

students and families on an everyday basis.  

 Students could also continue the climbing activities during the weekend with their 

families. 

 The schools were looking forward to taking students to the park with a climbing 

facility and providing taster sessions to encourage them to engage in a new activity. 

 Climbing had an advantage as a sport which was accessible to all with varied 

abilities and cultures. 

 The Nene Part Academy Principal had worked at a previous school that had a 

climbing wall and some students had gone on to pursue their new skills at a higher 

level. 

 There was an opportunity for students to develop a passion for their local park. 

There was a gap between when young people stop being taken to Ferry Meadows 

and start taking their parents themselves, therefore the proposal provided a great 

opportunity for young people to continue to enjoy the park. 

 It also provided a positive place for young people and would encourage them to 

stay in Peterborough in the future. 

 If the proposal was approved the schools would ensure they utilised it. 

 There was an issue of users parking in neighbouring streets, which unfortunately 

occurred at other places of interest, and it was unfortunate that people had not 

realised that the parking charges were paying for the activity they had travelled to 

join. Schools also experienced the same parking issues. 

 The curriculum benefits of a climbing wall would provide students with the 

opportunity to experience things they would not necessarily be fortunate to enjoy. 

Once students showed an interest in particular activities, after school clubs were 

14



formed and the climbing wall would provide this opportunity. The proposed facility 

could also develop a student’s skill set further towards international level. 

 The climbing wall proposed was not a standard centre it would provide a centre of 

excellence. It would also draw people to that part of the park. 

 

 Lynette Swinburne, Andrew MacDermott and Matthew Bradbury, The Agent and 

applicant addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In 

summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 The application had been through a rigorous scrutinising process, which involved 

an Environmental Impact Assessment opinion ratified by the secretary of state. 

 The application was recommended for approval by officers and consultees. 

 A comment had been received from statutory consultees that the proposal would 

amount to a net gain in relation to bio-diversity. 

 Electric Vehicles and bikes including charging points had already existed at Ferry 

Meadows Park, however, there had been power issues which the trust planned to 

rectify with the climbing wall proposal. The building would be low energy use. 

 Semi permeable surroundings around the building would be in relation to the car 

parking surface and it was proposed to use a system of gravel and mesh. There 

would also be some hard standing and it was important to avoid tarmac. 

 Events would be planned to avoid using overflow parking. 

 Future proofing of charging points and using the current system was being 

considered. 

 The colour scheme had been chosen because of the material proposed, which had 

dictated the choices available. Cladding would be considered with officers following 

planning permission to ensure the right decisions were being made.  

 The schedule monument artifact findings were in a far-ranging area and the site 

proposed had a low archaeological impact following assessments. There were 

some signs of archology activity around the proposed site however these had been 

protected overtime by the clay and water forming a film of alluvium layer over the 

area.  

 It was not anticipated that there would be significant adverse effect with wind flow 

for sailing once the proposed building was erected. 

 

 The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in 
summary, key points raised and responses to questions included: 
 

 Members were advised that there had been a highways time limiting condition for 
events to prevent parking on the street. 

 The traffic on Oundle Road was captured and monitored regularly and the proposal 
was acceptable subject to the imposition of conditions. 

 Other sites for the proposal had been explored; however, they were identified for 
housing or industrial use or were too small to accommodate the building structure. 
The showground location would not satisfy policy as it was not central enough. 

 It was immaterial where the representations had been raised irrespective of where 
they lived.  

 Members were advised that there had been late representations of objection 
received since the update report was published and the concerns outline included: 
the trust representation to committee and that change.org petition should be 
ignored; NPT was encouraging letters of support to be sent to the Committee; there 
was a conflict of interest for the CEO of NPT; not enough information had been 
provided about other sites evaluated for the proposal; NPT had not undertaken a 

15



wider consultation; the proposal was unattractive; the proposal would conflict with 
the Council’s policies and the Local Plan. 

 Members were also advised that late letters of support were received about the 
proposal, which included: the climbing wall would be a valuable asset; employment 
opportunities would increase; the proposed facility would be a significant recreation 
resource and attract significant income for the City. 

 Members commented that the proposal would generate income for the park rather 
than relying on grants. 

 Members commented that the proposal would make good use of a car park that 
currently flooded on a regular basis.  

 Members felt that the proposal was not overbearing in size. 

 The proposal was attractive and a good business opportunity for Peterborough and 
growth.  

 Nene Park Trust had undertaken some positive projects to attract residents to the 
park.  

 Sympathy was felt for local residents that were against the proposal.  

 The proposal was divisive however, it was a fantastic opportunity for schools and 
children. 

 The proposed climbing wall would attract people throughout the year. 

 Members commented that the concerns in relation to use of the site for people with 
disabilities had been clarified and was acceptable. 

 Members were concerned about traffic and parking; however, mitigation measures 
were being explored by NPT and the Council.  

 Although an alternative location would be preferred, the appropriate level of 
assessments had been carried out by the planning officer to demonstrate that there 
was no other alternative.  

 Members felt that the honey pot would attract income to Ferry Meadows Park and 
the City. 

 Some Members felt that there had been concerns raised by residents, the civic 
society and parish council, which had not seemed to be answered.  

 Some Members felt that Ferry Meadows was a very important place in residents 
lives that should be protected. 

 The time permitted for the petition to be signed should have been increased. 

 There seemed to be an issue the proposal location and whether it was for the right 
area. 

 Some Members felt that it would be an injustice to the people of Peterborough if 
the proposal was not supported.  

 Ferry Meadows held many events such fireworks and Cancer runs events, which 
had reduced in participation numbers over the years and the proposal seemed to 
be replacing these events.  

 The congestion issues would be short term, and this had been confirmed by 
Highways and therefore was acceptable.  

 The construction management plan would be agreed to control location, noise and 
dust following approval of application.  

 
 RESOLVED:  

 
The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and 
representations. A motion was proposed and seconded to GRANT the application. The 
Committee RESOLVED (10 For, 1 Against) to GRANT the planning permission subject to 
relevant conditions delegated to officers.  
 

 REASON FOR THE DECISION: 
 

16



Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 

been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 

relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:  

 

 The proposal would enhance the recreational offer within the Nene Valley, bring 

recognisable benefits to the local economy as well as promoting active and healthy 

lifestyles and would accord with policies LP7 and LP24 of the Adopted 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 91 and 92 of the National 

Planning Policy (NPPF);  

 A sequential approach to site selection had been undertaken which demonstrated 

there were no sequentially preferable sites which could accommodate the 

development in accordance with policies LP12, LP24 and LP30 of the Adopted 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 86, 87, 89, of the NPPF (2019);  

 The proposal had demonstrated that there were no sequentially preferable sites 

available at a lesser risk of flooding and that the development would be safe for its 

lifetime and would not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.  

 In applying the exception test, the proposal had demonstrated that it would provide 

wider sustainability benefit to the community and the development would be safe 

for its lifetime and would not increase flood risk elsewhere and 91 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 68 accorded with policies LP24 and LP32 of the Adopted 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 155, 158,159, 160 and 161 of the 

NPPF (2019).  

 The proposal had demonstrated that the site could be suitably drained, would 

incorporate SuDS into the proposal to reduce surface water run-off and adequate 

foul water treatment and disposal could be achieved. The proposal therefore 

accorded with policy LP32 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and 

paras. 163 and 165 of the NPPF (2019).  

 The proposal would have a negligible impact on the Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas identified. The proposal would lead to less than substantial 

harm to Lynch Farm Complex (SM); a ‘strip, map and record’ mitigation strategy 

was proposed. The public benefits of the proposal would outweigh the less than 

substantial harm, hence the proposal would accord with policy LP19 of the 

Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 189, 190, 193, 194 and 

196 of the NPPF (2019).  

 The visual harm caused by the building to the wider landscape was outweighed 

by the enhancement of the recreational and leisure benefits of the proposal 

ensuring Ferry Meadows Country Park as a major destination in line with the 

overall landscape strategy for the `Ferry Meadows Corridor’ LCA Sub-Area. The 

proposal therefore accorded with policy LP27 of the Adopted Peterborough Local 

Plan (2019).  

 The proposal would avoid any adverse impact on the biodiversity within the site, 

including protected species and biodiversity enhancements would be provided. 

Hence the proposal accorded with policies LP24, LP28 of the Adopted 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and para 175 of the NPPF (2019).  

 The proposal would provide a building of high quality, innovative design which 

would be sympathetic to the surrounding context, and which had the potential to 

enhance the setting of the park, add to the local distinctiveness of the area and 

create a sense of place. Hence the proposal accorded with policies LP16 and LP31 

17



of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 124, 127 and 131 

of the NPPF.  

 The proposal had appropriately considered the tree stock within the site and the 

impact of the development on existing trees and where trees were to be removed 

a significant number of new trees planted would be secured. Hence the proposal 

accorded with policy LP29 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The loss of open space would be outweighed by the benefits of the proposal and 

the provision of enhanced facilities serving the community; the loss of grassland 

and habitat would not result in an adverse impact on the biodiversity of the site; 

and the proposal would not impact on the character of the area or heritage asset 

to an unacceptable degree. Hence the proposal accorded with policy LP23 of the 

Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and para 97 of the NPPF (2019).  

 The proposal would not unduly impact on the surrounding highway network. The 

site was accessible by a choice of means of transport the proposal would ensure 

that a safe and convenient access for all users would be available. Hence the 

proposal would accord with policy LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan 

(2019) and paragraphs 102 and 108 of the NPPF.  

 The proposal would not result in any adverse impact on neighbouring occupiers 

and therefore accorded with policy LP17 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan 

in respect of neighbouring amenity.  

 The proposal would not result in an unacceptable level of pollution in terms of air 

quality, noise and lighting. The proposal included measures to encourage 

sustainable travel, measures to enhance and protect ecology, and measure to 

reduce energy demand and promoting energy efficiency. Hence the proposal 

would accord with policy LP31 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
 

CHAIRMAN 
1:30PM – 5:03PM 

18



 
 
     
 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

MEETING 

HELD AT 1:30PM, ON 
TUESDAY, 13 APRIL 2021 

VIA ZOOM VIRTUAL CONFERENCE 
 

Committee Members Present: Harper (Chairman), Casey (Vice Chairman), Bond, Brown, Hiller, 
Hogg, Amjad Iqbal, Hussain, Jones, Rush and Warren.   

 
Officers Present: Sylvia Bland, Group Lead Development Management Place and 

Economy 
Chris Gordon, Planning Solicitor 
Nick Greaves, Principal Engineer 
Daniel Kalley, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 

 
48. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 There were no apologies for absence received.  

 
49.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 There were no declarations of interest received. 

 
50. MEMBERS’ DECLARATION OF INTENTION TO MAKE REPRESENTATIONS AS 

WARD COUNCILLOR 
 

 There were no declarations of interest received to address the committee as a Ward 
Councillor.  
 

  
  
51. PLANNING AND ENFORCEMENT MATTERS 

 
51.1 20/01550/FUL - Lorac Lodge, 4 Turnpike Road, Hampton Vale, Peterborough 

 
 The Committee received a report, which sought planning permission for the 'Change of 

use from C3 (single dwelling) to C2 (children’s home) for up to 3 persons'.  
 
It was understood that the proposed children's home would provide care and support to 
vulnerable children and those with learning disabilities within the Peterborough area. The 
home would enable the children receiving care to live as independently as possible within 
a registered home setting, supported living service with a tenancy or home with cared 
(HwC) package.  
 
The home would offer different levels of support, according to the service users specific 
needs. These services may range from everyday life challenges such as domestic duties, 
shopping, financial management, companionship and more intimate personal care such 
as washing and dressing. Specialist support and care would be provided to those people 

19



with more complex and challenging needs i.e. people with Learning Disabilities, Physical 
Disabilities, Autistic Spectrum Disorders, Mental Health Illness, Acquired Brain Injuries and 
Behaviours that Challenge.  
 
No external alterations or other associated development is proposed. Access 
arrangements would remain as existing. 

 
The Group Lead for Development Management introduced the item and highlighted key 

information from the report and update report.  

 
 Councillor Cereste, Ward Councillor addressed the Committee and responded to 

questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 The responses to objections from officers was welcomed and for making sure the 

application was going to have less of an impact than what was originally proposed. 

 There was a need for providing this type of accommodation and service to 

Peterborough and the children the Council was responsible for looking after. 

However, this location was the worst place possible for the proposal to go. 

 As Ward Councillor for Hampton one of the biggest issues was the lack of parking 

and at times it was impossible for some residents to be able to leave their driveway.  

 It was not clear from the report whether the occupiers of the premises would also 

have vehicles. It was important to note that the local highways authority objected 

to this application. 

 The report outlined that there were six usable parking spaces, however when 

viewing the site it was more realistic to expect no more than three usable spaces 

could be accommodated. There would be extra vehicles parked by the premises 

when there was a shift change, increasing the issues around the area in terms of 

vehicle congestion. 

 Committee were urged to look at the application in front of them and not think about 

what the property could be used as in the future, for example turning the premises 

into a house of multiple occupation (HMO). 

 There was always the risk that if the application was not successful that the 

property could become a HMO without any need for planning permission and that 

could mean a number of additional vehicles being parked at the premises.  

 It was important that this application was taken on its merits and not whether it 

could be a HMO. 

 It did not matter when the handover times were, there was always going to be a 

number of cars on the site. 

 The road was so narrow that if cars parked on the road legally there would not be 

enough room to get an emergency vehicle down the road. 

 

 

 Mr Darren Jayatilaka, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 

Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 There were two main issues with the application. Firstly that there was no adequate 

parking in the area. Although the planning officers have stated that three cars could 

be parked in the drive this was just not possible. 

 The proposed handover time of 8am was not ideal. There were still a number of 

people at home at this time and a number of residents were also preparing to take 

their children to school at this time. 

20



 There was already too much traffic on the road due to the school runs and this was 

a risk to child safety. 

 Due to the lack of parking there had been a number of aggressive confrontations 

between residents and visitors to the area. As there had been incidents in the past 

with waste disposal vehicles some of the road had been painted as double yellow, 

however ideally more of the road needed to be painted this way. 

 There were no other businesses on the street, the homes were used as residential 

dwellings and were used peacefully by the residents. However, with this application 

it was possible that children with challenging behaviour might be more common 

with this application. 

 

 The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in 
summary, key points raised and responses to questions included: 
 

 The Highways Officer confirmed that they did not support tandem parking in any 

form on these types of developments. In this instance there was the possibility that 

there would be issues with one car trying to exit another trying to enter. It was 

debateable whether the three cars proposed parking alongside each other would 

be feasible. In addition the use of tandem parking could be problematic if there was 

additional visits or staff needed to attend the premises. 

 There would be significant vehicle movements during shift changeovers which 

would most likely result in some of the vehicles being parked on the side of the 

road outside the premises.  

 Although conditions could be included with regards to the parking these had not 

been discussed with the applicant and there was a reason why the applicants had 

made the suggestions for parking. 

 It was important that members looked at the application that was in front of 

committee only and not make suggestions. There were strong objections from the 

highway team with regards to the level of parking and the suggested approach by 

the applicants. 

 There were issues down the road at the current time, with more cars at this property 

it would make the situation worse and it was not possible to proceed with the 

application. 

 The Council was short of care facilities that could be used, the only objection that 

had been made by the local councillor and residents was that there would be 

overcrowding of parking. The Care Commission had made recommendations that 

more care facilities such as those being proposed were needed in Peterborough. 

 It was easier to manage tandem parking if there was a set time for the handover 

and shift patterns. If this was to be a HMO it would be more difficult to control the 

parking situation. In addition there was no planning permission required to turn a 

home into a HMO for less than six people. 

 There needed to be more encouragement for homes such as these for looked after 

children, compared to institutions that had a number of children staying in them. 

 The two-year approval was too long, if there were any issue they would more than 

likely be seen quite quickly and there would be too long a period to be able to do 

anything about this. 

 

RESOLVED: 
 

21



The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and 

representations. A motion was proposed and seconded to go against officer 

recommendation and REFUSE the application due to insufficient onsite car parking which 

would lead to an increased level of off street parking in local area that would be detrimental 

to highways safety and residential amenity. The Committee RESOLVED (8 for, 3 against) 

to REFUSE the planning permission subject to relevant conditions delegated to officers 

particularly in relation to the treatment of the tree.  

 

 
  
 REASON FOR THE DECISION: 

 

The proposal was not acceptable having been assessed in the light of all material 

considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan, in 

particular insufficient onsite car parking leading to an increased level of off street parking 

that would be detrimental to highways safety and residential amenity. 

 

51.2 21/00032/HHFUL - 21 Normangate, Ailsworth, Peterborough, PE5 7BF 
 

 The Committee received a report, which sought permission for a two storey rear extension 

constructed to the side of and above an existing single storey rear outrigger comprising a 

kitchen. It would be part single storey and part two storey in height forming a staggered 

arrangement.  

 

The ground floor rear extension would measure 3m in depth and 4.8m in width. The 

western end would have a flat roof measuring 3m from ground level with a roof light. The 

ground floor would accommodate a dining room. Together with the existing single storey 

kitchen outrigger, it would extend almost across the whole rear elevation. It would not 

project out from the dwelling any deeper than the existing outrigger.  

 

The first floor rear extension would measure 3m in depth and 6m in width. It would have a 

hipped roof measuring 7.1m in height to the ridge and 5.6m to the eaves. The first floor 

would accommodate a bedroom and a bathroom with one window to serve each room. It 

would be situated partly above the existing kitchen outrigger and partly above the 

proposed ground floor extension. It would extend across two-thirds of the rear elevation. 

It would not project out from the dwelling any deeper than the existing outrigger.  

 

The extension would be finished in materials that match those on the existing dwelling with 

the exception of the aluminium bi-fold doors. 

 

The Group Lead for Development Management introduced the item and highlighted key 

information from the report and the update report.  

  

 The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in 
summary, key points raised and responses to questions included: 
 

 This was an established home and the proposals sought would improve the property. The 
only reason it was at committee was due to the relationship between the applicant and 
the Council. In addition there were no neighbours objecting to the proposal. 

 
 RESOLVED:  

22



 
The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and 
representations. A motion was proposed and seconded to GRANT the application. The 
Committee RESOLVED (Unanimous) to GRANT the planning permission subject to 
relevant conditions delegated to officers particularly in relation to the treatment of the tree.  
 

 REASON FOR THE DECISION: 
 

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having 

been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 

relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:  

- The proposed extensions would not acceptably impact upon the character and 

appearance of the site or the surrounding streetscene, in accordance with Policy LP16 of 

the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

- Neighbours surrounding the application site would retain an acceptable standard of 

amenity, in accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

- Sufficient parking would remain on site and therefore the proposal would be in 

accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
1:30 – 2.46PM 

23



This page is intentionally left blank

24



 
 
     
 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

MEETING 
HELD AT 1:30, ON 

TUESDAY, 20 APRIL 2021 
VIA THE COUNCIL’S YOUTUBE PAGE, PETERBOROUGH 
 

Committee Members Present: Harper (Chairman), Casey (Vice Chairman), Bond, Brown, Hiller, 
Hussain, Hogg, Amjad Iqbal, Jamil, Rush and Warren.   

 
Officers Present: Nick Harding, Head of Planning Peterborough and Fenland 

Daniel Kalley, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Karen Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer 
Chris Gordon, Planning Solicitor 
Nick Greaves, Principal Engineer 
 

 
52. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Jones. Councillor Jamil was in attendance 

as substitute. 
 

53.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 Councillor Hiller declared a pecuniary interest in agenda item 19/00272/OUT - Land Off Newborough 
Road, North Of A47 And West Of A16 Paston Peterborough PE4 7AA and would not take part in the 
meeting. 
 
Councillor Hiller also declared and a non-pecuniary interest on item 20/00846/HHFUL - 21 Cherryfields 
Orton Waterville Peterborough PE2 5XD in that he visited the applicant’s property 12 months before 
the application was submitted and therefore, would remain in the meeting with an open mind. 
 

54. MEMBERS’ DECLARATION OF INTENTION TO MAKE REPRESENTATIONS AS WARD 
COUNCILLOR 
 

 There were no declarations to speak as Ward Councillor 

 
At this point Cllr Hiller left the meeting for item 4.1 19/00272/OUT - Land Off Newborough 
Road, North Of A47 And West Of A16 Paston Peterborough PE4 7AA. 
 

55. PLANNING AND ENFORCEMENT MATTERS 
 

55.1 19/00272/OUT - Land Off Newborough Road, North Of A47 And West Of A16 Paston 
Peterborough PE4 7AA. 
 

 The Committee received a report, which sought permission for Up to 870 residential dwellings 
with access from Newborough Road; A 2 form entry primary school and playing field enough 
land for a three form entry primary school, 2.9 hectares, would be provided. A local centre of up 
to 0.25 hectares with up to 929 square metres of A1/A2/A3/A4/A5/D1, all Class E uses, open 
space, recreation areas and landscaping, which would include a buffer to the Car Dyke; 

25



associated works and infrastructure; demolition of all buildings on site (Leeds Farm cottages and 
associated farm buildings), two foul water pumping stations under the outline planning 
permission, all matters, except access, were reserved for future applications and consideration. 

 

The Head of Planning introduced the item and highlighted key information from the report and 

the update report, which included two late letters of objection in relation to the traffic volume on 

Newborough Road. 

 
 

 Kieran Rushe, the Agent and Andrew Wilson and Dan Griffiths the applicant’s representatives 

addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 

highlighted included: 

 

 The application was a joint venture between Taylor Wimpey and Calco 100 who had 

owned the land since August 2005. 

 The site had been allocated as part of the Norwood development in the Council’s DPD 

since 2011 and 2012 site allocation and was included within the Council’s housing figures 

for 2025-2026. 

 The applicant had engaged with the Council for a considerable amount of time and other 

landowners to proceed with the plans of development for the site, however there had 

been some delays in finalising some areas of the application, the but applicant was in the 

position to submit a stage one proposal. 

 A formal planning application was submitted in 2019 following statutory and public 

consultation. The applicant had worked with the various officers to resolve issues that 

had been highlighted, such as wildlife trust and the landscape team. 

 There had been wide discussions held with Highways England and a detailed plan of 

highway conditions had been submitted, this included a traffic monitoring plan. 

 There would be 2.9 hectares of land allocation for a primary school and playing fields 

central to the full development area. 

 A retain centre would be provided and this was welcomed by Paston residents through 

the public consultation. 

 The development would create new open space, landscape and a Car Dyke similar the 

one in Paston. 

 The number five bus route would operate through the site and into the Town Centre, thus 

increasing the site’s sustainability. 

 There would be no issue of access for other neighbouring landowners and the master 

plan had been agreed. Therefore, there had been no constraints with the remainder of 

the housing allocation being delivered in the future. 

 A section 106 agreement would be applied for additional money for affordable housing 

from the Combined Authority for each planning phase put forward, in order to boost the 

proposed allocation. 

 The viability assessment undertaken with all parties had made the affordable homes 

allocation low due to several factors such as the costs in relation to house prices, housing 

percentages and the implementation of infrastructure. The site had carried a high 

infrastructure charge and on balance officers and consultants were recommending the 

scheme. 

 House inflation would form part of the viability assessment which was robustly 

undertaken. 

 The £2m shortfall for the provision of the school was due to a difference in opinion with 

the Council on how much funding the applicant would be required to provide. 

 Taylor Wimpy had spent a considerable amount of time trying reach an agreement with 

the other landowners Church Commissioners, Milton Estates and the Co-operative to 

26



deliver a full application for the housing allocation. Taylor Wimpey had developed their 

plans whilst the other landowners were currently working on their part of the application, 

and it was believed that submission was due for the Autumn 2021. 

 There was one access point into the site that would be sufficient for the current application 

however, a monitor and manage condition had been imposed to ensure that it would be 

sustainable. The traffic management data would need to be submitted on a regular basis 

to the Council to ensure that the access point had not caused issues to the proposed 200 

home development. 

 Parking would be monitored to ensure that it would not cause the same issues being 

experienced in housing developments such as Hampton and Hampton Vale.  

 Access to the proposed two hundred houses could be accommodated on the current 

Newborough Road. The developers would need to provide evidence that further 

proposals could be accommodated using the access points on Newborough Road and 

the A16 in order to gain Highway approval. 

 The £2m school funding shortfall was identified following a viability assessment where 

land provision over financial costs were considered. The full proposal of 2,000 homes 

required a three-form entry school to be provided eventually. The current developer 

Taylor Wimpy and Calco 100, had provided enough land for the provision of a three-form 

entry school during the first phase of the development and therefore had met the 

contribution criteria. This had left a £2m gap needed to fully operate at two-form entry 

school and it was expected that the funding would be met by the Council or other 

Government funding in the meantime. The next Norwood Estate developer would 

eventually need to pay a pro-rata payment towards the school provision; however, it was 

uncertain whether the viability assessment would produce an issue for the phase two part 

of the development.  

 The implementation timeline for the school to be built had not been finalised to date and 

discussions were underway between the developer, the Council’s Planning and 

Education Departments. The key issues highlighted had been the safety of school 

children travelling to a site where construction would be taking place; when the land would 

be given to the Council to start the process and where the £2m funding shortfall could be 

met. 

 The proposal would limit the development to 200 houses to start with despite the 

highway's mitigation proposed by the applicant and the Council’s monitor and manage 

condition. This was due to the proposed Norwood Estate Road infrastructure currently 

being explored by the Council’s Highways Team, Highways England and the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority. This was to avoid the Council 

having to remove any road infrastructure implemented by the developer. 

 The number five bus would not travel down the A16 until highway infrastructure had been 

developed. There would be a bus stop within the development and a turning point. 

 There was an A47 and A16 junction improvement scheme for about £1m as part of the 

developer’s proposals. However, the Council had not wanted the scheme to be installed, 

only to be removed by the CPCA improvements. The funding would be better placed 

towards the CPCA proposed improvements rather than introducing a scheme that could 

be replaced in the near future. 

 The current junction proposals were acceptable to the Council Highways Team and would 

be monitored to ensure that it was suitable for the volume of traffic. 

 A speed restriction was being proposed for the school access site for Newborough Road 

to reduce it to 30 miles per hour. 

 The Paston Reserve development had included roundabouts to allow buses to turn 

around once the route was completed. However, there had been also an issue to get a 

bus operator to provide a service in that area. The Council would insist that the Norwood 

27



Estate scheme would include turning points at the reserve matters position of the 

application, so that the same issue could not occur. 

 The current travellers' site was located on the Paston Reserve development; however, it 

was accessed through Norwood Lane. The existing access would be altered to allow 

entry from the Paston Reserve highway scheme. In addition, the Norwood Estate 

development would take place either side of Norwood Lane which would help police the 

current fly tipping issues.  

 

 The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in summary, key 
points raised and responses to questions included: 
 

 Members commented that the application was difficult to consider and that it was clear 
that benefits would outweigh the harm, particularly in relation to providing a school, a 
centre for shops and housing.  

 There was a concern in relation to the number of affordable homes being offered and it 
was felt that ten percent was not enough to meet the Council’s housing goals.  

 Members raised concerns in relation to the second highways access point and when 
these would be achieved.   

 Some members felt that there was too much uncertainty and confusion about the 
section 106 funding and the £2m shortfall for the school. 

 Some Members were concerned that the full scheme could not be put forward due to 
agreements with other landowners.  

 Members felt that access to the site had not appeared to be safe by foot. 

 Members were advised that it was not unusual for a part development proposal to be 
submitted and that due process for everyone to engage had been followed and tested 
independently by professionals. In addition, funding was being sought by the developer 
to increase the number of affordable housing by accessing the combined authority 
schemes. The school provision was the Council’s responsibility, and the highway 
issues were part of a bigger scheme through the CPCA. It was therefore the Council’s 
view that the developer had provided the best scheme possible at this stage. 

 Members were advised that it was not possible to finalise the highways infrastructure 
beyond Norwood Lane as this was out of the applicant’s control due to landownership 
and future highway schemes being developed. To resolve the issue a monitor and 
manage scheme would be introduced, which was being imposed as a condition. The 
pedestrian schemes were not ideal and the only way this could be more attractive 
would be through the preparation of land on the Norwood site. 

 Some Members commented that the timing of the application was not ideal however, 
housing and school places were needed to meet the growth of the City. The application 
was similar to Southbank where development was slow, however, it was about getting 
something started.   

 Some Members felt that they would be more comfortable with a full application which 
included highways improvements, school and a public transport offer rather than the 
site being developed over a long period of time. There was a great deal of uncertainty 
about the application and the situation with the Manor Drive development where 
improvements were awaited, and situations similar to this should be avoided.  

 Members were advised that there were two parties unable to work together at the early 
planning stage however, it would not be a strong enough reason to refuse the planning 
application and avoid it going to appeal.   

 Members commented that the limit of 200 houses and traffic mitigation was acceptable 
and there had been no point in the applicant introducing a highways scheme that would 
be removed due to the CPCA improvement scheme. Therefore, the applicant’s funding 
contribution was better placed with the CPCA. 

 Members were disappointed with the viability assessment and that it had imposed a 
shortfall on the relevant authorities to meet school places and affordable housing, 
however professional consultants had assured the Council that the proposals were in 
accordance. In addition, it was not ideal that the development would not all happen at 

28



the same time, however, there were other factors to provide a school and affordable 
homes, which outweighed the doubt some Members had.  

 
 RESOLVED:  

 
The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and representations. A 
motion was proposed and seconded to GRANT the application. The Committee RESOLVED (6 
For, 5 Against, 0 Abstentions) following the Chairman’s casting vote to GRANT the planning 
permission subject to relevant conditions delegated to officers.  
 

 REASON FOR THE DECISION: 
 

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies 
of the development plan and specifically: 
 

 The site formed part of an allocated urban extension therefore the principle of housing, 
school and local centre uses were considered to be acceptable and in accordance with 
Policies LP5 and LP35.  

 Subject to conditions, the impact on the highway network was considered to be 
acceptable, in accordance with Policy LP13.  

 Viability appraisals had demonstrated why a policy compliant position in respect of 
affordable housing and S106 contributions cannot be achieved.  

 The proposal would not result in any unacceptable landscape impacts, in accordance 
with Policy LP27.  

 The provision of a landscape buffer would assist in mitigating the impacts on the Car 
Dyke, in accordance with Policy LP19.  

 Issues of noise, contamination, drainage and ecology could be suitably dealt with by 
way of conditions in accordance with Policies LP17, LP33, LP32, and LP28. 

 
At this point Councillor Hiller joined the Committee. 
 

55.2 20/00846/HHFUL - 21 Cherryfields Orton Waterville Peterborough PE2 5XD 
 

 The Committee received a report, which sought permission for the installation of external wall 
insulation with grey render at ground floor level and off-white render at first floor level, mosaic 
tile at first floor level to the rear, and the installation of seven new Air Conditioning (AC) units 
located within acoustic housing and the removal of two existing AC units, and associated 
alterations (Part-retrospective). The development had been carried out on the application site 
without the benefit of planning permission and whilst the application was part-retrospective the 
application would result in: the removal of the black mosaic tiles to the front elevation, the 
removal of the aluminium surrounds on the windows and on other parts of the building, the AC 
units located on the ground floor side elevation would be removed with the total proposed AC 
units on the property to be seven, the rear covered area would be amended so that it was level 
to the previously approved single storey rear extension under ref 18/00938/HHFUL. 
 
In addition, the outbuilding clad in bamboo and grass on the roof was not included within the 
current application, Class E of Part one Schedule two of the General Permitted Development 
Order (2015) placed no restrictions on the type of external material that could be used. Officers 
from the Enforcement team had previously advised that the outbuilding appeared to comply with 
the provisions of the above-mentioned Class and as such would not require the grant of planning 
permission. Members were asked to note the current application had been revised multiple times 
with the following being undertaken: The extent of the grey render had been reduced from the 
majority of the dwelling to just the ground floor level of the dwelling; Introduction of off-white 
render to the first floor level; Removal of the black mosaic tiles from the front elevation at first 
floor level; Removal of aluminium surrounds on the windows and other parts of the building.  

29



 

The Head of Planning introduced the item and highlighted key information from the report and 

the update report. The Officer recommendation was to approve the proposal. 

 
The Committee agreed to a 15 minute extension to the speaking time.  
 

 Councillor Day, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 

Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 Cherryfields was one of the nicest and best kept streets in the ward.  

 All of the houses on Cherryfields had brown and reddish brick and remained in the 

same character and design to which the whole estate was originally built. The 

Applicant’s house currently had grey external walls and black shiny tiles and was very 

different in context to the surrounding estate.  

 The Black mosaic tiles were not in keeping with the existing materials used on other 

properties. They were a highly polished shiny finish, which reflected the sunshine onto 

a neighbouring resident’s kitchen blinds.  

 The Current grey render was a breach of planning and should be covered in the same 

off-white render proposed.   

 The Local Plan stated that Development proposals would contribute positively to the 

character and distinctiveness of the area and residents felt that 21 Cherryfields, Orton 

had not.  

 Residents were also concerned that the proposal was a part-retrospective application, 

however it had been witnessed that cables had been installed, AC units were put up 

right next to and in view of their back gardens and this had caused them distress. 

 One resident had stated in their objection that the AC units would cause a noise 

disturbance for neighbours. They would be installed with no regard to the visual 

amenity of the neighbours 

 Another resident commented that the AC Units would be large and the view from their 

bungalow, which would be extraordinarily unsightly and more in keeping with an 

industrial commercial area. 

 The AC units to the rear of the house would be in direct line of the neighbours principal 

bedroom windows.  

 Questions should be asked about why there were so many AC units needed on a 

residential property and whether there been a change of use of the building. 

 The retrospective application suggested that the AC units would be covered in acoustic 

boxes to mitigate noise and it had been suggested this option might not impact the 

design and character.  

 The report outlined the size and colour of the units, however, it was felt that the 

recommendation had not appeared to be suitable for a residential property and would 

be in the direct eyeline of residents' gardens and patios.  

 The commercial type AC units would easily be viewed from the gardens of 22, 23, 24 

and 25 Cherryfields. The view of this structure would have a significant impact on how 

residents enjoyed their gardens.’  

 Residents would like to see the outdoor walls painted in more neutral colours, the black 

mosaic tiles removed and replaced with tiles in keeping with the character of the area 

and most importantly, the AC units placed in an area that would not directly back onto 

their gardens.  

 The 21 Cherryfields property appearance was so different to other properties on the 

street, which was why residents had requested a change to the paint colour. 

 

30



 Keith & Vivian Marples, objectors, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 

Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 The rear of the objector's garden shared a boundary with one side of 21 Cherryfields and 
there was a full view of the applicant’s first-floor side and rear elevations.  

 The main concern was the positioning of the air conditioning units and the acoustic 
housing that were to be constructed at first floor level, which would be fully visible to the 
neighbouring properties.   

 The AC units would be visible whenever the objector used their kitchen or rear garden. 
The extensive flat roof had already been installed and the applicant wished to install 
seven AC units and enclosures. 

 The flat roof would be 15 ft and depth of 1 metre and was a dominant structure. 

 There had been no way that the view could be screened because of the location and 
height.  

 The black cabling had supplied existing units which was large and unsightly, which was 
more in keeping with those found serving commercial units. The same cabling would be 
used on the four AC units on the side façade, which would be an eyesore.  

 It was uncertain why applicant could not install the AC units at ground level to the rear of 
their house. 

 The report stated that the units would be large, but they would be installed back from the 
neighbouring properties to provide some mitigation against a dominate or overbearing 
impact. The objector felt that wherever the AC units were placed, they would dominate 
any scene whether it be domestic or commercial due to the overwhelming size of them. 

 There were six AC units already installed on the house not two. 

 The colour of the tiles were exceedingly shiny and the objector’s view had been 

significantly affected.  

 
 Sonia Hough & Robin Hough, objectors, addressed the Committee and responded to questions 

from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 The objector was speaking on behalf of much of the neighbourhood, which included 

house numbers 4, 12 22, 23, 24 and 25 Cherryfields and all had commented via the 

planning portal. 

 The planning processes had not been followed correctly and the colour and footprint had 

deviated significantly.  

 The retrospective application had deviated vastly to the original application, and these 

were not small changes. There were items that had been included which would not have 

been granted for the original application.  

 All comments submitted on the planning portal were not in support of the application. 

Many residents would suffer an impact from every aspect of the property, but specifically 

the streetscene and rear gardens.  

 If the AC units were installed at ground floor level the proposal would be more visually 

acceptable. 

 The shiny black tiles never formed part of the original application. It was felt that all 

materials should have been passed through planning approval process.  

 The Planning Enforcement team were contacted in April 2020 about the clear breaches, 

however, there had been no action for a long time.  

 There had been a clear lack of regard for the planning process from the applicant. 

 Concerns were raised over how the planning department would ensure that the applicant 

followed the process going forward. 

 Concerns were raised about why the Council was considering a retrospective planning 

approval rather than enforcement action. 

 

31



 Viv Leggatt, objector, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In 

summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 The main concern for the objector was in relation to the installation of the air condition 

units as it would be a visible nightmare for them.  

 It would only be apparent how unsightly the AC units would be, and this could only be 

appreciated during a site visit. 

 There had been no correspondence received about the planning application and the 

objector had no access to technology. 

 It was felt that the AC units would detrimentally impact the objector's garden. 

 There was no problem with the AC units being installed at ground floor level.  

 

 Dr Modha the applicant addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. 

In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 Dr Modha was speaking on behalf of his parents who had worked hard to create a 

medical centre in the area. 

 Dr Modha had been involved in administering the Covid-19 vaccination. 

 The applicant’s father had significant health needs and the changes were required to 

take care of his current and future medical needs. This involved temperature control 

within the house. 

 The applicant’s parents had lived in the house for 35 years. 

 There had been previous applications for installation of the AC units.  

 The layout plan had allowed for the applicant’s parents to care for his children in an 

efficient way whilst Dr Modha and his wife continued to work for the NHS.  

 The house was once painted white, and neighbours had objected to this. Now many of 

the houses were painted white.  

 There was no uniformity in relation to the colour of houses on the estate and one had 

been painted yellow.  

 Dr Modha’s parents and appointed experts had made every effort to find solutions and 

remedy concerns raised and the planning department had found the proposals 

acceptable and complied with LP16 and LP19. 

 The applicant and parents' intention was not to upset residents however, they had been 

caught up in the Covid 19 vaccination programme which was happening alongside the 

planning application. 

 The applicant’s parents had employed professionals to carry out the work to be in 

keeping with the environment and wanted to work with the planning department to make 

the proposal outcome right.  

 

 The Planning and Environment Protection Committee debated the report and in summary, key 
points raised and responses to questions included: 
 

 Members commented that the applicant’s house was overbearing in terms of colour and 
the addition of the AC units.  

 The photos had also not matched those submitted with the application following an 
independent site visit. Members were advised that the photos provided were of a historic 
street view and from when the application was being processed. Therefore, the front 
driveway had shown a different material and colour to those submitted to the Committee 
by the case officer. 

 Members were advised that the changes to the front elevation without planning 
permission, would invoke a temporary stop notice and an application for a retrospective 
planning permission would be required. 

32



 Officers had requested that grey and off white would be a suitable colour for the front 
elevation, however Committee could request an alternative colour.  

 Members were also advised that if they were minded to refuse all elements of the 
planning application in respect to render colour or siting of the AC units, the team would 
follow up with an enforcement notice to request removal of them. 

 Members commented that there had been no reason why the AC units could not be 
moved to the ground floor level. 

 Some Members felt that the appearance of the property was subjective, however many 
would think that the alterations had looked out of place.  

 Members felt that the seven AC would be detrimental and overbearing for the 

neighbours despite the officers' views. LP 16 had stated that any development should 

contribute to the character and distinctiveness of the area. Policy LP 17 permission 

would not be granted for development that would be overbearing. Therefore, only the 

residents of the property should see the AC units not the neighbours. 

 Some Members felt that the applicant had tried to compromise with the planning 
department, however, the AC units would be too overbearing for neighbours. 

 Members were advised that the positioning of the AC units on a first floor level was 
submitted by the applicant rather than being recommended by the officers. 

 Members felt that the applicant had undertaken the work on the property and 
disregarded the planning regulations, therefore breaking the rules.  

 Members also felt that the proposals were negative for the neighbours and that the 
colour should be reconsidered, and the air conditioning units repositioned to the ground 
floor level.  

 

 RESOLVED:  
 
The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and representations. A 
motion was proposed and seconded to go against officers recommendation and REFUSE the 
application. The Committee RESOLVED (8 For, 3 Against, 0 Abstention) to REFUSE the 
planning permission.  
 

 REASON FOR THE DECISION: 
 

1. The siting of the air conditioning units (in their associated enclosures) at first floor level 
would represent a significant bulky, unattractive and alien addition to the dwelling. As 
such the units (in their associated enclosures) would not represent good design and 
therefore would be contrary to NPPF paragraph 130 and adopted Peterborough Local 
Plan Policy LP16 and LP17. The benefits to the applicant of the units were insufficient to 
outweigh the harm arising from the appearance of the units / enclosures. 

 
At this point the Committee took a short break. 
 

55.3 20/01502/FUL - 266 Eastfield Road Eastfield Peterborough PE1 4BE 
 The Committee received a report, which sought permission for the demolition of the existing 

dwelling, No. 266 Eastfield Road, with a replacement dwelling to be constructed in its place. In 
addition, three two-storey dwellings, comprised of one detached dwelling and two semi-detached 
dwellings, were proposed to the rear of site, each with parking and private garden spaces. An 
access road was proposed to link the rear of the site to the existing access opening to Eastfield 
Road.  
 
Swing gates were proposed adjacent to the front elevation of the replacement dwelling and a bin 
collection point was proposed to the front of site, surrounded by soft landscaping provisions.  
 
Following comments received by consultees, members of the public and in the opinions of 
officers, the following amendments were made:  
 

33



 Deletion of Plot 5: A fifth dwelling was proposed to the rear-most part of the site, nearest 
to the boundary shared with number seven College Park.  

 The entrances gates would be set back to enable access to the three dwellings to the 
rear of site had been relocated from being adjacent to the bin collection point to being 
set in 1.8 metres behind the front elevation of Plot 1.  

 Bin Collection Point: The bin collection to the front of site was to be enclosed with soft 
landscaping to three elevations, rather than a hard boundary that was previously 
proposed. 

 
The Head of Planning introduced the item and highlighted key information from the report and 

the update report. The Officer’s recommendation was to approve the proposal. 

 

The Committee agreed to a 15 minute extension to the speaking time. 

 

 Councillor Joseph, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 

Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 There were several objections to the proposal as it was out of character to the area. 

 The current proposal was contrary to the area Under the local plan LP16 and LP 28. 

 If the proposal was approved the development would set a precedence for other houses 

in the area with large gardens. 

 The property at 270 Eastfield was not a comparable size to the proposed application and 

was a much larger site. 

 The plan to demolish the property and replace it with a smaller one was contrary to 

planning policy. 

 The loss of garden space was contrary to biodiversity and the need outweighed the loss 

according to planning policy. 

 The Council was committed to addressing the climate change emergency and should be 

at the forefront of any development proposal. 

 The Conservation Officer had raised objections as it would not enhance the appearance 

of the conservation area. 

 The application was contrary to planning policy LP13 and the additional traffic would 

present issues not only with volume, but with increased air pollution. The area already 

experienced issues with traffic and speeding which had been tested by community 

Speedwatch. 

 There had been more of a need for social housing. 

 The properties such as 220 Broadway that had been mentioned in the report had not 

been a comparable size or layout to the proposal for 266 Eastfield Road. 

 

 Derek Brown, objector, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. 

In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 The objector’s garden had backed on to 266 Eastfield Road, in addition, the objector was 

speaking on behalf of owners of other neighbouring properties in Eastfield Road.  

 The existing house was one of a group of similar good quality detached properties on 

the edge of the park conservation area. 

 The proposed development was entirely contrary to the character and local 

distinctiveness of the area, which had good sized traditional detached properties in 

generous gardens.  

 The existing house was set in the centre of the plot viewed from Eastfield Road and 

occupied most of its width.  

34



 The proposed replacement house squashed what appeared as half of a pair of semi-

detached properties right on the North East boundary in order to provide access to the 

back garden.  

 The Conservation Officer commented that the proposed application was a strangely 

narrow building, which would be squeezed to the boundary with a locally listed property 

next door and would shoehorn in an access road. This would appear contrived and 

totally out of character with the area. 

 Back-garden developments at 220 Broadway and opposite 266 Eastfield Road were 

cited as precedents for the development however, these were very poor precedents as 

neither required demolition of the existing house and both houses had retained 

substantial gardens. The property at 220 Broadway was within a conservation area.

 The property at 270 Eastfield Road was also cited as a precedent but the property was 

not a housing development, it was a facility for care of adults with special needs, in 

addition, the character of the existing property had been retained.  

 The amenity of all neighbours would be affected to various extents, with gardens being 

overlooked from windows of the proposed three storey properties just a few metres 

away. 

 The neighbours on Eastfield Road would be much more significantly affected by 

overlooking and number 244 would have the large bulk of the three storey houses 

cover their entire garden.  

 It was felt that the height of the proposed properties were a particular concern as the 

roof line would be higher than the properties in Eastfield Road and College Park. 

 The neighbours at 264 Eastfield Road would also suffer from traffic from the proposed 

access road, which would be only one metre from their back door.    

 There were concerns about the loss of the green back garden space which was 

characteristic of the area and supported a wide range of plant and animal life.

 There had been direct connectivity of the garden with wider habitats providing an 

extensive green corridor to Central Park.  

 Most of the substantial trees on the site would be removed including lime trees with 

preservation orders.  

 The remaining trees would dominate and severely shade the proposed small back 

gardens, which was felt to be an unacceptable loss of green space.  

 The development would also cover 70% of the site with houses, roads and 

hardstanding. 

 The Officers’ report was incorrect in stating that gardens of the proposed houses were 

larger than those of neighbouring gardens in College Park. With such a large loss of 

green space it would be inevitable that the proposed extensive buildings would reduce 

biodiversity. 

 The proposal would be totally out of character with the area and would seek to 

demolish a good quality detached house to enable over-development of four houses.  

 

 Mr Beddows objector, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In 

summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

35



 Development surrounding the objector’s homes had increased significantly over the 

years and this included care homes.  

 The neighbouring care home could be affected, and it was uncertain whether the 

patients, carers or medical staff had been consulted. 

 There were three yew trees near to where the current house was located. 

 The care home had lights on constantly and this had affected neighbouring properties. 

 

 Haq Taj objector, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In 

summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 There would be an invasion of privacy if the application was granted.  

 The objector lived on the edge of Broadway and Eastfield Road. 

 There would be impacts for parking despite the eight car parking spaces being included 

within the proposal. 

 The current wildlife would be affected. 

 There was a lot of light from the neighbouring property. 

 There was a tree missing from the photos on the proposed land. 

 

 Andrew Tregay, the Agent for the applicant addressed the Committee and responded to 

questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 The application proposed the demolition and erection of three family homes to the rear. 

 The Council Officers had been consulted and the application was suitable and 

appropriate location for development. 

 The Design team had worked hard to ensure that the design matched the local aesthetic 

and character of the area. 

 A mix of brick and render materials would be used to match nearby properties. 

 Windows placements had been carefully considered to benefit from maximum light and 

protect the privacy of neighbours. 

 The Planning Officer had confirmed within the report that the proposal had complied with 

planning policies. 

 The Highways report cited one movement every hour on average, which resulted in a 

minimal impact on the highway network.  

 The local Highway Authority had confirmed that there was capacity within the local 

network to accommodate the proposal and had no objection to the scheme. 

 Each property had been designed not to be overshadowed by existing trees so that there 

was no need to remove them. The trees also provided a buffer to the conservation area 

and the gardens proposed would have no tree cover, which was acceptable to the 

Council’s Tree officer.  

 All other matters such as drainage had been acceptable. 

 The comments made by the Conservation Officer were not positive, however, the 

comments were noted. The streetscene in the area was quite diverse and this had been 

reflected in the design.  

 The Local Plan LP9 deterred the removal of substantial buildings such as large family 

homes in the City, however the proposal was for family homes in a space that was 

unused. In addition, there was a need for more houses in the City and the proposal met 

those needs. The need for the proposal had been offset by any perceived harm against 

the loss of amenity for the area. 

 

36



 The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in summary, key 
points raised and responses to questions included: 
 

 Members were advised that if a tree was missing the Officer would have noticed it.   

 Members felt that the Victorian design was attractive the two and a half storey approach 
was acceptable.  

 The proposal would replace a property without any character. Replacement with a narrow 
brand-new property was also acceptable as they were pleasantly designed family homes.  

 Some Members felt that there was a danger of losing the large family homes with 
character for the sake of constructing more houses on a large plot.  

 Some Members concerns were in relation to trees overshadowing and damage risks to 
other properties. There could also be dispute over the general maintenance of large 
trees.  

 The front house would look very similar to what was currently in situ.  

 The whole scheme was balanced and very well thought out, it had also been located in 
the City Centre with reasonably sized gardens. 

 There was no valid reason why the proposal should not be accepted. 
 

 RESOLVED:  
 
The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and representations. A 
motion was proposed and seconded to GRANT the application. The Committee RESOLVED (7 
For, 4 Against, 0 Abstentions) to GRANT the planning permission subject to relevant conditions 
delegated to officers.  
 

 REASON FOR THE DECISION: 
 

Subject to the imposition of the conditions, the proposal was acceptable having been assessed 
in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the 
development plan and specifically: 
 

 The principle of development was acceptable.  

 The character and appearance of the site and the surrounding Park Conservation Area 
would not be adversely impact upon by the proposed development, in accordance with 
Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The proposal would not adversely impact upon the amenity of nearby neighbours, in 
accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The amenity of future occupiers would be acceptable, in accordance with Policy LP17 of 
the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The dwellings would be constructed to appropriate housing standards, in accordance 
with Policy LP8 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The proposal would not unacceptably impact upon the safety of the surrounding 
highways, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 Trees on and immediately surrounding the site would not be unacceptably impacted upon 
by the 80 DCCORPT_2018-04-04 19 proposed development, in accordance with Policy 
LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The proposal would not unacceptably impact upon any protected species on-site or within 
the immediate area, in accordance with Policy LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019).  

 The proposed development would not be at adverse risk of flooding, in accordance with 
Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 No known buried heritage assets would be adversely impacted upon by the proposed 
development, in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
The application site would not be unacceptably impacted by any known contamination, 
in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

37



55.4 21/00132/FUL - 60 Hodney Road Eye Peterborough PE6 7YJ 
 

 The Committee received a report, which sought permission to erect a two-bed bungalow with an 
attached garage building and associated alterations. The proposed development would measure 
approximately 19.8 metres long, the ridge height of the development would be approximately 
4.9m and the eaves height of the development would be approximately 2.45 metres. 

 

The Head of Planning introduced the item and highlighted key information from the report and 

the update report. 

 
 

 Julie Scott, the applicant addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. 

In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 Planning policies LP16 & LP17 were cited as the reasons for refusal, however the 
applicant felt that the proposal complied fully with both policies, which the applicant 
contested. 

 There was no pattern of development currently on Hodney Road. 
 There was a modern house situated on Hodney Road with Darth Vador gargoyles and 

an over imposing driveway near to a quaint thatched cottage. The applicant's bungalow 
would be small in comparison to those existing on Hodney Road. 

 The amenity would not be lost for Neighbour's as the bungalow could be constructed 
10 metres away from their property and would not be much higher than their garage. 
There would also be ample garden space for 60 Hodney Road and the bungalow. 

 The willow tree was perfectly healthy despite how many cars had parked in the area 
where the driveway had been situated for several years. In addition, there had been no 
fatalities caused by vehicles maneuvering onto the narrow road. 

 The house opposite to 60 Hodney Road had been given permission for a driveway. 
 Members were encouraged to view Hodney Road for themselves to understand full 

perspective of what was being proposed. 
 The willow tree had always been a featured on the driveway and the applicant would 

not want it to be harmed. If planning permission was granted an appropriate tree survey 
would be conducted and complied with. 

 The objections raised by the Eye Parish Council and North Level Drainage Board had 
been noted however, there was another house situated directly opposite to the 
bungalow being proposed. In addition, it was felt that the proposal was situated within 
the village envelope.  

 There had been a pig farm located within the back of the current property historically, 
therefore there should be no issues with erecting another property with car parking. 

 

 The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in summary, key 
points raised and responses to questions included: 
 

 Members were advised that there had not been enough adequate turning area for a car 
to park, neither was there a large enough garage to accommodate a parking option. 
Therefore, the proposal could not accommodate a parking area for two cars. 

 Members were also advised that the Local Plan contained a proposal map and this was 
marked out by settlement. There were areas that had not had the settlement boundary 
around them, therefore they were classed as open countryside. The entire proposed area 
was part of the countryside, which also included the current house. 

 Members were advised that the other property opposite the proposal that had installed a 
four-bed house, which had gone through the planning process in 1988. It was also 
advised that planning policy had changed since the installation of the four-bed house 
opposite to number 60 Hodney Road.  

 Some Members commented that the proposal appeared to fit a property into an existing 
piece of land. In addition, the car parking proposed seemed to provide enough parking 

38



required. However, there was an issue with the property that would be situated at the 
back of the proposed development as it would abut up to the neighbouring garden and 
would impact their amenity. 

 Members commented that the Local Plan was very clear about what a village boundary 
was and that this should be adhered to. If the application was permitted, it could set a 
precedence for other large gardens in the area. 

 Members also commented that it was important to note the Eye Parish Council and Local 
Drainage Board had also objected to the proposal for 60 Hodney Road.  

 The proposal was also contrary to many of the planning policies which made it 
unacceptable. 

 The applicant stated that they wanted a property they could manage to live in, however 
the proposal was for a very large bungalow. 

 Some Members commented that they were not too concerned about the lack of a turning 
circle on a driveway. The road was not too busy for the option of reversing onto the 
driveway. 

 Members commented that a great deal of work had been undertaken to develop planning 
policies, which had gone through the appropriate processes to approve.  

 There was no evidence that the tree would not be harmed, nor the drainage issues 
mitigated. 

 
 RESOLVED:  

 
The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and representations. A 
motion was proposed and seconded to REFUSE the application. The Committee RESOLVED 
(8 For, 3 Against, 0 Abstention) to REFUSE the planning permission subject to relevant 
conditions delegated to officers.  
 

 REASON FOR THE DECISION: 
 

The proposal was unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 

including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons, 

which included: 

 

 The proposal for the erection of a bungalow would be located on land outside of the Eye 
village envelope and outside the urban boundary of Peterborough. Further, the proposal 
had not met the rural exemptions allowed under Policy LP8 and neither met Policy LP11. 
The development outside of the village envelope, was contrary to Policy LP2 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 99 DCCORPT_2018-04-04 12  

 The proposal by virtue of its siting in the rear garden of No.60 Hodney Road would not 
be in keeping with the local pattern of development within Hodney Road. The proposal, 
by virtue of its size, scale and massing would create an overly dominant development 
that would be out of character with the context of the site and surrounding area. The 
development would result in the overdevelopment of the application site causing a 
cramped form of development. Therefore, it was considered that the proposal would 
result in an adverse impact on the design and character of the site and surrounding area, 
contrary to Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The proposed bungalow, by virtue of its size, scale and massing sited along the boundary 
and in close proximity to number 60 Hodney Road would result in an unacceptable level 
of impact on the main amenity area of number 60 Hodney Road. The proposal would 
result in an adverse impact on the main amenity area of number 60 Hodney Road and 
would be contrary to Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The proposed development would result in dwellings being served by inadequate parking 
provision. The proposal was required, in accordance with adopted parking standards, to 
provide two on-site parking spaces as well as turning areas to ensure that vehicles 
entering the site and could leave in a forward gear. Insufficient information had been 
provided with regards the proposed parking and turning area provision on site in order to 

39



adequately assess whether the manoeuvring of vehicles likely to be generated by the 
proposed development could be achieved without having an adverse effect on the safety 
of users of the adjoining public highway. Therefore, the proposal had not provided 
sufficient information to demonstrate that the parking and turning areas for two vehicles 
could be achieved on site in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019).  

 The proposed development had not demonstrated that an access of adequate width with 
appropriate vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays could be provided at the application 
site. Therefore, the manoeuvring of vehicles likely to be generated by the proposed 
development would have an adverse effect on the safety of users of the adjoining public 
highway by virtue of a substandard access with insufficient vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility 
splays which would result in an adverse impact on the safety of the users of the adjacent 
highway. As such the proposal was contrary to Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019).  

 The proposed development had not clearly demonstrated that a sufficient amount of 
outdoor amenity space would be provided to the future occupiers of the application site. 
The size and location of the Willow tree (protected by a provisional TPO) had not been 
adequately addressed by the application to demonstrate that the area to the side of the 
proposed development would be large enough to provide a sufficient amount of outdoor 
amenity space for the future occupiers of the development. As such the proposal had not 
adequately demonstrated that the private amenity space was well designed and located, 
and as such was contrary to Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 The construction of the proposed dwelling and the installation and construction work to 
form the new drive entrance/cross-over from the public highway, the drive, turning area 
and car parking space would impact upon the root protection area of the Willow tree 
(protected by a provisional TPO). No Arboricultural Impact Assessment was provided as 
part of the application, and neither any technical details were provided in reference to the 
construction of the proposed development to demonstrate that works could be carried 
out without adverse impact on the protected Willow. The necessary accurate and 
technical details had not been provided to accurately identify the extent of the root 
protection area as well as the impact of the proposed development including the driveway 
as well as the impact from the construction works. As such it had not been demonstrated 
that the construction of the proposed development and associated works could be carried 
out without adversely impact the root protection area of the Willow tree (protected by a 
provisional TPO). Therefore, the proposal had not demonstrated adequate consideration 
of the impact of the proposal on the Willow tree in question contrary to Policy LP29 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 Insufficient details had been provided with regards the disposal of surface water in 
relation to the proposed development. Given the location of the application site within an 
area of flooding caused by surface water it was considered that without the necessary 
details the proposed development had not demonstrated that an acceptable level of 
mitigation would be provided to prevent a risk of flooding caused by surface water within 
the area. Therefore, the proposal would be contrary to Policy LP32 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 

 Insufficient details had been provided with regards the disposal of surface water in 
relation to the proposed development. Given the location of the application site within an 
area of flooding caused by surface water it was considered that without the necessary 
details the proposed development had not demonstrated that an acceptable level of 
mitigation would be provided to prevent a risk of flooding caused by surface water within 
the area. Therefore, the proposal would be contrary to Policy LP32 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 

 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 

1:30 - 6:11PM 
 

40



����������	�
����
 ���������������
��
������������������������ ������!"�#$����%���� &��'������������
(
�)�	
*� � ) +��$����
41

AAH595
Pencil

AAH595_1
Line

AAH595_2
Line

AAH595_3
Line

AAH595_4
Line



This page is intentionally left blank

42



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee        Item No- 1 
 
 
Application Ref: 21/00287/R3FUL  
 
Proposal: Full application for the erection of a three storey building, car parking and 

associated works, infrastructure and landscaping for use as a research 
and development building as part of the University of Peterborough. 
Outline application (with all matters other than access and scale reserved) 
for the erection of a car park with capacity of up to 180 additional spaces, 
creation of a new access off Bishop's Road including the creation of a 
new access to the Regional Pool car park and closure of the existing 
access off Bishop's Road, and associated works, infrastructure and 
landscaping. 

 
Site: Land at Bishops Road, Eastgate, Peterborough 
   
Applicant: Peterborough R&D Property Company LTD 
Agent: Mr Rob Riding, Pegasus Group 
 
Site visit: 10.03.21 
 
Referred by: Executive Director of Place and Economy 
Reason: Significant level of public interest and wider concern 
 
Case officer: Mrs Louise Simmonds 
Telephone No. 01733 45(01733) 454439 
E-Mail: louise.simmonds@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
The application site is located within the identified Peterborough City Centre boundary and directly 
to the south of Bishops Road, a main route into the city centre from the east. 
 
The site comprises three distinct areas: the former Wirrina surface public car park which is now the 
site of construction of Phase 1 of the University of Peterborough (granted planning permission 
under application reference 20/01044/R4FUL); the current Regional Pool surface car park 
comprising 200 spaces; and Bishops Park, an area of largely grassed public open space.   
 
Both within and surrounding the site are a series of mature treed shelter belts which date to the 
time of the Development Corporation and are intrinsic to the character of the wider area south of 
Bishops Road.  However none are subject to formal protection by way of a Tree Preservation 
Order.   
 
Beyond Bishops Road to the north is the Bishops Creighton Primary School and residential 
properties in Stevenson Court, South Road and along Bishops Road. To the east is the 
Peterborough Regional Pool and beyond, further public open space.  To the west is the Bishops 
Road surface car park adjacent to the Grade II Listed 'Lido'. To the south is Peterborough 
Sports/Athletics Ground, with the Embankment beyond, separated by a mature tree belt.   
 
The site lies entirely within the identified Riverside North Policy Area of the Local Plan. It is not 
sited within any designated Conservation Areas, but is in close proximity to the City Centre CA and 
sits within the presence/setting of the Grade I Listed Cathedral and its Precincts.  

43



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

 
Proposal 
The application is in hybrid form and seeks: 
 
1) Full planning permission for the erection of a three storey building for research and development 
use associated with the University of Peterborough, known as Phase 2.  This would be sited to the 
rear of the recently permitted and implemented Phase 1 planning permission, on the former Wirrina 
car park site.  The proposal also includes associated car parking, works, infrastructure and 
landscaping; and 
 
2) Outline planning permission with access and scale sought, and all other matters (appearance, 
landscaping and layout) reserved, for the construction of a decked car park for up to 180 additional 
vehicles (up to 380 in total), on the current Peterborough Regional Pool car park site.  This also 
includes the creation of a new vehicular access off Bishops Road, and closure of the existing 
Regional Pool car park access, with associated works, infrastructure and landscaping.   
 
It should be noted that the scheme has been amended from that which was originally submitted, to 
move the location of the proposed car park from the public open space within the red line boundary 
known as Bishops Park, to the Regional Pool car park.  Whilst retained within the red line 
boundary, no development is proposed on Bishops Park.   
 
2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
20/01044/R4FUL Erection of three storey building and 

change of use of the land to form 
University, creation of vehicular access, car 
parking and associated infrastructure and 
landscaping 

Permitted  12/11/2020 

16/01948/R4FUL Use as hand car-wash facility Permitted  04/01/2017 
09/00021/FUL Continued use as a public car park Permitted  28/04/2009 
06/00840/FUL Use of car park for car boot sales on 

Sundays and Bank Holiday Mondays - 
Retrospective 

Permitted  20/07/2006 

04/00719/FUL Continued use as car park Permitted  18/06/2004 
03/01716/FUL Demolition of building and erection of 60 

bedroom hotel with 51 parking spaces. 
Withdrawn 
by Applicant  

25/02/2005 

01/01152/OUT Renewal of planning permission 96/P0605 
for 120 bed hotel and conference centre 
with car parking 

Withdrawn 
by Applicant  

06/03/2003 

01/00416/FUL Three storey hotel with basement car park 
and conference centre and associated 
works 

Withdrawn 
by Applicant  

13/11/2002 

97/01312/FUL Renewal of planning permission 93/P0730 
to continue use as motorcycle training and 
portacabins as office 

Permitted  06/02/1998 

94/P0863 Additional use for indoor second 
hand/antique fairs, jumble sales, one day 
sales, exhibitions and trade fairs 

Permitted  01/03/1995 

93/P0730 Change of use of land from car park/games 
court to motorcycle training (educational) 
(class D1) including stationing of two 
portacabins for office use (retrospective) 

Permitted  07/12/1994 

 
 
 
 

44



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

 
P1046/89 Erection of 150 bedroomed hotel and 

conference centre with car parking (outline) 
- application as amended by agent's letter 
of 28th September 1989 and accompanying 
drawings nos 88/20/13, 14 and 15 

Permitted  30/11/1989 

P1025/85 Erection of 134 bedroom hotel (outline) Permitted  10/04/1986 
P0614/81 Layout of all-weather roller hockey pitch Permitted  23/07/1981 
P0750/76 Layout of public open space including 

children’s playground 
Permitted  18/10/1976 

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. 
 
Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions.  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area or its setting, or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Paragraph 38 - Decision-making 
Chapter 6 - Building a strong, competitive economy 
Chapter 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Chapter 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 
Chapter 12 - Achieving well-designed places 
Chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
LP4: Spatial Strategy for Employment, Skills and University Development 
LP6: The City Centre - Overarching Strategy 
LP13: Transport 
LP16: Design and the Public Realm 
LP17: Amenity Provision 
LP19: The Historic Environment 
LP22 Green Infrastructure Network 
LP28: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 
LP29: Trees and Woodland 
LP32: Flood and Water Management 
LP33: Development on Land Affected by Contamination 
LP51: Riverside North Policy Area 
 
Peterborough Flood and Water Management SPD (2019) 
 
Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019) 

45



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services (19.05.21) 
No objections - With regards to the Phase 2 building, the location and scope have been discussed 
at length and while it is acknowledged that the new building will reduce the parking capacity for 
Phase 1 this will be offset by the proposed decked car parking to the east, subject to planning 
approval being granted. Recommend conditions relating to: a Construction Management Plan; 
temporary construction facilities; pre-condition highway survey; wheel wash; parking/turning in 
accordance with the submitted drawings; cycle parking in accordance with the submitted drawings; 
and submission of a Travel Plan.  
 
With regards to the outline car park, the new location offers good connectivity directly onto Bishops 
Road while some motorists would potentially be able to use the one-way regional pool exit to 
further to the east. Some realignment of the public highway will be required to accommodate the 
new junction proposed.  Recommend conditions relating to: a Construction Management Plan; 
temporary construction facilities; pre-condition highway survey; wheel wash; removal of the 
redundant Regional Pool car park access; and visibility splays.   
 
PCC Travel Choice  
No comments received. 
 
Peterborough Cycling Forum  
No comments received. 
 
PCC Conservation Officer (07.04.21 and 11.05.21) 
No objections - The second phase university building will be discreetly tucked away between 
phase 1 and the dense tree belt of the embankment. Its height has been limited so as not to 
encroach into the very important views of the Cathedral from the Embankment.  It has been shown 
within the heritage statement that there will be little to no harm on important views of the Cathedral 
from the embankment and only small sections will be visible above the tree belt. 
 
The re-siting of the proposed decked car park on the existing regional pool car park will have 
significantly reduced impact on the most prominent locations and vantage points within the public 
realm and what is proposed to become the wider campus. The identified impacts on the high 
quality Cathedral views from Bishop’s Road Park are no longer unacceptably impacted by this 
scheme.  The indicative drawings show that the building line will be respected. Height parameters 
have been given, which do appear acceptable in terms of impact on Cathedral views and general 
urban design of the area. 
 
A masterplan does remain a much anticipated accompaniment to the wider campus, in order to 
ensure that the site is given the best chance of success in its layout, appearance and urban design 
considerations. 
 
Historic England (10.05.21) 
No objections - The proposed three-storey Research & Development building would not have a 
detrimental impact on views towards the Cathedral and Precinct. 
 
The height of the car park would be a maximum of 19.60 AOD at parapet level, thereby matching 
the height of the adjacent recently approved Phase 1 University building. The scale of the building 
would no longer have a detrimental impact on views towards the east elevation of the Cathedral 
and Precinct. 
 
Consider that the proposals now meet the requirements of the NPPF, in particular paragraph 
numbers 194 and 196. In its revised location and configuration (on the Regional Pool Car Park), 
the decked car park element of the scheme would now be acceptable. 
 

46



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

PCC Archaeological Officer (04.05.21) 
No objections - The site of the Phase 2 building has witnessed a programme of archaeological 
investigations, including desk-based assessment, geophysical (GPR) survey and targeted 
evaluation by trial trenching. On the basis of the results from these investigations, no further 
archaeological work is deemed necessary. 
 
The site of the proposed car park however has not been the subject of any archaeological 
fieldwork investigation.  Therefore, further investigation is required owing to the high potential for 
buried heritage: geophysical survey; targeted evaluation by trial trenching informed by the results 
of the geophysical survey; and, subject to the results of the evaluation by trial trenching, monitoring 
of associated infrastructure and landscaping. 
 
The Gardens Trust (25.05.21) 
No comment - This does not in any way signify either our approval or disapproval of the proposals. 
 
Peterborough Civic Society (10.05.21) 
Objection - The deletion of decked/multi storey car park on the area known as Bishop's Road Park 
is plainly welcomed as it addresses the Civic Society's principle objection to the application. The 
replacement proposal does not, however, make a great deal of sense because at this stage of the 
proposals for the campus, the retained existing surface car park has a capacity in excess of the 
180 spaces required for Phases 1 and 2.  
 
This application seeks outline permission for 180 spaces, partly in decked form on the northern half 
of the Regional Pool Car park. The number of decks is not specified but is assumed to be 2 levels 
for this phase of the scheme. The outline includes a parameter plan which would allow at least two 
additional floors to be built to a maximum height of about 12metres.  
 
We consider that the commitment of this site to built development to be prejudicial to the overall 
development of the campus and that as the existing car park is adequate for phases 1&2 that there 
is no necessity for it at this stage. It may be necessary to specify, in the approval that the surface 
car park is for ARUP and Regional Pool use only. 
 
It could well be that the campus will evolve in an easterly direction incorporating the RP Car Park 
and the Regional Pool site itself rather than to the south of Phase 1&2 site. The southwards 
direction of campus growth should not be taken as a given as it would encroach significantly onto 
an area covered by the Local Plan policies LP24 and LP51 regarding Nene Valley and the 
University. As such built development of this open space, other than along the frontage to Bishop's 
Road, would be a departure from the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Yet again it demonstrates the pitfalls which may be encountered in allowing piecemeal 
development of the Embankment in advance of a Master Plan for the whole area. 
On matters regarding the building itself our previously submitted comments have been slightly 
amended to reflect small changes made to the earlier application plans. 
 
There is one overriding difficulty we have in assessing the proposal for the Phase 2 building and 
that is: how to form a meaningful opinion in the absence of an overall plan for the campus. It is 
apparent that the ARUP Embankment campus will, in the not too distant future, consist of a 
number of teaching faculties in linked, but detached building blocks. The creation of attractive 
urban spaces which not only work well for all who use them but which bring something of beauty, 
architectural quality and organisational clarity to this part of the city is of paramount importance. 
The Phase 2 block together with its companion building, Phase 1 does not achieve this aim and, in 
truth it is difficult to see how it could do so in the absence of any definite indication, in the drawings 
and written information available to us, of the further phases. 
 
There is also ambiguity in the scheme regarding the circulation structure, of the way people move 
about the campus. Is there a main concourse? If so, does it run north-south or east-west? The 
main entrance to Phase 1 block is located in the south-west corner of the building whereas the 

47



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

main entrance to Phase 2 is in its north-east corner at the opposite end of the rectangular space 
created by the two blocks. The deletion of a secondary access on the north-west corner of the 
block indicates that this eastern approach is the main focus of access to Phase 2, which seems to 
favour the service road access as the more significant of the east and west approaches. Does the 
campus have a 'front door'? 
 
Further muddying of the water comes from the outline application proposal of additional car parking 
provision in the form of a decked car-park on the existing Regional Pool car-park. If this came 
about there would be a further strengthening of the east-to west flow of people through the site and 
the 'back-door' approach to the campus would become the dominant one. 
 
These issues of bland urban form and an incoherent movement pattern would, and should, be 
addressed in a master plan for the campus. We urge that one be produced as a matter of urgency, 
although ideally it should itself be done, hand-in-hand, with the emerging Master Plan for the whole 
Embankment land. 
 
On more detailed matters; the service road to the east of the blocks should have better provision 
for pedestrians. The provision of a bus stop on Bishop's Road is very much appreciated, although 
it would be useful to see this shown on the site plan together with a footpath from the bus stop to 
the main entrance to Block 2. The assumption that it would be near the service road access adds 
weight to the desirability of enhancing footway access along the service road. The footpath on the 
east side of the service road is interrupted by a sub-station compound leaving the relatively narrow 
path on the west side to cope with all foot traffic. This should be improved. 
 
On the subject of accesses to Bishop's Road; the outline application makes it clear that vehicular 
access to the Regional Pool, its car-park and the decked car park will be consolidated into a single 
access road, with the existing exit only road retained as such. We support this arrangement but 
have concerns about the layout of the junction on Bishops Road. It lies on the centre of a double 
bend and has no provision for right-turn lane into the site for traffic from the west. This is a fairly 
sharp double bend and there is the added hazard of the access to South Street to contend with. 
We feel that a more comprehensive design for this main access which serves multiple functions is 
required. 
 
In summary; although the Civic Society has no objections to the height, scale, form and siting of 
the Phase 2 building and its landscaping, it has significant reservations about how it fits in with the 
overall structure of a completed campus and would like to see some form of master plan which 
may serve to allay these reservations. 
 
However, the Civic Society objects to the outline application part of this hybrid application for the 
decked car park and access junction on the grounds that the upper floor or floors of the car park 
are not required by the development as proposed at this stage and approval would unnecessarily 
constrain options for further development of the University Campus. 
 
PCC Pollution Team (20.05.21) 
No objections - Owing to the size of the development, Air Quality must be considered.  The 
submitted Air Quality Assessment is not accepted, as it appears to assess the impact of the current 
proposal in isolation to Phase 1, and cumulative impacts must be taken into account.  Nonetheless, 
a revised assessment could be secured by way of a condition, alongside any mitigation that may 
be required. 
 
With regards to internal noise, the submitted Noise Assessment demonstrates that acceptable 
levels would be achieved internally provided that the layout were open plan.  This would not be the 
case if internal subdivision were to take place.  A condition may be secured to address this. 
 
Noise impacts to nearby residential premises may be controlled through a series of conditions.  An 
overall noise limit of 49dB LAeq (1hr) between 07.00hrs and 23.00hrs and 35dB LAeq (15mins) at 
all other times should be secured in relation to the Phase 2 building.  Thereafter, all 

48



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

plant/equipment to be installed should demonstrate compliance (individually and cumulatively) 
against this overarching limit.   
 
Finally, the Phase 2 contamination investigation results are accepted for the Phase 2 building - no 
remediation is required.  A condition securing investigation and, where necessary remediation, for 
the Regional Pool car park is required.   
 
PCC Wildlife Officer (24.05.21) 
No objections - The changes to the proposal in terms of the siting of the proposed car park reduce 
the overall potential negative impact the proposal will have on ecological constraints. This has 
resulted in no longer requiring pre-determination bat surveys on trees. 
 
As the predicted loss of habitat is now very minor, on-site biodiversity net gain can now be 
achieved. There are still several recommendations to account for the loss of habitat within the 
Ecological Assessment which need recommended methodology and lines of responsibility 
providing.   
 
Natural England (19.03.21) 
No objections - the proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily 
protected nature conservation sites or landscapes. 
 
PCC Open Space Officer (14.05.21) 
No objection - Welcome that the proposed car park siting has been revised such that no 
development is now proposed on Bishops Park.   
 
PCC Tree Officer (12.05.21) 
No objections - Welcome the relocation of the outline element of the proposal and accept this.  No 
objections with regards to the Phase 2 element.  Request conditions securing the measures set out 
in the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement, and a detailed 
landscaping scheme.   
 
The Wildlife Trusts (Cambridgeshire)  
No comments received. 
 
Lead Local Drainage Authority (18.05.21) 
No objections - Request a compliance condition to secure the submitted surface water drainage 
strategy in relation to the full element of the proposal.  Request a condition securing a full surface 
water drainage scheme in relation to the outline element of the proposal.   
 
Environment Agency (30.04.21 and 17.03.21) 
No objections - Whilst the submitted ground investigation reports do not cover the entirety of the 
application site, based on the available information, satisfied that the site poses a low risk to 
controlled waters.  Recommend that a condition relating to unsuspected contamination be secured.   
 
North Level District Internal Drainage Board  
No comments received. 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO) (10.03.21) 
No objections - As with Phase 1, this Office continues to discuss with our counter terrorism 
colleagues any aspects of the design and layout that cause a concern.  The Design and Access 
Statements are quite clear on the high level of security that this building and the surrounding area 
will have and that is encouraging.  A Secured by Design application for the Phase 2 build has been 
submitted.  More than happy to continue that discussion regarding the decked car park area and 
the boundary treatments for the site including footpaths and green spaces. 
 
Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service  
No comments received. 

49



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

 
PCC Waste Management  
No comments received. 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 578 including a press advert and 3no. site notices 
Total number of responses: 111 
Total number of objections: 109 
Total number in support: 0 
 
Three rounds of public consultation have taken place on the application: the first in relation to the 
original submission, which included the proposed car park being sited on Bishops Park; and the 
second and third following revision to the siting such that it is now proposed on the Regional Pool 
car park.   
 
It should be noted that, at the time of writing this report, the third consultation (which corrected an 
omission from the description of development) remains outstanding.  This will largely be completed 
by the time of the Committee Meeting, insofar as the time period set out on the site notices and 
neighbour letters will have concluded (on 10 June).  However, the press advert will not expire until 
17 June, 2 days following the meeting.  In light of this, Officers will be seeking delegated authority 
to allow this consultation period to close following Members resolution.   
 
First Round 
A total of 109no. letters of objection were received raising the following (albeit it should be noted 
that the majority related to the proposed car park): 
 
Principle of development 
- Loss of a well-loved green space 
- A university together with research facilities would be better suited placed together further away 

from the centre on land that has the potential for future expansion and development. 
- Loss of green space in an area where there is already a lack of green spaces. 
- Loss of the play area is tragic. Is an alternative going to be built? 
- Parks and green spaces in this area are vital for the local community. 
- This Green Space is not underused land, this is, and always has been, Bishop’s Park, a 

valuable open space enjoyed by residents, dog walkers and exercise clubs alike 
- There are other more appropriate locations for the proposed car park 
- Too much open space to be lost by the University and football stadium 
- Makes no sense when the market car park was demolished and could be rebuilt 
- Welcome the University but feel that reuse of some of the many redundant and underused 

buildings in the City Centre would be more appropriate  
- Parks are vital for children’s health, they should not be lost 
 
Design and visual amenity 
- City Council is very short-sighted to develop the river front of the city centre. This natural and 

most beautiful area should have been the jewel in the crown of the city that had the potential to 
make Peterborough a place that visitors would have wanted to visit for recreation and otherwise 
with the right development. Instead the council in their wisdom decided to cram the area full of 
high-rise accommodation and other unsightly buildings thereby ruining the whole aesthetics of 
the riverfront. 

- Proposed car park would be an eyesore and harm the skyline 
- Loss of beautiful open space. 
- Potential for increased crime. 
- Will be the equivalent of having a 4 deck concrete cruise liner moored 25 metres from our 

homes in this residential area within a stone's throw of the historic Peterborough Cathedral 
precincts 

- The proposal would allow little scope for landscaping, and extra tree planting would take years 

50



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

to provide cover and privacy for residents 
- Peterborough is becoming a jungle of car parks 
- The iconic views of Bishops Rd Park should be preserved for the future generations 
- The buildings will impede the Cathedral view from visitors to the Embankment 
- The view of the Cathedral will be lost 
 
Neighbour amenity 
- Loss of views from properties along Bishops Road 
- Loss of natural light  
- Overlooking from the proposed car park to properties along Bishops Road and loss of privacy 
- Additional pollution from increased cars 
- Noise pollution 
- Must not give up our whole neighbourhood to this University plan 
- Loss of air quality 
- Increased light pollution 
- Erecting this multi-storey will not benefit the health of anyone and especially not those living in 

the houses opposite and close by 
- A semi-enclosed concrete space of that size would reflect and amplify sound waves, acting like 

a giant speaker. A 24hr car park, operating through the night, when ambient sound levels are 
relatively low, would seriously disturb local residents' quality of sleep 

- Proposal would go against the Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, taking away precious green space which provides precious mental and emotional and 
physical benefits to those in the surrounding area 

 
Highways 
- Increased congestion worsening existing traffic problems along Bishops Road 
- Lack of highway infrastructure to support the development  
- Together with the proposed new slip road from Fletton Parkway and the New Football Stadium, 

the increase in traffic volume will have inestimable consequences 
- Extra traffic will harm the safety of the school children in the nearby school 
- Why not consider a park and ride? 
- Increased risk of accidents from the additional vehicular movements 
- Despite complaining to Parking "Services" for over 20 years, the parking around here is just as 

bad - the only "improvement" PCC ever made was to turn the area into a Residents Only Zone 
so they could start charging people for the "privilege" of parking outside their own home while 
doing nothing whatsoever to actually earn the money by way of sending traffic wardens to patrol 
on anything like a regular basis 

- Significant concern about the resultant impact on the current levels of traffic congestion at drop-
off and pick-up times. We believe this could ultimately result in safety issues for our children, 
families, and staff 

- The only vehicle access to the academy is via South Street then Granby Street, both busy 
residential streets. We (Bishops Creighton School) fear that with significant additional traffic this 
car park is going to produce in the immediate vicinity of the South Street junction could create a 
significant risk to those travelling to and from the academy.  We believe therefore that an 
alternative entrance option needs to be developed to mitigate this increased risk, as might the 
development of an alternative entrance option for the academy 

- Have the potential problem of this car park being used for non-university students on match day 
and with Christmas shoppers, as it's not that far away walk from town when nearer car parks 
are full which then mean off road parking near the car park which could cause unfair disruption 
to Bishops Road residents 

- Cambridge is a good example of a city that has an extensive university, but does not allow the 
undergraduates to have cars on campus. This policy protects the historic green spaces and 
charm of Cambridge, reduces the carbon footprint of the university and motivates students to 
use non harmful transport methods, such as cycling and walking.  Suggest that Peterborough 
could adopt a similar policy 

 
Public consultation 

51



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

- All applications and development should be stopped until the public have been consulted about 
what is happening to their areas (this proposed development & the embankment area) 

- Unable to view documents on the website so unable to comment fully 
- Lack of meaningful consultation with residents on the plans for the University as a whole 
- The Council are rushing through plans without proper consultation under the cover of Covid, 

when people are finding it difficult to get their voices heard 
- Why such a short period to comment? 
- The plans have been fairly hard to access during the lockdown. Many neighbours have found it 

difficult to access and search the planning documents, as well as not even realizing they can 
have a say in this 

- Original plans put forward did not include a 400 space car park 
- The only people who were sent letters of planning application appears to have been those on 

Bishops road - yet the people it serves covers the whole of the Eastgate community. Was this 
just another way of trying to minimise any objections? 

- Signage regarding this notice is poor - a person can't quite see the signs when it's written in a 
small font cable tied to a lamp post. The fact that it's written means people need to be able to 
read.  What if a blind person uses the space and is unaware of the decisions being made 
regarding it? You haven't really been inclusive regarding the audience this notice has been 
intended for 

 
Drainage 
- For 40 years there has been a flooding problem in Bishops Road. Now a recently created soak-

away - intended to mitigate the problem - is causing the field to flood in addition to the road. 
Where will all this water go if the project goes ahead? 

- Proposed drainage would be a sticking plaster and would result in flooding of Bishop’s Park 
- The land and the road regularly flood, covering the road completely 
 
Other matters 
- Unable to find the location of the vehicular access for the proposed car park 
- Lack of a cohesive plan for this area and the embankment area 
- Would definitely fight the Council in the courts for an equitable settlement 
- We have to lead by example when it comes to climate change 
- Harm to local wildlife 
- Concerns that this multi storey car park going to end up a white elephant.  This car park will also 

require maintenance and is it feasible to think that students will be able to afford the car park.  
As, in time car park fees will increase, on the back of this the car park will become unused, 
unloved and forgotten 

- Multi storey car parks have a habit of attracting suicide, is this really what you're looking for with 
kids walking to and from school? 

- The car park plans are very vague, with only a yellow box illustrating the overall size and 
position, but lacking many important details 

- Believe a new and updated Bat survey should be undertaken as 10 months have passed since 
the last environmental report 

 
In addition, a change.org petition of 136no. signatories was received in objection to the proposal. 
 
Second and third rounds 
A total of 5no. further objections were received raising the following: 
 
- Increased noise and pollution from additional car movements 
- Do not see how moving the car park will reduce traffic congestion etc. along with other issues 

raised in first objection 
- Note that there are plans to demolish the Regional Swimming Pool.  On the back of this, what 

plans do you have in place to replace what is there now? 
- All that has changed is the number of car parking spaces. The proposal is still to replace a 

public green area, Bishop's Park, with a car park, and whether single storey or multi storey this 
is still a negative step for the area and the city as a whole 

52



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 11 

- Loss of green space is unacceptable 
- Why can an underground car park not be considered? 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 
- Principle of development 
- Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
- Heritage 
- Access, parking and highway implications 
- Drainage and flood risk 
- Neighbour amenity 
- Ecology and trees 
- Contamination 
- Air quality 
 
a) Principle of development 
As detailed in Section 1 above, both elements of the proposal relate to the University of 
Peterborough and follow from Phase 1 which was granted planning permission in 2020 under 
application reference 20/01044/R4FUL.  Construction has begun on this earlier phase, with 
opening of this building scheduled for September 2022.   
 
The research and development building proposed (Phase 2) would be occupied by an anchor 
tenant, Photocentric, who will take circa one third of the space of the building, with the remaining 
space set out as flexible space for research and development use (end users are not yet 
identified).  The car park is proposed to be owned and operated by the City Council, and would not 
be limited solely for use of the University albeit it is proposed as mitigation for the Phase 2 building 
(discussed in section (d) below).   
 
The application site is located within the identified Riverside North Policy Area of the City Centre.  
Policy LP4 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) states that '…in principle, development 
proposals which directly assist in creating a thriving, independent, campus based university , with 
an undergraduate population of 12,500 students by 2035 will be supported. A new university 
campus could be included within the Riverside North Policy Area...’.   
 
The proposed development would continue the redevelopment of the former Wirrina car park, and 
would maximise car parking on the present Regional Pool surface car park.  The research and 
development building represents development that is associated, and is exclusively for the 
expansion of the University of Peterborough whilst the car park is proposed to support this 
development and ensure that the city centre has adequate parking capacity to accommodate it 
without undue impact to the surrounding public highway network through inappropriate parking. 
 
Policy LP51 refers to the provision of some development within the Riverside North Policy Area 
including the provision of a University of Peterborough campus. Whilst it is noted that there is an 
indicated allocated area for the university within the Local Plan policies map, this is indicative only. 
The vision and intention of the policies for the Riverside North Policy Area seek the location of the 
University on the Bishops Road frontage/to the northernmost section of the area known as the 
Embankment.  The application site for both elements of the proposal is situated along the northern 
boundary of the Riverside North Policy Area, adjacent to Bishops Road. Therefore, the proposal is 
fully in line with this.   
 
Furthermore, the proposal represents the effective reuse of previously developed, brownfield land 
with a high quality, landmark development. The proposal would continue the process of 
regenerating and enhancing this part of the City Centre, with a development of benefit not just to 
the City but the wider area surrounding Peterborough. This would be not only through the 
expansion of the university, but the creation of important R&D premises for the creation and 
expansion of local business. 

53



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 12 

 
In addition to the above, paragraph 94 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) advises 
that great weight should be afforded to the need to create new education facilities. The proposal 
represents the second phase in the creation of the University of Peterborough, and reinforces the 
anchor for a wider University campus. Such development would be to the significant benefit of the 
residents of Peterborough and its surroundings, delivering expansion of a new higher education 
facility which will directly encourage and promote economic development.   
 
As such, the development is considered to be acceptable in principle, and in accordance with 
Policies LP4 and LP51 of the Local Plan (2019) subject to satisfactory assessment against the 
following matters. 
 
b) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
Turning first to the full element of the proposal, the Phase 2 building has been designed to 
introduce a further 3 storey building immediately to the south (rear) of the Phase 1 development.  
The building would be arranged over three storeys and have a gross internal floor area of 
approximately 3,300sqm, whilst the footprint would extend to approximately 1,200sqm.  The siting 
has been carefully considered to maximise development of the former Wirrina car park, ensuring 
direct links between the Phase 1 building and the proposal.  The large area of planned open 
landscaped space to the west of the buildings would be retained, with a landscaped concourse 
created between the two buildings providing soft landscaping, access and covered cycle parking 
which is accessible to users of both buildings. 
 
The building height would align with the height of the Phase 1 teaching building, standing at 
approximately 13.3m high to the parapet.  There would be two taller sections comprising: a plant 
enclosure (for flues); and a plant enclosure and stairwell/lift shaft overrun.   
 
The form of the building is relatively simple, of regular shape and form and with a flat roof design.  
It would comprise of a predominantly glazed base area, with the building’s mass broken up by a 
mixture of cladding, glazing to the upper floors.  The main entrance is proposed to the west, 
mirroring that of Phase 1 and the linkage to the wider city centre, expressed by a recessed 
sheltered arrival space and a formal forecourt.  Whilst materials are to be finalised (and secured by 
condition), it is anticipated that these will be of a high quality palette to mirror and reflect those 
approved and to be used on the Phase 1 building.  
 
It is considered that the overall form and design of the Phase 2 building both reflects and respects 
the design approach of Phase 1 and will enhance the appearance and visual amenity of the 
University campus.  The proposal would not appear unduly dominant or obtrusive, and would 
further reinforce the stature of the University within the City.  The soft landscaping proposed would 
continue the overall approach secured as part of the Phase 1 development, acting both as an 
amenity tool, biodiversity enhancement and sustainable drainage system, and would aid in 
softening the appearance of the development within its surroundings.   
 
Turning next to the proposed car park, this is proposed in outline only.  Access and scale are 
sought in detail, with the matters of appearance, landscaping and layout reserved for later 
consideration.  The application has been accompanied by a series of parameter plans to indicate 
the scale of the car park.  For clarity, this is now proposed on the Regional Pool car park site, and 
not on Bishops Park.  Scale parameters indicate that the building would be sited no further 
forwards towards Bishops Road than the Phase 1 building, and would stand to a maximum three 
storey height to mirror Phase 1 (parapet height of 19.6 AOD with localised incidental height 
increases such as stairwell overruns to 22.3 AOD).   
 
Given the prominence of the siting of the proposed car park, it is acknowledged and understood by 
Officers that a high quality of design would be required to ensure that the high standards of design 
that have been secured to date are maintained and reinforced.   
 
Whilst landscaping is to be secured as a reserved matter for later consideration, an indicative 

54



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 13 

layout and landscaping proposal has accompanied the application.  This indicates that the decked 
car park would be located in line with the Phase 1 building, with soft landscaping/attenuation basin 
features to the frontage with Bishops Road and a surface level car park to the rear.  Whilst 
indicative only, this design is considered appropriate and demonstrates that the level of 
development proposed can be accommodated without appearing cramped or harmful to the visual 
amenity of the surrounding area.   
 
Overall it is considered that the proposed design is of high quality that would enhance the site and 
its wider surroundings, in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
c) Heritage 
 
Above-ground heritage assets 
The application site sits in the shadow and surroundings of the Grade I Listed Cathedral and its 
Precincts, which also contain Scheduled Ancient Monuments.  In addition, it is sited in close 
proximity to the City Centre Conservation Area and the Grade II listed Lido.  Therefore, the impact 
of the proposal upon the significance of these heritage assets is a key consideration.   
 
Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 
amended) require that special regard be paid to the desirability of protecting listed buildings and 
their settings, and also to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 
of conservation areas.  This is further reinforced through the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019) which states that great weight should be given to the conservation of heritage assets.  
 
Significance is one of the guiding principles in relation to assessing the impact of proposals upon 
the historic environment, and is defined in the NPPF as ‘the value of a heritage asset to this and 
future generations because of its heritage interest’. Such interest may be archaeological, 
architectural, artistic or historic, and it may derive not only from a heritage asset’s physical 
presence, but also from its setting.   
 
The Cathedral and its Precincts, form a place of exceptional architectural, archaeological and 
historic significance, and is a remarkably consistent work of 12th century architecture, including an 
especially important Nave ceiling of c.1220. Its prominence within the City, as one of the tallest 
structures, contributes to its significance, as do key views of it from surrounding vantage points.  
Two such points relate to the application site, both of which are the only views of the lesser seen 
east end.  With regards to the Grade II listed Lido, its setting contributes to its significance, but this 
is largely in relation to the manicured gardens within its immediate environs, with mature treed 
shelterbelts forming a backdrop and physical separation.   
 
Historic England and the Gardens Trust are the statutory consultees in matters affecting heritage 
assets of the stature of the Cathedral, and Historic England initially raised objection to the car park 
element of the proposal (when it was to be sited on Bishops Park).  Following revision to the 
proposal, to site the car park on the Regional Pool car park site, they have removed their objection 
and advised that the proposed development would not cause harm to the setting of nearby 
designated heritage assets. The Gardens Trust have raised no objection either.  Further to this and 
in similar vein, the Council’s Conservation Officer raises no objection to the revised proposal.  
 
Turning first to the full element of the proposal, Historic England has advised that, as this would be 
sited between the Phase 1 building (to the north) and an existing tree shelter belt, no harm would 
be caused to important views towards the Cathedral and Precinct from the embankment. The 
proposal would stand at the same height as the Phase 1 building, and the relationship of this in 
terms of the setting of the Cathedral and other heritage assets has already been accepted.  The 
proposal would not worsen this impact, and it has been shown in visuals contained within the 
submitted heritage statement, that only small sections would be visible above the tree belt.  As the 
City Centre Conservation Area (CA) lies beyond the Cathedral, given that the impact upon the 
latter is accepted, the same position is adopted for the CA. With regards to the Lido, it is 
considered that there is sufficient separation to the proposal with vegetation screening retained 

55



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 14 

such that they development would not erode the Lido’s setting, or compete with it in terms of 
architectural significance.  
 
On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would preserve and result in no harm to the 
significance of the Cathedral and its Precincts, and the listed Lido, and no harm would result to the 
character or appearance of the City Centre CA.   
 
With regards to the outline element, concern was initially raised by both Historic England and the 
Conservation Officer in terms of the harm to the significance of the Cathedral from the proposed 
siting of the car park on Bishops Road through the loss of an important view.  Following this, and 
the significant level of public concern expressed, the scheme has been revised to reposition the 
car park on the Regional Pool car park.  The submitted parameters plans indicate that the building 
would be no taller or sited closer to Bishops Road than the Phase 1 building. 
 
Historic England has advised that the revised siting and parameters provided would ensure that 
the car park would not form a prominent feature.  Further, the Conservation Officer has advised 
that the revised siting would have a significantly reduced impact upon the most prominent locations 
and vantage points of the Cathedral within the public realm.  Given that the proposed car park 
would not result in the loss of or harm to any key views of the east end of the Cathedral, would 
stand at the same height as the Phase 1 building, and the relationship of this in terms of the setting 
of the Cathedral and other heritage assets has already been accepted through the granting of 
planning permission (20/01044/R4FUL), it is considered that the proposed car park would not 
cause harm to the significance of the Cathedral and Precincts. 
 
As with the impacts arising from the full element of the proposal, given that the City Centre CA lies 
beyond the Cathedral, it is not considered that harm to its character or appearance would result.  
Furthermore, the car park would be separated from the Lido by virtue of the Phase 1 and 2 
buildings, whose relationship has been considered acceptable earlier in this section and 
consequently, it is considered that no harm would result to its significance in this instance.     
 
On this basis, the full and outline elements of the proposal would ensure that the significance of 
nearby designated heritage assets are preserved and accordingly, the proposal is in accordance 
with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 193, 194 and 196 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).   
 
Archaeology 
The area of the application site upon which the Phase 2 full development is proposed has already 
witnessed a programme of archaeological investigations, including desk-based assessment, 
geophysical (GPR) survey and targeted evaluation by trial trenching. On the basis of the results 
from these investigations, the City Council’s Archaeologist has advised that no further 
archaeological work is deemed necessary.  
 
However, the Regional Pool car park upon which the outline element of the proposal is sought, has 
not been subject to such extensive investigations.  This area has been subject to a desk-based 
assessment, it has not been the subject of any archaeological fieldwork investigation and, based 
upon the findings from the trial trenching on the Wirrina car park site, such investigation is 
necessary due to the potential for significant finds.   
 
Accordingly, a condition is considered necessary to secure a Geophysical survey, targeted 
evaluation by trial trenching and, subject to the results of that evaluation, monitoring of associated 
infrastructure and landscaping. This would be in the form of a pre-commencement condition to 
ensure no works result in unacceptable harm to potential buried heritage assets.   
 
Subject to the imposition of such a condition, the proposal would not harm any buried heritage 
assets of key importance, in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) 
and paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).   
 

56



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 15 

d) Access, parking and highway implications 
Whilst the application is in hybrid form, with the proposed car park sought at outline stage only, the 
two elements are intrinsically linked with the car park providing parking mitigation associated with 
the Phase 2 building.  The application has been accompanied by a detailed Transport Assessment 
(TA) which sets out the traffic and highway implications arising from the development as a whole.  
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has accepted this TA and considers that it is a sound and 
reasonable assessment of the likely highway impacts arising from the development.   
 
Parking 
As part of consideration of Phase 1 of the University (20/01044/R4FUL), it was accepted that the 
car parking capacity of the City Centre would only just meet the demands generated, with some 
degree of overspill anticipated (45 cars) during peak periods from year 3 of operation onwards. 
Therefore, it has always been accepted and anticipated that any further development associated 
with the University would need to secure additional parking capacity.   
 
The full element of the proposal, for the Phase 2 R&D building, would extend to a floor area of 
some 3,300sqm.  As detailed above, approximately one third of this space is to be taken by 
Photocentric a Peterborough-based company, with the remaining building space tenants to be 
confirmed.  Photocentric have confirmed that the building will house 63 full-time equivalent 
employees (60 of whom will be transferred from existing facilities within Fengate) and travel 
behaviour information for the staff transferring to the site has been used to inform the TA.  For the 
remaining floor space, industry accepted travel modal patterns have been used.   
 
Taking account of the proposed floorspace, the parking demand generated by the Phase 2 building 
would be 99no. spaces. 6no. of those would be provided within the immediate environs of the 
building (proposed as part of the full application) whilst the remaining are proposed to be 
accommodated within the car park which forms the outline element of the proposal.  In addition, 
the Phase 2 building would result in the reconfiguration of the on-site parking area secured as part 
of Phase 1 and an overall reduction in the number of cars that can be parked on-site by 35.  These 
lost spaces must therefore be re-provided.   
 
Based upon the modelling set out within the submitted TA, it is evident that all of the above parking 
provision is required within 6 months of first occupation of the Phase 2 building.   
 
The proposed car park is sought in outline form and would provide for up to 180 additional parking 
spaces above and beyond the existing Regional Pool car park (which has 200 spaces).  As such, 
the total parking provision on the Regional Pool car park site would be 380 spaces.   The 180 
additional spaces would result in a level of car parking that would exceed the requirement for the 
Phase 2 building alone. The Applicant has allowed for the possibility of this larger capacity to 
include the 43 space shortfall from the Phase 1 development.  It should be noted however that 
accommodating the parking shortfall from Phase 1 is not necessary to make this current proposed 
Phase 2 development acceptable, and therefore the Local Planning Authority cannot insist that all 
180 additional spaces are built. Only 128 additional spaces are required for the proposed Phase 2 
development and therefore it is this number which will be required as a minimum.  However 
Officers consider that the provision of up to 180 additional spaces, despite being more than is 
required for either Phase 1 or Phase 2, is not unacceptable in this instance and given the lost 
parking through redevelopment of the Wirrina car park.   
 
The level of parking proposed is considered appropriate and a condition is required which secures 
the completion/opening of the proposed car park (which should include no less than 128 spaces) 
no later than 12 months following first use of the Phase 2 building.  Without such a condition, 
parking demand would result which cannot safely be accommodated and which would result in an 
unacceptable impact upon the surrounding network through inappropriate parking.  This will mean 
that any reserved matters submission will have to be submitted and determined bearing this 
ultimate deadline in mind.   
 
Whilst it is noted that the proposed car park would not solely be for the use of the University, 

57



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 16 

operating as a general public car park by the City Council, this is not considered unacceptable.  
The proposal seeks to enhance the overall city centre parking offer to accommodate the 
development proposed, and during those times at which the University is not open, would be 
available for wider use by visitors to the City Centre.   
 
Traffic generation 
The submitted TA has identified that there are junctions within the locality of the application site 
which are presently operating at close to capacity and which would, come 2026 be at over capacity 
(without taking into account either Phases 1 or 2 of the University) - principally the Bishops 
Road/Vineyard Road mini roundabout and the A15 Rivergate roundabout.  The modelling 
undertaken as part of the TA identifies that these junctions would be subject to some additional 
capacity issues, albeit the increase would be negligible and therefore not unacceptable.  This view 
is accepted by the LHA. 
 
There is one junction that presently would still have capacity in 2026 and 2031 (without Phases 1 
and 2) - Junction 5 of the Fletton Parkway (Boongate).  The modelling submitted identifies that 
following the construction of Phase 1 and taking account of the current proposal, the capacity 
would be exceeded.  This is noted and is accepted as being an undue impact, however the ‘on the 
ground’ result would equate to a further 3 cars in the queue at the PM peak on the northbound 
parkway spur which is not considered to be wholly unacceptable.  Further, as part of the Council’s 
wider Embankment Area Access Study and Local Transport Plan, plans are being progressed to 
increase capacity of this junction as it is acknowledged that much of the planned development 
within the City Centre would result in the same impact.  Unfortunately, the planning for this 
improvement work is not at a stage whereby a scheme has been finalised and therefore, it is not 
possible at this time, for Officers to seek a financial contribution as it would not meet the relevant 
legal tests for doing so.  However, the Applicant has been advised that any future phases of the 
university will need to include contributions to this improvement work and, if necessary, bring 
forward the plans alongside any future applications.   
 
Finally, the submitted TA has demonstrated that the implementation of a robust and 
comprehensive Travel Plan would likely mitigate these impacts through the encouragement of 
travel by means other than private car.  This Plan would be a fully committed to by the Higher 
Education provider and closely monitored by PCC. 
 
The NPPF, paragraph 109, clearly states that development proposals should only be refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  The submitted TA has demonstrated 
that the residual cumulative impacts would not be severe, and the LHA has not raised any 
concerns with regards to highway safety.   
 
Access 
The full element of the proposal seeks to use the vehicular access granted planning permission 
through 20/01044/R4FUL (Phase 1).  This access, and the internal roads/service areas within the 
development, have been fully tracked and it has been demonstrated that the site is capable of 
being safely serviced by large vehicles which can entre, turn and exit in a forward gear.  The 
access has previously be found to be safe by the LHA and the current proposal would not alter 
this. 
 
Turning to the outline element, access is sought at this time and therefore detailed drawings and 
proposals have been submitted.  The proposal seeks to close the existing vehicular access to the 
Regional Pool car park and alter the current access serving the Regional Pool/Athletics Track 
service road.    Presently, this junction is a ‘Y’ junction, whilst the proposal seeks a standard 
priority-controlled ‘T-junction’.  The new junction will serve the Regional Pool car park/current 
proposal, the Regional Pool and the Athletics Track, and will allow vehicles to both enter and exit.  
Access arrangements to the Regional Pool and the Athletics Track will be retained, including the 
retention of the one-way system and the exit only junction onto Bishop’s Road, situated to the north 
of the Regional Pool. 

58



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 17 

 
The LHA has advised that this access would be of sufficient width, and provide adequate vehicle-
to-vehicle visibility such that it would be safe.  Some realignment of Bishops Road is likely to be 
required and as such, the LHA has requested that a condition securing a scheme be appended.  
This is considered to be reasonable and necessary.   
 
Bus stops 
As part of the Phase 1 development (20/01044/R4FUL), temporary bus stops have been secured 
on Bishops Road in order to encourage trips to/from the University by bus.  Officers, and the LHA, 
have always been clear that any future phases beyond the current application, would need to 
ensure that a more permanent solution with regards to bus travel is secured however for the 
current proposal those temporary stops are considered adequate.   
 
Cycle parking 
As part of the full element of the proposal, 54 no. cycle parking spaces are proposed.  This is 
based upon a standard of 1 stand per 90sqm for staff, and 1 stand per 200sqm for visitors.  This 
would mainly be provided within the concourse area between the Phase 1 and Phase 2 buildings, 
continuing the line of cycle parking shelters already permitted under 20/01044/R4FUL (Phase 1).  
This location is considered appropriate and suitable, with adequate natural surveillance for security 
purposes.  It is considered that this level of parking is appropriate for the proposed use, and 
accords with the Council’s adopted standards.   
 
Suggested LHA conditions 
The LHA has requested that a number of conditions be secured on both the full and outline 
proposals. Broadly, these are considered by Officers to be reasonable and necessary however 
some are not.  The LPA is moving away from securing onerous Construction Management Plans 
on many sites, as these largely duplicate other legislation which planning should not seek to do.  In 
regards to this particular site, it is not considered to be sensitive in terms of traffic movements and 
therefore a detailed CMP is not felt to be necessary.  This was the position also taken in regards to 
the Phase 1 permission (20/01044/R4FUL) whereby only wheel wash facilities were conditioned 
and it is proposed by Officers that the same is necessary for these elements.  Similarly, the LHA 
has requested that a pre-condition highway survey be secured by condition.  However, again, this 
is not considered necessary as it damage to the highway is covered by the Highway Act.  Such a 
survey was not secured as part of the Phase 1 permission and in light of this, the LHA has 
subsequently removed this request. Finally, the LHA has requested temporary facilities for the site 
compound be secured.  This may not be possible within the confines of the application site 
however the City Council (who are joint developer) will be able to provide adequate temporary 
facilities on other land owned such that no undue impact to highway safety results.   
 
On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in a severe impact to 
the capacity of the surrounding public highway network such that a reason for refusal could be 
sustained, safe access would be afforded to all users, and adequate parking provision would be 
made to meet the demands arising from the Phase 2 development.  Further and notwithstanding 
this, it is considered that the benefit arising from the enhanced University offer and employment 
floorspace to the economy of the City and wider region, outweighs the limited harm that would 
result.  On this basis, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy LP13 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 109 of the NPPF (2019).   
 
e) Drainage and flood risk 
 
Surface water 
Turning first to the Phase 2 building, a substantial green roof element is proposed to intercept a 
large proportion of rainfall.  Thereafter, any surface water will discharge into a series of 
swales/basins located to the south and west of the site, before entering the Anglian Water sewer 
via a flow control unit. This is a continuation of the Phase 1 drainage strategy, albeit they are not 
linked systems. For the remaining development included within the full element of the application, 
surface water from hardstanding areas will flow into raingardens and tree pits prior to entering the 

59



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 18 

main drainage and attenuation system, and the small car parking areas and access roads 
adjoining  the building are proposed to be formed of porous construction. 
 
It is proposed that the eventual rate of discharge into the Anglian Water sewer would be no greater 
than greenfield run-off rate (including a 1 in 100 year flood event plus climate change) and the 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has accepted this.   A pre-planning  application was made by 
the Applicant to Anglian Water, who confirmed that this was accepted  Unfortunately no formal 
comments have been received from Anglian Water as part of this application, as those comments 
which were submitted related to a different site and no further response has been forthcoming.   
 
With regards to the car park proposal, which is in outline at this stage, an illustrative surface water 
drainage proposal has been submitted.  It is proposed that surface water would discharge into a 
series of under-drained swales located at the building perimeter before discharging to a detention 
basin located to the north of the site along Bishops Road, prior to entering the Anglian Water sewer 
via a flow control unit. Hardstanding areas adjacent to the car park structure would utilise porous 
paving wherever possible.  Anglian Water has confirmed the principle of accepting a connection 
based upon the discharge rate proposed of 2 litres per second.   
 
It has not been possible to undertake a site investigation within the Regional Pool car park site and 
therefore infiltration rates and groundwater levels have been based on investigations undertaken at 
the adjacent Phase 1 and Phase 2 building sites. The Applicant has confirmed that additional site 
investigations will be undertaken and issued as part of any reserved matters application to, 
alongside a detailed surface water drainage scheme.   
 
Notwithstanding this, the LLFA accepts the framework scheme proposed and considers that the 
development is capable of acceptably dealing with surface water run-off such that no undue flood 
risk would result.  A condition shall be imposed to secure a detailed drainage scheme which would 
need to be submitted alongside any future reserved matters application.   
 
Foul water 
It is proposed for foul drainage to be disposed of via a dedicated below ground piped network, 
which would subsequently discharge into the Anglian Water sewerage system.  A pre-planning 
application was made by the Applicant to Anglian Water, who confirmed that there is adequate 
capacity in the sewerage system and wastewater treatment plant.   
 
Based upon the above, it is considered that drainage from the site would be adequately managed 
such that no increased flood risk either on- or off-site would result.  The proposal is therefore in 
accordance with Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019), paragraphs 155 and 163 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and the Peterborough Flood and Water 
Management SPD (2019).     
 
f) Neighbour amenity 
Turning first to the Phase 2 building, this would stand at three storeys in height and be sited to the 
rear of the Phase 1 building that is currently being constructed.  In terms of its physical presence, it 
would not result in undue overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking of nearby residential 
dwellings by virtue of its siting. 
 
However, as the proposal is for a Research and Development use, a considerable amount of plant 
and mechanical extraction is proposed. In addition, it is proposed for the building to be heated by 
means of air source heat pumps.  A detailed Noise Assessment has accompanied the application 
and this is accepted by the Council’s Pollution Control Officer.  They have however requested that, 
as with Phase 1, a noise limit be imposed upon the development such that no greater than a noise 
level of 49dB LAeq (1hr) between 07.00hrs and 23.00hrs and 35dB LAeq (15mins) at all other 
times results at the nearest noise sensitive receptor (residential dwelling).   
 
In addition, as the main proportion of future occupiers are not yet known at this time, the flue 
systems they would utilise are not known.  Therefore it is considered necessary to impose a further 

60



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 19 

condition that requires each Phase 2 occupant with mechanical plant to be installed at the site be 
required to submit details of the location, sound power data, operating hours and frequency 
spectrum, and where necessary attenuation measures to demonstrate individual and cumulative 
compliance with the overarching set noise level 
 
With regards to the proposed car park, this would be sited on the existing Regional Pool car park 
site and extend to a maximum height to mirror that of the Phase 1 building.  This car park would be 
sited in closer proximity to residential dwellings to the north/north-east (Stephenson Court) than 
Phase 1, but would still be some 48 metres from the facing primary habitable windows.  It is 
considered that this degree of separation is sufficient to prevent undue overlooking, overbearing 
and overshadowing impact to occupiers of those properties.  Whilst the car park would be visible 
whereas at present there are no substantial buildings, in planning terms there is no right to a view 
and the visual impact has been found acceptable (see (b) above).   
 
Turning to noise from the car park, it is accepted that it would be in use 24 hours a day, 7 days per 
week and to a more intensive level than the existing car park.  However it is not considered that 
this would give rise to an unacceptable level of disturbance to neighbouring occupants given the 
degree of separation and that a similar number of car parking spaces were previously in close 
proximity (given the former Wirrina car park).   
 
Taking the above into account, it is not considered that the proposal would result in unacceptable 
harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupants and it is therefore in accordance with Policy LP17 
of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
g) Ecology and trees 
 
Ecology and biodiversity 
The application has been accompanied by an Ecological Assessment and a Bat Survey Report, 
and neither Natural England nor the Council’s Wildlife Officer have raised objections to the 
proposal (either full or outline). 
 
The application site lies in close proximity to, and within the Impact Risk Zone, of the Nene 
Washes SSSI/SPA/SAC/Ramsar site which is of international importance owing to its qualifying 
species (over wintering birds).  Natural England have confirmed that the proposal would not have 
an undue impact upon this important site.   
 
Turning to habitat impacts, the site as a whole (not including Bishops Park which is not to be built 
upon) is predominantly formed by previously developed brownfield land that was formerly/currently 
in use as surface parking.  There are however mature shelterbelts and open space surrounding 
these areas which are of rich habitat potential.   
 
It has been identified that the site has potential for roosting bats and nesting birds. However, of the 
trees identified within the application site as having bat roosting potential, there were no roosting 
bats identified during the emergence surveys, and commuting and foraging activity was limited to 
three bats during the first session, and a single bat during the second. Accordingly, it is not 
considered that the proposal would have undue impact upon this protected species. 
 
With regards to badgers, a survey has been undertaken which found no setts, however owing to 
their mobility, the Ecological Assessment recommends that a pre-commencement further survey 
be undertaken of the car park site and its surroundings (to a buffer of 50m). Finally, there is high 
potential for hedgehogs within the site and therefore mitigation measures are proposed within the 
submitted Assessment.   
 
The Council’s Wildlife Officer has raised no objections to the contents or mitigation measures 
proposed, and has requested a number of conditions relating to ecological protection. With regards 
to the full and outline elements of the scheme, a pre-commencement condition relating to 
submission of a Construction Environmental Management Plan has been recommended by the 

61



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 20 

Wildlife Officer.  Whilst this is noted, Officers are of the view that the requirements of such a 
condition, given that the submitted Ecological Assessment does not highlight significant likelihood 
of protected species, appear unduly onerous.  This is particularly given the conditions imposed 
upon 20/01044/R4FUL (Phase 1) which shares a site.  As such, it is instead considered more 
appropriate to secure compliance with the mitigation measures contained within the submitted 
Assessment which is consistent with the approach for Phase 1.  
 
The other conditions proposed by the Wildlife Officer (biodiversity enhancement scheme, lighting 
design and badger surveys) are considered necessary and appropriate, and shall be secured on 
both the full and outline elements.   
 
Subject to the imposition of such conditions, it is considered that the proposal would not result in 
unacceptable impact to species of principal importance, and would secure overall biodiversity gain.  
The proposal is therefore in accordance with Policies LP22 and LP28 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019), paragraphs 98 and 99 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and the 
Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019).   
 
Trees 
Following revision to the outline element of the proposal, moving the siting of the car park from 
Bishops Park to the Regional Pool car park, a revised Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and 
Method Statement (AMS) were submitted. The City Council’s Tree Officer has raised no objections 
to the contents of either document.   
 
The site contains and abuts a number of mature trees which form shelterbelts and are intrinsic to 
the character of the Embankment and city as a whole.  Of all the trees within/adjacent to the site, 
only 1no. Category B tree, an ash, which is located to the east of the proposed Phase 2 building, 
between that and the Regional Pool car park, is proposed to be felled.  Whilst the loss of any trees 
is harmful and regrettable, in this instance it is accepted as being necessary to facilitate the 
development.  Further, a scheme of mitigating and enhancement planting is proposed by the 
Applicant which is to be secured by condition.  Such additional planting would ensure an overall 
net gain in trees and biodiversity on the site.   
 
On this basis, the proposal would ensure that trees of key amenity value to the surrounding area 
are protected, and that overall enhancement to the landscape quality of the area is secured, in 
accordance with Policy LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
h) Contamination 
As part of the assessment of the Phase 1 development (20/01044/R4FUL), a Phase 2 
Contamination Assessment Report was prepared.  In addition to the Phase 1 site, the survey area 
included the site for the Phase 2 building and extended southwards to include the woodland and 
sports pitches. 
 
The assessment confirmed that risk of the encountered ground contamination affecting site users 
when present beneath buildings and permanent areas of hardstanding would be very low and as 
such, no formal scheme of remediation was proposed.  This has been accepted by the Council’s 
Pollution Control Officer.   
 
However, for the outline element of the proposal (car park), no contamination assessment has 
been undertaken and therefore, this shall need to be secured by way of a pre-commencement 
condition.   
 
Subject to the above, the proposal would not pose an unacceptable risk to human health or 
controlled waters through contamination, in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).    
 
i) Air quality 
Owing to the size of the development proposed (in terms of the number of vehicle movements 

62



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 21 

to/from the site, air quality is a matter which must be considered.  The Applicant has therefore 
submitted an Air Quality Assessment which has been reviewed by the Council’s Pollution Control 
Officer. 
 
They have advised that at present, there is not sufficient information to accept the submitted AQA.  
This relates to the modelled nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and atmospheric aerosol particles (PM10) for 
the development which the report states to be no more than a 5% increase and therefore 
negligible.  However, the same results were shown for the Phase 1 development and it is not clear 
from the assessment submitted, whether or not the increase is on top of those for Phase 1 or not.  
The concern is therefore that the impact of each Phase is being considered in isolation, whilst the 
impacts should be considered cumulatively. 
 
Notwithstanding this, the Pollution Control Officer is of the view that the overall impact is not likely 
to be significant, or such that mitigation (whether physical through design, financial or 
administrative) could not be secured, therefore a condition requiring submission of a revised AQA 
has been recommended.  As the need for the AQA relates mainly to the traffic movements 
associated with the proposed car park, this shall be secured on the outline permission only and be 
required alongside any future reserved matters submission to ensure mitigation can be factored in 
at the detailed design stage.   
 
Subject to securing a condition as set out above, the proposal would not result in unacceptable 
harm to the amenities of nearby residents through air quality impact, in accordance with Policy 
LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 181 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019).   
 
j) Future occupant amenity 
Whilst the proposal is not for residential use, there is still a need to ensure that future occupiers are 
not subject to unacceptable noise disturbance.  The submitted Noise Assessment identifies that 
that ventilation of the building is to be achieved via a combination of mechanical ventilation and 
openable windows.  The Council’s Pollution Control Officer has advised that the proposed 
mitigation measures for both glazing and ventilation would achieve the required British Standard 
for open plan offices/workspaces in terms of noise levels, however it would exceed criteria 
recommended for research laboratories and other type of cellular office space.  As such, a 
condition has been recommended which secures the submitted noise mitigation in the event that 
the building is an open plan arrangement, but should this change, revised glazing/ventilation 
specifications are required.  This is considered appropriate and necessary.    
 
k) Other matters 
In response to those objections received and not addressed above: 
 
- Lack of overarching masterplan for the University campus 
The comments of the Civic Society and Council’s Conservation Officer with regards to the lack of 
an overarching masterplan for the University of Peterborough are noted.  Indeed, Officers concur 
with some of the views that the lack of an overall vision for the site brings a number of difficulties in 
ensuring that any development/permissions at this time do not prejudice the future ability to deliver 
latter phases.  However, there is no policy requirement for such a masterplan and therefore, 
provided that each and every proposal submitted accords with the relevant policies of the Local 
Plan (and any other material planning considerations), the lack of a masterplan cannot be used as 
a reason to refuse the current proposal.   
 
- Loss of public open space 
The proposal no longer seeks any development on Bishops Park or any designated Public Open 
Space.   
 
- Other development on the Embankment 
The application can only be assessed in relation to development that has either been allocated 
within the adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019), has been granted planning permission or 

63



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 22 

where a planning application has been submitted.  The proposals for the slip road from the Fletton 
Parkway, and the Peterborough United FC stadium do not meet any of these criteria and therefore 
cannot be considered in the determination of this application.  
 
- Alternative car park locations 
Alternative locations for the proposed development are not a material planning consideration. 
 
- Insufficient public consultation 
Public consultation has been undertaken in accordance with, and in exceedance of, the duties set 
out within the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 (as 
amended), the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and 
the Council’s own Statement of Community Involvement.  A total of 578 notification letters were 
sent to local residents, 3no. site notices were erected in vicinity of the site, and a press advert was 
placed in the Peterborough Telegraph.   
 
Despite the restrictions of the current pandemic, the Government has issued clear guidance that 
Local Planning Authorities should continue to determine applications. As such, it would not be 
possible for the LPA to delay the determination of this application.   
 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically: 

− the proposal represents the next phase of the development of the University of Peterborough 
and would be sited on land which is in line with the vision for the Riverside North Policy Area.  
As such, the principle of development is considered to be acceptable in accordance with 
Policies LP4 and LP51 of the Local Plan (2019); 

− the application scheme would result in enhanced educational offer associated with the newly 
created University of Peterborough, which should be afforded great weight in decision-making, 
in accordance with paragraph 94 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019); 

− the proposed design is considered to be of high quality that would enhance the site and its 
wider surroundings, in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019); 

− the proposal would ensure that the significance of nearby designated heritage assets are 
preserved and accordingly, the proposal is in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 193, 194 and 196 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019); 

− no harm to any buried heritage assets of key importance would result, in accordance with Policy 
LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019); 

− the proposal would not result in a severe impact to the capacity of the surrounding public 
highway network, safe access would be afforded to all users, and adequate parking provision 
would be made to meet the demands arising from the Phase 2 development, in accordance with 
Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 109 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019); 

− drainage from the site would be adequately managed such that no increased flood risk either 
on- or off-site would result, in accordance with Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019), paragraphs 155 and 163 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and the 
Peterborough Flood and Water Management SPD (2019); 

− an unacceptable level of harm would not result to the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in 
accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019);  

− the proposal would not result in unacceptable impact to species of principal importance and 
would secure overall biodiversity gain, in accordance with Policies LP22 and LP28 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019), paragraphs 98 and 99 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019) and the Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019); 

− the proposal would ensure that trees of key amenity value to the surrounding area are 
protected, and that overall enhancement to the landscape quality of the area is secured, in 

64



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 23 

accordance with Policy LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019); 

− the proposal would not pose an unacceptable risk to human health or controlled waters through 
contamination, in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and 
paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019); and 

− the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm to the air quality of the surrounding area, in 
accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 181 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
7 Recommendation 
 
The case officer recommends that Planning Permission (Regulation 3) is GRANTED subject to the 
following conditions and subject to completion of the outstanding public consultation period with no 
new substantive objections that have not previously been considered above being received. 
 
The following conditions relate to the full element of this permission only (Phase 2 building 
development): 
 
 
C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 

 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings: 
 

- Proposed Block Plan (drawing number UOP002-MCW-CP-00-DR-A-0105 Revision P04); 
- Proposed Ground Floor Plan (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0110 

Revision P11); 
- Proposed First Floor Plan (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-01-DR-A-0111 Revision 

P11); 
- Proposed Second Floor Plan (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-02-DR-A-0112 

Revision P12); 
- Proposed Roof Plan (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-RF-DR-A-0113 Revision P10); 
- Proposed North Elevation (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0130 Revision 

P07); 
- Proposed East Elevation (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0131 Revision 

P07); 
- Proposed South Elevation (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0132 Revision 

P07); 
- Proposed West Elevation (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0133 Revision 

P07); 
- Proposed Section AA (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0150 Revision 

P08); 
- Proposed Section BB (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0151 Revision 

P07); 
- Existing Block Plan (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-00-DR-A-9901 Revision P05); 

and 
- Existing Site Plan (drawing number UOP002-MCW-CP-00-DR-A-9904 Revision P02).  
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  

 
C 3 Prior to their installation, details of all external materials to be used on the building shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details submitted 
for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product type, colour (using 

65



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 24 

BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be carried out except in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
 
C 4 Notwithstanding the submitted information, no land raising, with the exception of that 

associated with landscaping, is permitted and the finished floor levels of the development 
shall be no more than 340mm above existing ground levels. 

  
 Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the surrounding area, in 

accordance with Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
C 5 All vehicles leaving the site during the period of construction shall pass through wheel 

cleaning equipment and enter the public highway in a clean condition, free of any debris or 
slurry which could fall onto the public highway.  The wheel cleaning equipment shall be 
retained on site in full working order throughout the duration of construction works.    

  
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
C 6 No later than 6 calendar months following first use of the building hereby permitted, a car 

park of no less than 128 additional spaces above and beyond the existing Regional Pool 
car park capacity, subject to the outline element of this permission, shall be constructed 
and made available for use in accordance with the reserved matters secured under 
condition C1 of the outline permission.   

 
 Reason:  To ensure that adequate city centre parking capacity is available to meet the 

demands generated by the development and prevent undue harm to the safety of the 
surrounding public highway network, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019).   

 
C 7  Prior to first use of the building hereby permitted, the areas shown on drawing number 

UOP002-MCW-CP-00-DR-A-0105 Revision P04 ‘Proposed Block Plan’, for the purposes of 
the access, parking and turning of vehicles, shall be laid out, surfaced and made available 
for use.  Thereafter, those areas shall not be used for any purpose other than the access, 
parking and turning of vehicles in connection with the use of the University and/or 
development hereby permitted. 

 
 Reason: To ensure the development is provided with satisfactory access, parking and 

turning in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 
C 8 Prior to first use of the development by students, a parking management plan shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The plan shall 
include, where applicable: 

  
- Measures for the control and limitation of car park usage; 
- Allocation and demarcation of parking bays for each user type (staff, students and 

visitors); 
- Allocation and demarcation of electric vehicle charging points; 
- A Charging regime; 
- Methods of payment, ticketing and/or permits; and 
- Method of securing the site out of hours.  

  

66



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 25 

 The approved parking management plan shall be implemented in full prior to first use of the 
development by students.  It shall thereafter be maintained in perpetuity.   

  
 Reason: In order to control the demand for on-site parking which is limited and in the 

interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019).  

 
C 9 Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to first occupation of the development 

hereby permitted, a cycle parking scheme for 54 bicycles shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall be based upon the 
cycle parking locations shown on drawing number UOP002-MCW-CP-00-DR-A-0105 
Revision P04 and include: 

  
- the design of secure cycle shelters; and 
- a timetable for the provision of the cycle parking.   

  
 The cycle parking shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme, including 

the timetable contained therein.  Thereafter, the cycle parking shall be retained in 
perpetuity.  

  
 Reason: In the interest of ensuring that the site is served by sufficient cycle parking and to 

promote more sustainable methods of travel to/from the site, in accordance with Policy 
LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 
C10  The initiatives and action plan to reduce travel by private motor vehicle set out within the 

submitted 'Framework Travel Plan' (reference UOP0002-TTC-ZZ-XX-RP-T-0002-S4-P02 
Revision P03) shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein.  
Thereafter, the Travel Plan shall be monitored and updated in accordance with the details 
set out in the Framework Travel Plan. 

  
 Reason:  To reduce travel to/from the site by private motor vehicle, reduce demand upon 

city centre parking and encourage more sustainable methods of travel, in accordance with 
Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   

 
C11 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until the sustainable 

drainage scheme for the site has been completed in accordance with the following: 
 

- Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy Report (Smith and Wallwork Engineers, reference 
UOP002-SAW-ZZ-XX-RP-C-0005 Revision P03, dated 14 April 2021); 

- Letter from Smith and Wallwork Engineers dated 18 May 2021 (reference UOP002-
SAW-ZZ-ZZ-CO-C-002 Revision P01); 

- Proposed Roof Plan (drawing number UOP002-MCW-ZZ-RF-DR-A-0113 Revision P10); 
and 

- Below Ground Foul and Surface Water Layout (Site Wide) (drawing number UOP002-
SAW-ZZ-ZZ-DR-C-5201 Revision P04). 

 
Thereafter, the sustainable drainage scheme shall be managed and maintained in 
accordance with the submitted ‘Foul and Surface Water Drainage Operation and 
Maintenance Document’ (Smith and Wallwork Engineers, reference UOP002-SAW-ZZ-XX-
RP-C-0006 Revision P02, dated 18 May 2021) in perpetuity.   
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained and to 
ensure that there is no flood risk on or off the site resulting from the proposed development, 
in accordance with Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and the 
Peterborough Flood and Water Management SPD (2019).  

 

67



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 26 

C12 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
submitted 'Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement (Amended March 
2021)' (Cantia Arboricultural Services reference CAS/2021/114) including drawing number 
CAS/2021/114 'Tree Protection Plan (Revised)’.   

  
 Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the area and ensure that trees 

of key amenity value are preserved, in accordance with Policies LP16 and LP29 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
C13 (a) Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to first occupation of the development 

hereby permitted, a scheme for the hard and soft landscaping of the site shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include 
details of the following: 

   
i) Planting plans including retained trees, species, numbers, size and density of planting; 
ii) All boundary treatments which, if impenetrable, must include adequately sized gaps for 

the movement of hedgehogs at a spacing of 10 metre intervals; 
iii) Surfacing of all access, parking and vehicle turning areas; 
iv) Surfacing of all pedestrian access and circulation areas; 
v) Street furniture; and 
vi) Closed circuit television (CCTV) provision.     

  
 The approved hard landscaping scheme (boundary treatments, surfacing, street furniture 

and CCTV) shall be carried out in full prior to first occupation of the development. 
  
 The soft landscaping (planting) shall be carried out no later than the first available planting 

season following first occupation of the development, or alternatively in accordance with a 
timetable for landscape implementation which has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

  
 (b) Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die, 

are removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or 
their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being 
replaced. Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting 
shall themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity and security of the surrounding area, 

mitigation of the tree removal permitted and the enhancement of biodiversity, in accordance 
with Policies LP16, LP19, LP28 and LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and the 
Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019).   

 
C14 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a scheme for the external 

lighting of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The lighting shall not exceed the obtrusive light limits specified in environmental 
zone E3 of the Institution of Lighting Professionals document ‘Guidance Notes for the 
Reduction of Obtrusive Light: Guidance Note 01:20’.   

 
 In the event of any reasonable light pollution complaint being received by the Local 

Planning Authority, the Developer or their successors in Title, shall be required to 
undertake a full lighting assessment to demonstrate compliance with the above limits and 
submit this within 28 days of notice issued by the Local Planning Authority. Should such an 
assessment fail to demonstrate compliance, further mitigation measures shall be submitted 
alongside the light assessment and implemented in accordance with the submitted details 
within 28 days of approval by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

68



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 27 

 Reason:  To ensure no unacceptable harm results from external lighting upon neighbouring 
residential properties or protected species and habitat which surround the site, in 
accordance with Policies LP17, LP22 and LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and 
the Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019). 

 
C15 No development shall take place unless and until a further detailed badger survey has been 

undertaken as described within paragraph 4.55 of the submitted ‘Ecological Assessment’ 
(Land Use Consultants Ltd, reference UOP002-LUC-ZZ-XX-RP-EC-0001, dated 12 April 
2021).  In the event that badgers are discovered within the impact area of the development, 
then no development shall take place unless and until the relevant protected species 
license has been obtained and evidence of such submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason:  To ensure that no harm results to protected species, in accordance with Policy 

LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019), the Protection of Badgers Act (1992) and the 
Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019).  This is a pre-
commencement condition to ensure that no badgers move into the risk area of the 
development in the intervening period from when the ecological assessment was 
undertaken to when development commences.  

 
C16 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

Bat Survey Report (LUC, Version 1, June 2020) and the species/habitat mitigation 
measures set out within the submitted ‘Ecological Assessment’ (Land Use Consultants Ltd, 
reference UOP002-LUC-ZZ-XX-RP-EC-0001, dated 12 April 2021).   

 
 Throughout the period of construction works, all construction trenches shall be covered 

overnight and a method of escape for mammals, specifically hedgehogs, shall be provided 
to each trench.  

  
 Reason: In the interest of preserving the biodiversity value of the site and protected 

species, in accordance with Policies LP22 and LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) 
and the Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019).  

 
C17 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

submitted Phase 2 Contamination Assessment Report (Ground Engineering, reference 
C14884A, dated January 2020), in particular the soil gas mitigation which requires the use 
of a well-constructed concrete floor and gas resistant membrane.  The mitigation measures 
shall thereafter be retained and maintained in perpetuity.  

  
 Reason: In the interest of protecting the amenity of future occupiers, in accordance with 

Policies LP17 and LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and Paragraph 180 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).  

 
C18 Upon completion of mitigation, a copy of a closure report shall be submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority. The report shall provide verification that the required works regarding 
contamination have been carried out in accordance with the submitted Phase 2 
Contamination Assessment Report (Ground Engineering, reference C14884A, dated 
January 2020) and results of all post-remediation sampling and monitoring.  

  
 Reason: To provide verification that the required remediation has been carried out to 

appropriate standards, in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019) and Paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).  

 
C19 If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then the Local 

Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be carried out 
until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect contamination has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The 

69



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 28 

development shall thereafter not be carried out except in complete accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

  
 Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with such that no risk to human 

health or controlled waters results, in accordance Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019) and paragraphs 178-180 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
C20 a) The noise mitigation measures set out within the submitted Noise Assessment 

(Anderson Acoustics, reference 4938_001R_1-0_MR Phase 2) shall be implemented in full 
prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted. The glazing shall be in 
accordance with requirements detailed in ‘Table 4.1’ Minimum external glazing 
requirements (page 14) and the ventilation scheme shall be implemented in accordance 
with Section 4.2.  Thereafter, all noise mitigation shall be retained and maintained as such 
in perpetuity.  

 
b) In the event that building occupation alters from an open plan office style, prior to first 
occupation of any internal layout revision, the Developer or their successors in Title, shall 
submit a revised glazing and ventilation scheme that accords with the specified internal 
noise levels contained within BS 8233:2014 ‘Guidance on sound insulation and noise 
reduction for buildings’ (or any Standard replacing that Standard in part or whole, and with 
or without modification).  Thereafter, the revised glazing and ventilation scheme shall be 
implemented in full prior to first occupation of any internal layout revision.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that the future occupiers of the development are not subject to 
unacceptable noise disturbance, in accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019) and paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).   

 
C21 The rating level of noise emitted from any external plant/machinery (such as air 

conditioning units) shall not exceed the cumulative limits of 49dB LAeq (1hr) between 
07.00hrs and 23.00hrs and 35dB LAeq (15mins) at all other times.  The noise levels shall 
be determined at the nearest noise sensitive premises, and in accordance with British 
Standard 4142:2014 'Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound' 
(or any Standard replacing that Standard in part or whole, and with or without modification).   

  
 A relaxation of +10 dB LAeq above these criteria is allowed for the operation of the 

emergency generator for a period of no more than 48 hours. 
  
 In the event of any reasonable noise complaint being received by the Local Planning 

Authority, the Developer or their successors in Title, shall be required to undertake a full 
noise assessment to demonstrate compliance with the above noise limit and submit this 
within 28 days of notice issued by the Local Planning Authority.  Should such an 
assessment fail to demonstrate compliance, further mitigation measures shall be submitted 
alongside the noise assessment and implemented in accordance with the submitted details 
within 28 days of approval by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason:  In the interests of preserving the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in 

accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 180 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).   

 
C22 Prior to the installation and use of any mechanical plant, the following details shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 

- operating hours; 
- location within the site or on the building;  
- sound power level(s);  
- frequency spectrum;  

70



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 29 

- impact upon the cumulative noise level at the nearest noise sensitive receptor 
(residential property); and  

- where necessary, attenuation/mitigation measures. 
 
The noise levels shall be determined in accordance with British Standard 4142:2014 
'Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound' (or any Standard 
replacing that Standard in part or whole, and with or without modification). 
 
The mechanical plant shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and 
thereafter maintained and retained as such in perpetuity. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of preserving the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in 
accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 180 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).   

 
C23 The development hereby permitted shall be used as a research and development facility 

and/or a higher education University and associated ancillary functions only within Classes 
E(g) of Part A and F.1(a) of Part B of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (or any provision equivalent to that class in any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) only, and notwithstanding 
the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (or any statutory instrument or Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification).  

  
 Reason: The development has only been considered acceptable in light of the specific uses 

proposed and further assessment would be required should the use alter.    
 
 
The following conditions relate to the outline element of this permission only (car park 
development) 
 
 
C 1 Approval of details of the appearance, landscaping and layout of the development 

(hereinafter called 'the reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local Planning 
Authority in writing before any development is commenced. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by the 
development plan and any other material considerations including national and local policy 
guidance, and in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
C 2 The plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition C1 above, relating 

to the appearance, landscaping and layout, shall be submitted in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority and shall be carried out as approved. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by the 
development plan and any other material considerations including national and local policy 
guidance, and in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
C 3 Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

71



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 30 

C 4 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 

 
Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
C 5 The plans and particulars to be submitted under the provisions of condition C1 above shall 

accord with the parameters shown on the following drawings: 
 

- Parameters Plan Access and Movement (drawing number MCW-ZZ-XX-DI-A-0011 
Revision P02); 

- Parameters Plan View and Aspect (drawing number MCW-ZZ--XX-DI-A-0012 Revision 
P02); and 

- Parameters Plan Height (drawing number MCW-ZZ-00-DI-A-0013 Revision P02).   
 

Reason:  To restrict the development to that which was applied for and for which the 
impacts have been assessed, and to ensure that the development meets the policy 
standards required by the development plan and any other material considerations 
including national and local policy guidance. 

 
C 6 Prior to their installation, details of all external materials to be used in the development shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details 
submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product type, colour 
(using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be carried out except in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
C 7 No development shall take place unless and until a programme of archaeological work, 

including a Written Scheme of Investigation, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. No development shall take place unless in complete 
accordance with the approved scheme. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full 
including any post development requirements e.g. archiving and submission of final reports. 

 
Reason: To secure the obligation on the planning applicant or developer to mitigate the 
impact of their scheme on the historic environment when preservation in situ is not 
possible, in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and 
Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). This is a pre-
commencement condition to ensure that no groundworks take place which may result in 
harm to potential buried heritage assets.   

 
C 8  No development shall take place unless and until details of all existing and proposed 

finished building slab and site levels have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.   

  
 Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the surrounding area, in 

accordance with Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  This is a 
pre-commencement condition to ensure that no groundworks take place which result in 
finished levels which result in unacceptable harm to the visual amenity of the surrounding 
area. 

 
C 9 All vehicles leaving the site during the period of construction shall pass through wheel 

cleaning equipment and enter the public highway in a clean condition, free of any debris or 

72



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 31 

slurry which could fall onto the public highway.  The wheel cleaning equipment shall be 
retained on site in full working order throughout the duration of construction works.    

  
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
C10 Prior to first use of the development hereby permitted, the revised vehicular access onto 

Bishops Road shown on drawing number UOP0002-TTC-ZZ-00-DR-T-0101-S4-P04 
‘Proposed Access Arrangements Sheet 1 of 4' contained within Appendix D of the 
submitted Transport Assessment (reference UOP0002-TTC-ZZ-XX-RP-T-0001-S4-P03) 
shall be constructed and made available for use. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
C11 Prior to first use of the revised vehicular access hereby permitted, a scheme of off-site 

highway works relating to construction of that access shall be submitted to and in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The approved off-site highway works shall be implemented in 
full prior to first use of the vehicular access.   

   
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   

 
C12 Prior to first use of the revised vehicular access hereby permitted, the vehicle-to-vehicle 

visibility splays shown on drawing number UOP0002-TTC-ZZ-00-DR-T-0101-S4-P04 
‘Proposed Access Arrangements Sheet 2 of 4' contained within Appendix D of the 
submitted Transport Assessment (reference UOP0002-TTC-ZZ-XX-RP-T-0001-S4-P03) 
shall be provided. Thereafter, those splays shall be kept clear of any obstruction above a 
height of 60mm from ground level in perpetuity. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).    
 
C13 Prior to first use of the revised vehicular access hereby permitted, a scheme for the 

permanent closure of the existing access serving the Reginal Pool car park shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
scheme shall be carried out no later than 3 months of the revised access being brought in 
to use, or in accordance with a timetable first submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Suitable temporary barriers shall be placed as an interim 
measure, as required. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
C14 No development shall take place unless and until a detailed sustainable surface water 

drainage scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall broadly accord with the principles set out in the submitted 
‘Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy Report’ (Smith and Wallwork Engineers, reference 
UOP002-SAW-ZZ-XX-RP-C-0005 Revision P03, dated 14 April 2021) and include, but not 
limited to: 

 
- The proposed connection point and discharge rate into the surface water sewer; 
- Written confirmation that Anglian Water accepts the proposed connection and discharge 

rate; 
- Results of the infiltration testing and details of the groundwater level for the car park site. 

If infiltration is shown not the be viable, then the surface water drainage strategy referred 
to above shall be amended to reflect this;  

73



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 32 

- A surface water drainage strategy plan; 
- Hydraulic calculations; 
- Overland flood flow and exceedance routes; 
- Construction details of all drainage assets; and 
- Maintenance and management schedules for all drainage assets, which includes details 

of the parties responsible for said maintenance. 
 

The sustainable drainage scheme shall be constructed in full prior to first use of the 
development and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
maintenance and management schedules in perpetuity.   
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained and to 
ensure that there is no flood risk on or off the site resulting from the proposed development, 
in accordance with Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and the 
Peterborough Flood and Water Management SPD (2019).  This is a pre-commencement 
condition as no groundworks can take place unless the details of below ground drainage 
have been determined.   

 
C15 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

submitted 'Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement (Amended March 
2021)' (Cantia Arboricultural Services reference CAS/2021/114) including drawing number 
CAS/2021/114 'Tree Protection Plan (Revised)’.   

  
 Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the area and ensure that trees 

of key amenity value are preserved, in accordance with Policies LP16 and LP29 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
C16 a) The plans and particulars to be submitted under the provisions of condition C1 above 

shall include a scheme for the hard and soft landscaping of the site.  The scheme shall 
include details of the following: 

   
i) Planting plans including retained trees, species, numbers, size and density of planting; 
ii) All boundary treatments which, if impenetrable, must include adequately sized gaps for 

the movement of hedgehogs at a spacing of 10 metre intervals; 
iii) Surfacing of all access, parking and vehicle turning areas; 
iv) Surfacing of all pedestrian access and circulation areas; 
v) Street furniture; and 
vi) Closed circuit television (CCTV) provision.     

  
 The approved hard landscaping scheme (boundary treatments, surfacing, street furniture 

and CCTV) shall be carried out in full prior to first use of the development. 
  
 The soft landscaping (planting) shall be carried out no later than the first available planting 

season following completion of the development, or alternatively in accordance with a 
timetable for landscape implementation which has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

  
 (b) Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die, 

are removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or 
their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being 
replaced. Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting 
shall themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity and security of the surrounding area, 

mitigation of the tree removal permitted and the enhancement of biodiversity, in accordance 

74



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 33 

with Policies LP16, LP19, LP28 and LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and the 
Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019).   

 
C17 Prior to first use of the development hereby permitted, a scheme for the external lighting of 

the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
lighting shall not exceed the obtrusive light limits specified in environmental zone E3 of the 
Institution of Lighting Professionals document ‘Guidance Notes for the Reduction of 
Obtrusive Light: Guidance Note 01:20’.   

 
 In the event of any reasonable light pollution complaint being received by the Local 

Planning Authority, the Developer or their successors in Title, shall be required to 
undertake a full lighting assessment to demonstrate compliance with the above limits and 
submit this within 28 days of notice issued by the Local Planning Authority. Should such an 
assessment fail to demonstrate compliance, further mitigation measures shall be submitted 
alongside the light assessment and implemented in accordance with the submitted details 
within 28 days of approval by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
 Reason:  To ensure no unacceptable harm results from external lighting upon neighbouring 

residential properties or protected species and habitat which surround the site, in 
accordance with Policies LP17, LP22 and LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and 
the Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019). 

 
C18 No development shall take place unless and until a further detailed badger survey has been 

undertaken as described within paragraph 4.55 of the submitted ‘Ecological Assessment’ 
(Land Use Consultants Ltd, reference UOP002-LUC-ZZ-XX-RP-EC-0001, dated 12 April 
2021).  In the event that badgers are discovered within the impact area of the development, 
then no development shall take place unless and until the relevant protected species 
license has been obtained and evidence of such submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason:  To ensure that no harm results to protected species, in accordance with Policy 

LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019), the Protection of Badgers Act (1992) and the 
Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019).   

 
 
C19 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

Bat Survey Report (LUC, Version 1, June 2020) and the species/habitat mitigation 
measures set out within the submitted ‘Ecological Assessment’ (Land Use Consultants Ltd, 
reference UOP002-LUC-ZZ-XX-RP-EC-0001, dated 12 April 2021).   

 
 Throughout the period of construction works, all construction trenches shall be covered 

overnight and a method of escape for mammals, specifically hedgehogs, shall be provided 
to each trench.  

  
 Reason: In the interest of preserving the biodiversity value of the site and protected 

species, in accordance with Policies LP22 and LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) 
and the Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019).  

 
C20 No development shall take place unless and until details of a comprehensive contaminated 

land investigation have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, 
and until the scope of works approved therein have been implemented where possible. The 
assessment shall include all of the following measures unless the Local Planning Authority 
dispenses with any such requirements in writing: 

 
a) A Phase I desk study carried out by a competent person to identify and evaluate all 
potential sources of contamination and the impacts on land and/or controlled waters, 
relevant to the site. The desk study shall establish a 'conceptual model' of the site and 

75



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 34 

identify all plausible pollutant linkages. Furthermore, the assessment shall set objectives for 
intrusive site investigation works/Quantitative Risk Assessment (or state if none required). 
Two full copies of the desk study and a non-technical summary shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority without delay upon completion. 

 
b) A site investigation shall be carried out to fully and effectively characterise the nature and 
extent of any land contamination and/or pollution of controlled waters. It shall specifically 
include a risk assessment that adopts the Source-Pathway-Receptor principle and takes 
into account the site's existing status and proposed new use. Two full copies of the site 
investigation and findings shall be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
No development shall be carried out except in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure potential risks arising from previous site uses have been fully assessed 
in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 178 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). This is a pre-commencement condition 
because contamination must be adequately identified and remediated prior to construction 
works taking place to prevent risks of pollution during the ground works and construction 
process. 

 
 
C21  Where the risk assessment identifies any unacceptable risk or risks, an appraisal of 

remedial options and proposal of the preferred option to deal with land contamination 
and/or pollution of controlled waters affecting the site shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. No works, other than investigative works, shall be carried out 
on the site prior to receipt and written approval of the preferred remedial option by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
No development shall be carried out except in accordance with the approved remedial 
details unless an alternative scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure the proposed remediation plan is appropriate and in order to protect 
human health and controlled waters, in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
This is a pre-commencement condition because contamination must be adequately 
remediated prior to construction works taking place to prevent risks of pollution during the 
ground works and construction process. 

 
C22 Upon completion of remediation, a copy of a closure report shall be submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority. The report shall provide verification that the required works regarding 
contamination have been carried out in accordance with the approved Method 
Statement(s). Post remediation sampling and monitoring results shall be included in the 
closure report. 

 
Reason: To provide verification that the required remediation has been carried out to 
appropriate standards, in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019) and paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
C23 If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then the Local 

Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be carried out 
until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect contamination has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter not be carried out except in complete accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

  

76



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 35 

 Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with such that no risk to human 
health or controlled waters results, in accordance Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019) and paragraphs 178-180 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
C24 The plans and particulars to be submitted under the provisions of condition C1 above shall 

include a revised air quality assessment.  The assessment shall: 
 

- report on the air quality impacts of each individual phase of the University and the 
cumulative impacts of all of the phases in the development which have been granted 
planning permission; and 

- where necessary, set out appropriate mitigation measures (whether physical or 
administrative).  

 
The assessment shall be completed in accordance with Environmental Protection UK 
(EPUK) and the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) Land-use Planning and 
Development Control: Planning for Air Quality. 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved air quality 
assessment and any mitigation measures contained therein shall be implemented in full 
prior to first use of the development.   
 
Reason:  To ensure that no unacceptable impact to the amenities of neighbouring 
residential occupants occurs by way of harmful air quality impacts, in accordance with 
Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 181 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019).  

 
 

Copies to Councillor Mahboob Hussain, Councillor Amjad Iqbal and Councillor Mohammed Jamil 

77



This page is intentionally left blank

78



The Site

Print Date: 01/06/2021

Committee Location Plan 21/00229/REM Land East Of Aqua Drive Hampton Water Peterborough NTS

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:5,000

0 40 80 120 16020
Meters

Scale

79



T
his page is intentionally left blank

80



 

 1 

Planning and EP Committee        Item No - 2 
 
Application Ref: 21/00229/REM 
 
Proposal: Reserved matters application for matters of access, appearance, 

landscaping, layout and scale, for the construction of a new primary 
school and nursery with associated outdoor-sports areas, infrastructure, 
access, parking and landscaping works, pursuant to outline planning 
permission 16/02017/OUT 

 
Site: Land East Of, Aqua Drive, Hampton Water, Peterborough 
 
Applicant: Eco Modular Buildings Limited (on behalf of Peterborough City Council) 
 
Agent: Ms Kayleigh Dixon 
 DPP 
 
Referred by:  Cllr Chris Wiggin 
Reason: Called in if the recommendation is one of approval. There have been a 

significant number of objections lodged against this application from local 
residents. When an application has this level of objections it should be 
heard by the committee to allow all views to be heard and a proper debate 
to be had. 

 
Site visit: 25.02.21 and 30.04.21 
Case officer: Mrs C Murphy 
Telephone No. 01733 452287 
E-Mail: carry.murphy@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  
 
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
 
The application site is part of a development area referred to as the Hamptons East. This area is 
located between the A15/ London Road to the east and the East Coast Mainline to the west. It 
extends as far as the Fletton Parkway in the north and the village of Yaxley to the south. It contains 
several large lakes.  
 
The Hamptons East has outline planning permission for new houses, schools and local facilities. It 
is also allocated for development in the adopted Peterborough Local Plan. The relevant outline 
permission (planning application reference16/02017/OUT) is also supported by an approved 
Hamptons East Framework Plan and Hamptons East Development Area Brief (DAB).  
 
The application site which is identified as land parcel EDU3 is located within the Hampton Waters 
area of the Hamptons East. The site itself measures 2.55 hectares. It is rectangular in shape and is 
generally flat and clear of any vegetation. 
 
The site will be accessed via the newly constructed Aqua Drive which in turn connects to London 
Road (A15). The site sits at the intersection of two primary streets of Aqua Drive and Hartland Ave 
which runs through Hampton Gardens to the north – this road also connects to the A15. Some 
parts of these roads from the London Road are already constructed (although not adopted).   
 
The sections of roads which will serve this development and other parcels of land in the vicinity, 

81



 

 2 

are in the process of being constructed.  Planning permission was recently granted to further 
extend both Aqua Drive and Hartland Ave to this point (planning permission reference 
19/01500/REM) and these works are currently under construction. 
 
To the west of the application site along Aqua Drive is a residential scheme (Parcels R16/R19) 
currently under construction by Barratt/ David Wilson Homes and part occupied. Further to the east 
is further planned housing development by the same house builder, which has detailed planning 
consent but has not commenced (planning permission reference 19/01163/REM). A mixed use site 
to the south of the site is proposed, but no planning applications have been submitted. 
 
To the north of the site, there is existing vegetation to the north along Stanground Lode with 
enhancements to the open space and landscaping approved (planning permission reference 
19/00476/REM). 
 
 
Background 
Peterborough City Council, as the Local Education Authority (LEA), has a legal responsibility to 
ensure the availability of a school place for children of school age.  The City of Peterborough has 
experienced a significant increase in pupil numbers over recent years as it remains one of the 
fastest growing cities in the UK.  
 
There are significant pressures on the City to provide school places in the areas most in need. A 
review of demographic data, build out and occupation rates for new dwellings at Hamptons East 
has informed the decision to open this new school upon land which has outline planning consent.  
 
The application site is identified as one of two new proposed primary schools within the approved 
plans for Hamptons East and subject to a Section 106 Agreement for land to be provided to 
Peterborough City Council for these.  The other school site is located further north off Waterhouse 
Way within the ‘Hampton Gardens’ neighbourhood area and opened as ‘Hampton Lakes Primary 
School’ in September 2020. 
 
The City Council has identified the need for a new 3 form entry (630 places) primary school for 
pupils aged 5 -11.  There is also provision for a 26 place nursery.  The school will be called the St. 
John Henry Newman Catholic Primary School and the aim is to deliver the new school building for 
occupation by September 2022.  
 
The proposed school is expected to largely serve the families in the surrounding newly built and 
future planned residential development in the Hampton area and to provide sufficient school 
choices for residents. The Diocese of East Anglia will be responsible for running the school.  
 
The school will be filled on an annual incremental basis.  As such, there will be up to 1 reception 
class of 30 pupils and one mixed year 1 and 2 of 30 pupils and 26 nursery places made available 
in September 2022. Depending on demand, more classes will open from September 2023 up to 
the maximum of 3 classes per year group. If the school were to grow incrementally from 2022, the 
school would not be expected to be at capacity until 2030.  
 
The staff numbers are expected to be 76 full time equivalent for both the school and nursery. The 
staff numbers will also grow incrementally with pupil numbers.  
 
 
Proposal  
The application seeks reserved matters consent relating to the access, appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale for the construction of a three form of entry primary school with nursery with 
associated outdoor-sports areas, infrastructure, access, parking and landscaping works pursuant 
to outline permission reference 16/02017/OUT.   
 
The school building will be located at the south east part of the site and is predominantly two 

82



 

 3 

storeys in height.  It will be constructed in a mixture of brick and timber and coloured panelling. 
 
To the north of this there will be a large area intended for soft and hard play. This includes a Multi-
Use Games Area (MUGA) which then leads on to playing fields intended for year round use.  
 
Staff and visitor car/ motor cycling parking as well as drop off/ pick up area located in the southern 
part of the site.   This provision has been increased and amended plans submitted. Cycle and 
scooter parking is provided at other locations within the site.  
 
The site will utilise one access point for vehicles off Aqua Drive and three pedestrian access points 
from both Aqua Drive and Hartland Ave. There will be a one-way system through the car park, 
comprising an ‘in’ access point and ‘out’ egress point. 
 
The proposals have been already been subject to a formal screening for Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA), under planning reference 21/0002/SCREEN. It was determined that the 
development would not have significant environmental effects and as such an EIA was not 
required.  
 
 
Outline planning conditions 
The outline permission contains a number of conditions which are required to be complied with, 
both across the development as a whole and within each parcel of land.  Some conditions relate to 
further details which must accompany each reserved matters application, and other require details 
either prior  to commencement of development or prior to occupation of new buildings.  
 
A separate application to discharge a number of outline planning conditions (planning reference 
21/00257/DISCHG) has also been submitted. The supporting technical documentation has been 
consulted on and the following conditions are acceptable to discharge. 
 
C6 - construction management plan 
C7 - hard and soft landscaping  
C11a - phase 1 ground conditions 
C14 - ecology 
C15 - foul sewerage 
C16 - surface water drainage 
C17 - surface water disposal 
C20 - noise 
 
The applicant is aware that there is still a requirement to discharge a number of the outline 
planning conditions, via further applications.  
 
 
Consultation  
There have been 2 rounds of formal public consultation on the application. The first ran from 22nd 
February until 18th March. Since the receipt of the initial application further information and 
amended plans have been received to address comments received form technical consultees in 
respect of the access and parking arrangements. A full public re-consultation was undertaken 
between 23rd April and 21st May. 
 
The amended plans reflect a re-design of car park area and landscape areas in this vicinity.  
An amendment to the extent of the application area has also had to be made. In the original 
submission the site was also not indicated to link up to the nearest public highway (A15/London 
Road).  A second round of statutory consultation was therefore also required to reflect these 
changes.  
 
No changes have been made to the proposed building or its location and the play and sports areas 
to the north of this also remain as originally shown.  

83



 

 4 

  
2 Planning History 
 

Reference Proposal Decision Date 
21/00257/DISCHG Discharge of conditions C6 

(construction management 
plan), C7 (hard and soft 
landscaping), C11a (phase 1 
ground conditions), C14 
(ecology), C15 (foul 
sewerage), C16 (surface 
water drainage), C17 (surface 
water disposal) and C20 
(noise) of Outline Permission 
16/02017/OUT 
 

Pending N/a 

16/02017/OUT 
 

Renewal of planning 
permission 02/01845/OUT - 
Outline application for 1700 
(approx.) dwellings with 
associated community, 
education, leisure, industrial 
and commercial areas, and 
associated open spaces, 
roads, service infrastructure 
 

Permitted 13/12/2017 

02/01845/OUT 1700 (approx.) dwellings in 
addition to those permitted by 
permission 91/P0556 with 
associated community, 
education, leisure, industrial 
and commercial, open space 
and infrastructure 
(Abbreviated description) 

Permitted  13/12/2006 

    
   

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Paragraph 94 - School Provision  
Local Planning Authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to ensuring 
the sufficient choice of school place is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities. Great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools. 
 
Section 9 - Promoting Sustainable Transport  
Transport issues should be considered from the earliest states so that the potential impacts on the 
network can be assessed, opportunities from existing and proposed transport infrastructure can be 
realised along with opportunities for walking and cycling, the environmental impacts can be 
assessed and the patterns of movement are integral to the design. 
 
Paragraph 108 - Transport Impacts  
Any significant impacts from development on the transport network (capacity and congestion) or on 

84



 

 5 

highway safety should be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. Development should 
only be prevented or refused on highway safety grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety or the residual cumulative impact on the road network would be severe. 
 
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places  
Decisions should ensure that development will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area over the life time of the development, are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, 
layout, appropriate and effective landscaping, are sympathetic to the local character and history, 
establish or maintain a strong sense of place, optimise the potential of the site, create places which 
are safe, inclusive and accessible. 
 
Paragraph 131 – Design  
Great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of 
sustainability, or help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in 
with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.  
 
Paragraph 155 - Flood Risk  
Inappropriate development in areas at risk from flooding should be avoided by directing 
development away from areas at highest risk. Where development is necessary in such areas the 
development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing the risk of flooding elsewhere. 
Development should be subject to a sequential test and if appropriate an exceptions test.  
 
Paragraph 175 - Biodiversity Enhancement  
Development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported. 
Opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be encouraged. 
 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (adopted July 2019) 
 
LP05 - Urban Extensions  
Development of new urban extensions (500 or more dwellings) must be planned and implemented 
and in a comprehensive way through an agreed broad concept plan. Urban extensions should (as 
appropriate) make efficient use of land, provide open space, play facilities and landscaping, a mix 
of housing including self-build plots, include a range of employment opportunities, provide an 
appropriate level of school facilities, retail, leisure, social, cultural, community and health facilities, 
minimise the need to travel and maximise sustainable travel, provide appropriate access and 
mitigate against any wider highways impacts. 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development - permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards - permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  

85



 

 6 

LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.  
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
LP28 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation  
Habitats and Species of Principal Importance- Development proposals will be considered in the 
context of the duty to promote and protect species and habitats. Development which would have 
an adverse impact will only be permitted where the need and benefit clearly outweigh the impact. 
Appropriate mitigation or compensation will be required. 
 
Part 2: Habitats and Geodiversity in Development 
All proposals should conserve and enhance avoiding a negative impact on biodiversity and 
geodiversity.  
 
Part 3: Mitigation of Potential Adverse Impacts of Development 
Development should avoid adverse impact as the first principle. Where such impacts are 
unavoidable they must be adequately and appropriately mitigated. Compensation will be required 
as a last resort. 
 
LP29 - Trees and Woodland  
Proposals should be prepared based upon the overriding principle that existing tree and woodland 
cover is maintained. Opportunities for expanding woodland should be actively considered.  
Proposals which would result in the loss or deterioration of ancient woodland and or the loss of 
veteran trees will be refused unless there are exceptional benefits which outweigh the loss. Where 
a proposal would result in the loss or deterioration of a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order 
permission will be refused unless there is no net loss of amenity value or the need for and benefits 
of the development outweigh the loss. Where appropriate mitigation planting will be required. 
 
LP32 - Flood and Water Management  
Proposals should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk management in line with the NPPF and 
council's Flood and Water Management SPD. Sustainable drainage systems should be used 
where appropriate. Development proposals should also protect the water environment. 
 
LP33 - Development on Land Affected by Contamination  
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused. 
 
LP35 - Urban Extensions Allocations  
Identifies the site allocated for urban extensions in accordance with Policy LP05. 
 
 
Equality Duty and Human Rights  
In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty the Council must have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010. In making this recommendation, regard has been given to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation).  
 
In line with the Human Rights Act 1998, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way which is 
incompatible with a Convention right, as per the European Convention on Human Rights. The 
human rights impact have been considered, with particular reference to Article 1 of the First 

86



 

 7 

Protocol (Protection of property), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life) and Article 14 
(Prohibition of discrimination) of the Convention. 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 does not impair the right of the state to make decisions and enforce 
laws as deemed necessary in the public interest. The recommendation is considered appropriate in 
upholding the Council's adopted and emerging policies and is not outweighed by any engaged 
rights. 
 
 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
PCC = Peterborough City Council 
 
Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service  
No objection - Requests that adequate provision be made for fire hydrants, by way of Section 106 
agreement or a planning condition.  
 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services 
No objection, subject to the imposition of conditions and informatives. 
 
First comments 

• The submitted transport assessment was not specifically required in support of this 
application, as the principle had been established and assessed at outline application 
stage, but was submitted to further inform the PHS study currently being undertaken on the 
A15 London Road corridor through the Hampton area. 

• The site as shown on the location plan is remote from the public highway. 

• The swept path analysis shows different movements overlaid on the same drawing, this 
makes it difficult to see the individual paths taken for each manoeuvre, for example the left-
in and right-in manoeuvres and the left-out and right-out manoeuvres need to be shown on 
separate viewports, or different colours need to be used for the individual manoeuvres to 
enable them to be clearly seen. 

• Whilst the exiting vehicles are shown to encroach onto the oncoming lane as they leave the 
site, there should be ample visibility between the approaching vehicles to enable any 
appropriate reduction in speed required to prevent any conflict. 

• Cycle parking is way under the minimum standards for the use.  No scooter parking has 
been provided. 

• Future expansion areas are required to be identified on the drawings, to demonstrate that 
at least the minimum standard can be achieved as the school attendee numbers increase. 

• No specific staff cycle parking has been identified – ideally this would be provided as 
lockers to ensure that there is also space for a change of clothes etc. to enable cyclists to 
shower and change on arrival. 

• The pupil cycle stands should be ‘A’-frames to cater for smaller cycles. 

• Motorcycle parking for staff / visitors doesn‘t appear to have been provided. 

• The whole car park should be ducted for easy future conversion to EV bays (not cabled 
etc., just the ducts installed as part of the construction). 

• At pre-application stage it was indicated that a drop-off provision in the region of 10% of 
pupil numbers would be appropriate, not the 10% of overall parking spaces as proposed.  

87



 

 8 

• As the site itself is too constrained to accommodate the required level of drop-off parking, 
alternatives measures need to be proposed to alleviate pressure on the surrounding roads. 
There are a few nearby on-street parking laybys, but a Park and Stride arrangement with 
the nearby Local Centre would go a long way to addressing the LHA concerns in relation to 
school drop off / pick up times. This is something that would have to be agreed with O&H, 
and written in to the proposals for the development of this parcel of land (MU4).The school 
will be on a bus route as well as the pedestrian/cycle routes so promoting these in the 
Travel Plan is essential. 

• The parking management plan will need to have a clear mechanism for preventing highway 
parking by school traffic (including parents). 

• The parking management plan must detail how coaches should travel to the school site, 
and where they are expected to park.  

 

Second comments 

• The submitted transport assessment was not specifically required in support of this 
application, as the principle had been established and assessed at outline application 
stage, but was submitted to further inform the PHS study currently being undertaken on the 
A15 London Road corridor through the Hampton area. 

• The principle of a primary school in this location was established under the outline consent. 

• The delivery vehicle swept path analysis (and the lining details) demonstrate that the 
delivery vehicle will access the site in contraflow to the main directional arrows for the car 
park. This, and the shared-use of some of the drop-off bays for deliveries mean that 
deliveries to the site should be managed to occur outside of school hours wherever 
possible, and definitely outside of drop-off and pick up times. This can be controlled through 
the future Parking Management Plan. 

• The visibility splays drawing does not include the required splays from the substation 
service bay. These will require a minor alteration to the position of the substation, but this 
would not appear to impact on the other elements of this submission. 

• The Indicative Car Parking Strategy details how the one-way system will be implemented 
and also how parking will be managed, particularly at drop-off and pick-up times. It also 
explains about transport for school trips etc. 

• Aqua Drive and Hartland Avenue will be main distributor roads in and out of this 
development, so they will have parking restrictions to prevent drop-off and pick-up. 

• The school will be on a bus route as well as the pedestrian/cycle routes so promoting these 
in the Travel Plan is essential. 

• The parking management plan will need to have a clear mechanism for preventing highway 
parking by school traffic (including parents). 

• Cycle parking for staff, pupils and visitors has been shown in accordance with the minimum 
standards set out in LP13. Future expansion areas have also been identified, to enable 
additional facilities to be provided as the demand increases (this will be monitored through 
the Travel Plan, and expanded accordingly). 

• Motorcycle parking for staff / visitors has been provided. 

• A large section of the car park is shown to be ducted for easy future conversion to EV bays, 
with a few bays being provided from construction. The demand for these bays should be 
monitored through the Travel Plan, with additional charging facilities being installed as 
demand increases. 

88



 

 9 

• The LHA would raise no objections to the proposals, subject to these conditions and 
informatives being appended to any permission granted. 

 
 
PCC Travel Choice  
No objection. 
 
First comments 
The Transport Assessment predicts 27 pupils will arrive by car during the AM Peak however, I 
believe this number will be significantly higher (especially when the school is fully occupied). This 
coupled with the limited access to the site (and the nearby Hampton Gardens School) will cause 
further congestion and parking on residential streets. The school should develop a culture of 
sustainable travel from initial occupation to ensure that walking, cycling, and public transport are 
the natural choices for school journeys. 
 
The current Interim Travel Plan does cover all the relevant details at this stage. Once the school is 
operational a ‘Full’ Travel Plan must set out clear actions and targets to encourage greater use of 
sustainable modes of travel. A designated Travel Plan Coordinator (TPC) must be appointed, and 
a ‘Full’ Travel Plan based upon the ‘Interim’ document must be produced within 3 months of first 
occupation (and a full travel survey must be undertaken with staff and pupils to set realistic actions 
and targets). 
 
The TPC should contact Peterborough City Council’s Travel choice team to ensure the 
development of a concise and inclusive Travel Plan and to agree any actions and targets. The 
Travel choice team will work with the school to encourage sustainable travel behaviours using a 
range of initiatives, engagement, and activities. In addition, pupil travel surveys should be 
completed termly in the first 2 years to ensure accurate data is collected and targets monitored. 
 
Finally, I would request that a point of contact should be provided to ensure the smooth transfer of 
Travel Planning commitments once the school is occupied. It is imperative that communication 
channels remain open and that Peterborough City Council (Travel choice) are notified once a 
Travel Plan Coordinator has been appointed. 

 
Second comments 
I have reviewed the revised Travel Plan and I am happy that it covers everything required at this 
stage and confirm a commitment to the full Travel Plan. 

 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO)  
No objection. 
Very supportive of the design and layout and where attention has been made to support 
community safety and hopefully reduce vulnerability to crime. I would wish to see an external 
lighting plan when available but no other comments at this me. 
 
 
Lead Local Drainage Authority  
No objection, subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
First comments 

We require the following information:  

- Details of how the MUGA is proposed to drain. From previous discussions with the drainage 
design engineer I understand that the MUGA was proposed to be positively drained via a 
permeable surface. However no details have been provided to confirm how surface water will be 
collected and eventually discharged to S6 / MH13.  
 

89



 

 10 

- Overland flood flow and exceedance routes in the event of exceedance or surface water system 
failure. The applicant should consider the impact of the development to adjacent properties in 
regards to surface water flooding.  
 
- Maintenance and management schedules for all drainage assets, which includes details of the 
parties responsible for said maintenance for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Second comments 
We have no concerns with the proposals of this development. However, we require the following, 
which can be provided by way of condition:  
• A full and up to date surface water drainage layout plan, which includes, but is not limited to, 
details of how the proposed MUGA and sports field will drain.  
 
 
PCC Tree Officer  
No objection, subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
I am happy to accept the submitted detail with regard to the Landscape Layout and at this stage, 
I’m happy to accept the detail within the two draft Planting Plans and the Outline Landscape 
Management and Maintenance Framework.   
 
 
PCC Ecologist  
No objection, subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
First comments 
According to the submitted documentation any impacts the proposed construction and continued 
operation of the development will create will be suitably mitigated for or conditioned. Overall it has 
been determined that if the recommendations from the ecology report are followed the 
development will result in a positive impact on biodiversity.  
 
While the landscape plans make reference to these recommendations, it is suggested that each 
should be integrated into the landscape design itself.  
 
All lighting design should follow the recommendations given within section 4.24 of the PEA.  
 
The plan includes a wildflower meadow mix, which will need an annual cut and arisings collected 
and appropriate management/ maintenance for this which are not clear and clarification is sought. 
 
Second comments 
The supplied information sufficiently answers the questions previously raised. No further 
comments. 
 
 
PCC Pollution Team  
No objection, subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
Noise:  The submitted information is noted and accepted, suitable Internal Ambient Noise Levels 
can be achieved for the school by following the recommendations for appropriate mitigation within 
the report.  
 
To prevent noise level from plant associated with the development impacting upon the amenity of 
dwellings in the area, the rating level of noise emitted from the site should not exceed set levels, to 
be secured through a condition.   
 
Ground conditions / Contamination:  The submitted information is noted and accepted.  
 

90



 

 11 

Soils: Due to previous land use some remedial work is required for areas not covered by building 
footprint or hard surfacing.  The basic cover system proposed is likely to be suitable. 
 
Gas: The conclusions of the investigation are noted and accepted. On this basis, basic ground gas 
protection measures would be required.  The installation of the measures will need to be 
independently verified by an experienced engineer in accordance with guidance to ensure 
discharge of planning conditions relating to contaminated land. 
 
 
Environment Agency  
No objection - No comments to make.  
 
 
Anglian Water Services Ltd  
No objection. 
 
Foul Water 
The submitted foul drainage strategy and flood risk documentation and consider that the impacts 
on the public foul sewerage network are acceptable to Anglian Water at this stage. We request that 
we are consulted on any forthcoming application to discharge the outline planning conditions.  
 
Surface Water 
The proposed method of surface water discharge does not relate to an Anglian Water owned 
asset.  
 
 
Sport England 
No objection, subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
Sport England offers its support for this this application, as it is considered to meet Objective 3 
(provision of new sports facilities) as set out in its guidance and the provisions of the NPPF. If the 
Local Planning Authority is minded to approve the application conditions should be imposed in 
respect of the layout of the pitches and also in respect of securing a scheme for community use. 
 
 
Peterborough Cycling Forum  
Objection. 
 
First comments 
The Forum is pleased to note the proposed level of parking is in line with the PCC parking 
standards. 
 
It should be noted that PCC policy is that all new cycle infrastructure must also now comply with 
LTN 1-20, Cycle Infrastructure Design (DfT, July 2020). This is particularly relevant for the detailed 
design and dimensions of cycle parking.   
 
The Forum is pleased to note the location of visitor parking which follows best practice. However, 
although uncovered parking is acceptable for short visits, of perhaps no more than 15 minutes, 
covered parking should be provided for those visiting the site for longer periods, for example for 
appointments, meetings, parents’ evenings and special events. 
 
Rising arm barriers will be installed at the vehicle entrance and exit. A cycle bypass should be 
provided at each barrier, to allow cyclists to enter and leave the site unobstructed, without having 
to queue with motor vehicles and without the risk of being struck by a falling barrier. Bypass width 
should be no less than 1.5m to accommodate all forms of cycle. 
 

91



 

 12 

Cyclists should not use the pedestrian entrance. Cycles are vehicles and should be treated as 
such. 
 
There are circumstances in which a path, no less than 3m wide, may be designated shared-use by 
pedestrians and cyclists, but this should only be a last resort, which is clearly not the case for a 
new development. 
 
Second comments 
Further comment is made in addition to that submitted previously.  

 
Cycle Parking 
All of the earlier comment still stands. In particular, the parking for visitors should be covered.  
 
Cycle Access – Visitors 
Although cycles are vehicles and should normally travel on the carriageway or a designated cycle 
track, it does appear sensible from the site layout that access for visitors should be via the south-
east entrance currently marked as ‘pedestrian’, rather than through the car park. In this case, this 
path should be at least 3 metres wide and signed for shared use. There is clearly ample space for 
a wider path, possibly with minor relocation of some of the motorcycle parking. At the site entrance, 
the gaps between the central bollard and edge of the path should be a minimum of 1.5 metres. 
 
If this is the designated cycle route, there will no need to provide a cycle bypass at each of the 
rising arm barriers, and the previous comment made no longer applies. This route for cyclists will 
also be much shorter and simpler than travelling through the car park. An essential requirement 
however is that those who arrive by cycle must be able to ride between the site entrance and their 
parking place, just as those who arrive by car are able to drive between their entrance and parking 
place. 
 
Cycle Access – Staff 
It is noted that staff cycle parking is within the area enclosed by security fencing and so it appears 
this will be accessed via the entrance on the north-east boundary of the site rather than from the 
south-west entrance. If this is the case, the route between entrance and parking will need to be at 
least 3 metres wide if it is shared with pedestrians. 
 
It appears the route is not wide enough where it passes the west side of the building, where doors 
open outwards, and so the route needs to be wider between the entrance to the hard play area and 
the parking area. As with access to visitor parking, staff who arrive by cycle must be able to ride 
safely between the site entrance and their parking place, in the same way that those who arrive by 
car are able to drive to their parking place. 

 
 
Natural England - Consultation Service  
No objection – No comments to make. 
 
 
Archaeological Officer  
No objection – No comments to make. 
 
 
Waste Management  
No comments received. 
 
 
PCC Rights of Way Officer  
No comments received. 
 
 

92



 

 13 

Hampton Parish Council  
No comments received. 
 
 
Yaxley Parish Council  
No objection - Yaxley Parish Council supports this application. 
 
 
Councillor M Farooq - Hargate & Hempsted  
Received on 23/02/21.  
No objection - I can confirm that, I have no feedback from any residents regarding this planning 
issue (apart from being against opening of catholic school, which is not relevant to this planning 
application). Therefore, I do not have any comments to make on this application. 
 
 
Councillor John Howard - Hargate & Hempsted  
No comments received. 
 
 
Councillor Chris Wiggin - Hampton Vale  
Received 17/03/21. 
Objection - As a ward Councillor for Hampton Vale I wish to object to this application on the 
following grounds and also to refer this decision to the Planning and Environmental Protection 
Committee if the Council is minded to approve the application. 
 
There have also been 87 objections lodged against this application and 0 supporters from local 
residents, when an application has this level of objections it should be heard by the committee to 
allow all views to be heard and a proper debate to be had. 
 
The traffic survey for this application was done in 2019 when ~254 people lived in Hampton East, 
currently there are ~967. The Transport Assessment applies a Traffic Growth Flow Factor of 
1.0331/1.0318 from 2019 to 2021. Using the data at hand that would indicate around 262 people 
living in Hampton East now. This huge discrepancy is of course because of the huge brand new 
development, which the TEMPRO model does not take into account. To forecast the traffic into the 
future a Traffic Flow Factor of 1.0745/1.0769 from 2021 to 2026 is used. By this time there will be 
around 1,500 homes with more than 3,000 people living in the area. While this factor would only 
lead to 281 people. 
 
Also Figure 9 in the Transport Assessment suggests only 63 vehicles will leave Aqua Drive in the 
AM peak in 2026 and 24 will join onto Aqua Drive, before the school is taken into account. Even in 
2021 during lockdown, far more cars than this use the Aqua Drive/A15 junction. This indicates the 
first issue is that the Transport Assessment does not take the unique circumstances of the area 
into account and is out of date. The area has gone from a muddy field to a thriving community in 
only a few years, and will be a bustling town in a few more. 
 
The second issue in regards to traffic generation is that this is a school which needs special 
consideration when looking at its catchment area. This is because as a faith school it will attract 
students of faith from a wide area, leading to a large increase in car usage. The evidence for this is 
as follows:  

• Studies such as Faith Schools, Pupil Performance and Social Selection (Andrews, 2016) 
show that the catchment areas of primary faith schools are 25% larger than a non faith 
school. 

• The Catholic Education Service says “On average, Catholic schools have catchment areas 
ten times larger than community schools.  

• ”Primary Schools, Markets and Choice: Studying Polarization and the Core Catchment 
Areas of Schools (Harris, 2008) says “The school with the largest core catchment area is a 

93



 

 14 

VA Roman Catholic school: at 17km2 it is over twenty times larger than the median.” This 
school will be a VA RC school. 
 

• Using the Department for Transport’s National Travel Survey (NTS) the main modes of 
travel for Primary School children are as follows. 

• Under 1 mile - Walk: 80% - Bike: 1% - Car: 18% - Bus: 1% 

• 1 to 2 miles - Walk: 19% - Bike: 4% - Car: 71% - Bus: 5% 

• 2 to 5 miles - Walk: 1% - Bike: 1% - Car: 87% - Bus: 9% 

• As can be seen just a small increase in catchment size can drastically increase the 
proportion of car usage compared to walking. 

• In the Transport Assessment during the AM Peak (07:45-08:45) it predicts 27 pupils will 
arrive by car. There will be 656 students when the school is fully open. They think only 27 
pupils will arrive by car out of 656 when the average distance to the school for pupils will 
likely be 1-2 miles. Using the NTS this would show that around 465 cars would be 
expected. That is 465 cars arriving and leaving every morning rush hour and 465 cars 
arriving and leaving every afternoon. 

• This issue is further exacerbated by the road access to the site. Even when the Hampton 
East development is complete there will be only two main access routes, as shown in the 
Transport Assessment. Hartland Avenue to the north and Aqua Drive to the south. Hartland 
Avenue contains the Hampton Gardens Secondary School, which though not fully occupied 
already leads to back to back traffic and parking on the residential roads in the area at peak 
times. This is also with a secondary school which has a far lower proportion of car travel as 
shown in the National Travel Survey. 

• As such it is likely that parents taking their children to the application school would take the 
southern Aqua Drive route. This would lead to over 600 cars trying to get up a winding and 
off camber residential road, past many houses to get to the site. The plan includes only 8 
drop off spaces, this would not enable the number of cars that will arrive to safely use it. As 
such they will use any space in the area to drop off their children, including cul de sacs and 
side roads. 

• There is also the issue of staff travel, out of the 75 staff members the Transport 
Assessment says that only 11 will arrive by car in the AM and PM peak. Though I am sure 
teachers would be hard working, it seems very unlikely that so many staff would arrive 
before 7.45am and leave after 5.45pm. This adds further traffic to the development. 

• As well as this there will also be a 30 place nursery, nearly all of these children will be taken 
to the school via car for obvious reasons. Especially as they will likely be a part of the same 
large catchment as mentioned previously. 

• Another issue regards the possible use of the school outside of normal school hours, which 
would increase traffic issues even further. The main issue with traffic would arise if the 
school was used as a church, as there is currently not a Roman Catholic church in 
Hampton. The Sacred Heart RC School in Bretton was used for a time as a church on 
Sundays and other evenings in the week. Also the Hampton Vale Primary School was used 
for the Christ the Servant King church until they had built their own premises. I would 
strongly ask that if the application happens to be approved, that a condition is made to 
restrict opening hours and other non schooling uses. This has been done in various areas 
of the country and is easily implementable. 

• To summarise, the main issue and planning problem with this application is that this is not 
an average school or an average area, it is a Catholic selective faith school in a very fast 
growing area which this application fails to take into account in anyway. As such this 
application breaks LP13 - Transport of the local plan and will have significant effects on the 
residents of my ward due the effect of the traffic generated. 

94



 

 15 

 
 
Councillor M Cereste - Hampton Vale  
No comments received. 
 
Councillor D Seaton - Hampton Vale  
No comments received. 
 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 104 
Total number of responses: 138 
Total number of objections: 135 
Total number in support: 2 
 
There have been comments both supporting and objecting to the proposal.   
 
A total of 138 comments have been received from 77 different addresses. 135 were received in 
objection to the proposal, 2 comments were in support and 1 neither in support/objection to the 
proposal. The representations received following the two consultation exercises are summarised 
thematically below.  
 
Of the 138 total comments, 108 comments were received in response to the original consultation; 
105 in objection, 2 in support and 1 neither in support/objection to the proposal.   
 
One letter of support from Saint Luke's Catholic Parish included 121 letters in support of the 
proposal, the letters are in a set text format but aside from a postcode details of the names and full 
addresses of the petitioners is not included. Therefore, these letters of support have been counted 
as one formal representation as the covering letter from the Catholic Parish includes the necessary 
details to register as a formal comment.  
 
During the re-consultation process a total of 30 comments have been received, all in objection to 
the proposal. Some comments were repeated from the original consultation period, these have not 
been duplicated in the revised comments summary below and are referred to in the original 
comments summary.  
 
It is acknowledged that during the consultation period the Council’s IT system went down for some 
time on around 18th May 2021 which near to the closing date, but any comments that were 
received later in the following days and have been duly recorded.   
 
 
Original Consultation: 
 
a.Traffic 
- Traffic in this area is extremely busy without people travelling at peak times to drop children at 
school. 
- The Transport Assessment during AM Peak (07:45-08:45) predicts 27 pupils will arrive by car. 
There will be 656 students when the school is fully open. Using National Travel Survey data 
around 465 cars would be expected in the morning and afternoon.  
- The traffic issue is further exacerbated by the road access to the site with only two main access 
routes. Hartland Avenue to the north and Aqua Drive to the south.  
- Hartland Avenue contains Hampton Gardens Secondary School, which is not fully occupied 
already leads to back to back traffic and parking on the residential roads in the area at peak times. 
This is with a secondary school which has a far lower proportion of car travel as shown in the 
National Travel Survey. This would result in cars using the Aqua Drive route.  
- The plan includes only 8 drop off spaces, this would not enable the number of cars that will arrive 

95



 

 16 

to safely use it. As such any space in the area to drop off children including cul-de-sacs and side 
roads will be used.  
- Staff travel: out of the 75 staff members the Transport Assessment says that only 11 will arrive by 
car in the AM and PM peak. This seems unlikely and will further add to the traffic impact.  
- There is also 30 nursery places, nearly all of these children will be taken to the school via car.    
- Transport Assessment was done in 2019 when around 254 people lived in Hampton East, 
currently there are around 967. The growth factor used in the TA has a huge discrepancy because 
of the huge brand new development which is not accounted for.   
- Figure 9 of the Transport Assessment suggests only 63 vehicles will leave Aqua Drive in the AM 
peak in 2026 and 24 will join onto Aqua Drive, before the school is taken into account. Even during 
2021 lockdown, far more cars then this use the Aqua Drive/A15 junction.  
- The Transport Assessment does not take into account the unique circumstances of the area and 
is out of date.  
- The parking and drop off provided for in the proposal does not cater for the volume expected and 
it is not a true reflection of the need of the school. This will also cause congestion to and in the 
area, and parking issues for the local residents.  
- My property is next to the school and being a parent who collects a child from a school the other 
side of Peterborough (due to no spaces locally) I understand what roads can be like around 3pm. 
My concern is that our street will become a car park and due to the narrow roads, this will mean 
safety is compromised.   
- Object over absence of correct infrastructure and facilities to deal with the sheer number of 
vehicles, congestion and parking issues.  
- Fails to accommodate dropping off points, parking, bus parking/turning around points, safe 
pedestrian access, adequate traffic measures for expected volume of traffic.  
- Unless the school can prove the locality of its 80% catholic students this can only be worse than 
Lakeside edge.  
- The school and vehicle access is not capable of handling all the necessary parking and traffic 
coming in from the outside area.  
- With almost 750 people moving into the area since the last traffic assessment and a further 2000 
moving to the area over the next 5 years the amount of traffic at peak times will cause gridlock at 
junctions and feeder roads to Aqua Drive and London Road as well as cause potential risks to 
pedestrians.  
The proposed school will turn our estate into an extended parking area and highway for people 
getting to the school.  
- Aqua Drive will be the shortest route for anyone coming from the Yaxley direction and so this 
estate will be constantly used as a cut through.  
- The access into the proposal is limited, with 3 access roads in total, two of which lead to other 
schools.  
 
b. Catchment area 
- Studies show that the catchment areas of primary faith schools are 25% larger than a non-faith 
school 
- The Catholic Education Service says "On average Catholic schools have catchment areas ten 
times larger than community schools" 
- Primary Schools, Markets and Choice: Studying Polarization and the Core Catchment Areas of 
Schools (Harris, 2008) states: "The school with the largest core catchment area is a VA Roman 
Catholic school: at 17km2 it is over twenty times larger than the median". The proposal will be a 
VA RC school.  
- A small increase in catchment size can drastically in the proportion of car usage compared to 
walking. 
- My daughter has to fight for 6 seats among the presently promised 30 seats to get into the school 
as we are not Catholic. There is no guarantee at the minute as they can change to 100% Catholic 
admission.   
- This school should be for local children and families 100% not reserved for those who are of a 
particular faith. The local schools are over-subscribed and we need full access to these facilities.   
- The published estimate for catchment size is approximately 20x that of a non-faith school. 
- The nature of the school being of a particular faith with potentially only 20% of the admissions 

96



 

 17 

being offered to local children in the first year will bring a lot of extra traffic to the area and cause 
huge parking issues at school start and finish times.  
- I have no objection to the building of a primary school in the area as I have a young family but the 
school should take more of the children from the local area.  
 
c. Long term plan 
- The plan has always been for a large three form entry school on what is a relatively small part of 
the Hamptons, regardless of the provider, to increase and improve local provision.  
- Seems that plans for this religious school were decided long before local residents bought a 
home on this estate have had a chance to have their say. Many of use moved here for this school 
and other local facilities.  
 
d. Faith 
- Not against the construction of a school in the area, but I am objecting to the idea of having a 
religious school.  
- The school should be generic and approachable to all kinds of people and religions.  
- I have heard that the school will have an extra building which will be a chapel causing traffic and 
parking issues on Aqua Drive and the Hampton Water area. 
- Our daughter is 3, should be going to this school but we don't plan on sending her here as we are 
not religious. Therefore we will be driving out to another school and other will be driving into the 
area, doubling the traffic impact.  
- The crucifix on the building entrance is grossly inappropriate, unnecessary and unsightly. Not all 
children will be of the Catholic faith so it would be unfair to consistently subject them to it. The 
image is unnecessarily graphic and violent, especially for young children.  
- School is not the place for promulgation of a religion, education should encourage critical 
engagement with and non-dogmatic exposure to diverse, sometimes competing worldviews and 
beliefs on equal terms.  
- County Council chiefs have serious concerns over a sex and relationship resource which is being 
taught at St Mary's Roman Catholic High School in Lugwardine.  
 
e. Other uses  
- Another issue could arise from the use of the school outside of school hours and as a church. 
Strongly ask that if an application is approved, that a condition is made to restrict opening hours 
and other non-schooling uses.   
 
f. Neighbour impact 
- The proposed school being built is a lot closer to my house than it was showed on a plan when 
purchasing the house. I live on Broadstone Drive and am concerned about turning into and out of 
the road, onto Aqua Drive.  
- My house overlooks the land proposed for the school. We chose to live in Hampton Water as its a 
country park. They won't build a pub, restaurants or shops for that very reason so why on earth do 
they see hundreds of cars passing through as OK? 
- We bought our home for the sole purpose that it is a private road and our children will be safe 
away from the main roads and plenty of traffic that passes by Hampton Water. The proposal takes 
away our and our neighbours peace of mind and safety of children, traffic will build up on these 
roads and cause danger to any children playing outside.  
 
g. Other 
- The issue with this application is that it is not an average school or an average area, it is a 
Catholic selective faith school in a very fast growing area which breaks LP13 Transport Policy of 
the Local Plan (2019).  
- After being involved in the purchase of our house, no news of this school development was 
mentioned so am against it being built when this should be a quiet residential area.  
- Air pollution, litter and anti-social behaviour are just a few of the concerns I have.  
- This proposed school has been forced through with residents concerns ignored.  
- The lack of a definitive answer that local children will be guaranteed a place at this local school is 
very concerning. 

97



 

 18 

- A local non-selective school less than a year old with only perhaps 1 or 2 years groups under 
Covid conditions perhaps 60-80% attendance has just reported serious concerns over safety of 
cars and congestion, the head teacher recently sent letters out.  
- House prices will go down.  
- The objection is not against the school but against the poor execution of planning, disregarding 
the current and future issues affecting the local community and Hampton in general. 
- Objector states that St Luke's collected around 1,000 responses supporting the proposal to open 
the new school from almost all the parishioners, friends and Catholics from neighbouring parishes. 
The support is not local as it's from neighbouring parishes and friends and families. As you can see 
from the petition and objections the support for the school is not local but the opposition is. Article 
in 'The Tablet' also states that the diocese has paid £250,000 to cover the cost of the construction 
of a school chapel. This cannot be seen on the plans, and I objection to the chapel in this location 
causing extra traffic at evenings and weekends if used for worship and hire.  
- We were attracted by the quiet nature of the site and the plans to build a primary school we could 
walk our daughter to, however, the country park nature of the site is already attracting large 
numbers of non-residents who drive over, park and walk around the lakes.  
- Concerns over the application have been raised by resident with local councillors. These 
concerns relate to the faith element of the school as well as concerns over traffic on the A15 and 
Aqua Drive and parking worries for local residents.  
- Key Stage 1 pupils will need to be walked to their class by parents/carers and collected at the end 
of the school day by an adult who the teacher can see and recognise from a safeguarding 
perspective - they cannot simply walk unaccompanied to a waiting parent in the car park.  
- The proposal will not benefit the local community, it will have a negative effect on property prices 
which was not possible to predict when we bought property here.  
- The whole planning process is entirely flawed. 
- The planning team has failed to address and acknowledge how many children will be travelling 
from outside the school area, therefore increasing traffic and having a substantial environmental 
impact.  
- There are many flaws in the application which do not meet the council guidelines. I refer you to 
James Brown’s rejection of this application as his comment sums everything up in total.  
 
h. Support 
- Whilst traffic would be of concern to some, any school of this size will likely have these issues to 
face and due regard for this seems to have been given in parking and drop off points.   
- The atmosphere which has been created has left Catholic resident and other supporters of this 
school for the Hampton's feeling unwilling and unable to show their approval in any way which 
would expose their names and addresses.  
- There are hundreds of Catholic families in the Hamptons, including on Hampton Water, who 
would value the opportunity to make use of a voluntary-aided school. My long experience of 
voluntary-aided primary schools is that the families using them are local, are usually within walking 
distance and almost all will never be more than one mile away, one mile distance being I believe 
the definition of a local school.  
- The school will provide a further choice of school for the local area. 
- The design appears to be well thought-out having taken into account the local environment. 
 
 
Revised consultation: 
 
a. Location of school 
- We bought our house on the understanding that the school would be located on the opposite side 
of the plot from plans provided by the developer with a lower level of traffic impact on Aqua Drive 
and parking impact on Broadstone Drive.  
 
b. Traffic 
- Whilst the revised plans and drop off points serve to offer a solution but given the selective nature 
of the school the Travel Plan assumptions are incorrect.  
- The Travel Plan makes incorrect assumptions on walking and cycling catchment and is outdated 

98



 

 19 

given the size of development at completion.  
- Parking is often a problem in new developments, as such Aqua Drive will have residents 
obstructing the road as well as visiting traffic for the proposal, resulting in hazards for children 
walking home.  
- The date of adoption for the roads is also a concern.  
- Aqua Drive is narrow and unsuited to large amounts of traffic.  
- The Aqua Drive to Broadstone Drive junction is narrow meaning cars have to wait for any 
oncoming vehicles before exiting the junction to Broadstone Drive. The proximity to the proposal 
will result in the junction becoming obscured or blocked due to parking at school times.  
- Proposal not in accordance with Policy LP13.  
- The 10% of the traffic coming from outside of the Hampton Water area as stated in the Travel 
Plan is an underestimation because of the number of children currently residing in the Hampton 
Water area as well as the selection criteria of the proposed school.  
- The signatories of the petition submitted by the Diocese indicate the geographical area of school 
attendees.  
- The highway network is currently struggling due to the current Hampton schools which prioritise 
catchment areas, the Travel Plan is inaccurate in assessing the impact of the school on the 
highway network. The school will impact the highway negatively without guaranteeing school 
places for the local community.  
- 66 parking spaces are not adequate. You need 400 parking spaces to provide adequate 
provision.  
- Concerns over parents parking on the road and in visitor spaces on Aqua Drive.  
- Concerns over congestion on London Road and environmental degradation.  
- Table 7.1 in the Travel Plan suggests that only 66 additional trips will be generated by the school 
at a peak time with little or no calculation to show how this is derived.  
- Please refer to my original objection. 
- Objection to the Clancy Consulting Traffic Plan being factually inaccurate on their representation 
of the anticipated traffic levels generated by the proposal.  
- Recalculation of school generated traffic numbers are statistically unsupported and not 
believable.  
- For those of us that live here and will have to live with the negative impact of congestion and 
environmental degradation, this is an insult. 
 
c. Additional uses 
- Concerns over the use of the site for uses outside of school hours at weekends. 
- Published information by Diocese/Parish that funding has been set out for a chapel on site, but 
this information not included on plans. 
 
d. Comments made on application 
- Comments with no names and addresses should not be accepted in accordance with Council's 
guidelines. Also shows a lack of transparency.  
 
e. Other 
- No adherence to Section 106 agreement of the original planning permission setting aside the site 
for a community space. The chapel is not a community space as it is for a specific religious 
purpose.  
- Concerns over the appearance of the crucifix at the front of the school.  
- Website is down on 18/05 which is the final date for comments, this should be extended. Unable 
to comment until site is back up and running.  
 
 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are set out under the headings below.  
 

1. The Principle of Development 

99



 

 20 

2. Highways Impacts and Car Parking 
3. Design and Layout 
4. Landscape and Ecological Impacts 
5. Drainage and Flood Risk 
6. Others Matters – archaeology, contamination, construction management etc. 
7. Miscellaneous 

 
 
1.  The Principle of Development  
 
In planning policy terms, the National Planning Policy Framework places great emphasis upon 
supporting the building of new schools or the expansion of existing schools.  
 
As indicated in Section 1 above, this application has been submitted as a reserved matters 
application under the 2016 outline planning permission.   
 

The application site is located within the Urban Extension of Hampton as allocated under Local 
Plan Policies LP05 and LP35. In addition to housing it will comprise roads, schools, community 
centres, local centres and landscaping/open space. As expected for an urban extension of this 
size, proposals incorporate a number of schools across the development.  
 
The application site is identified for a primary school site (parcel EDU3) as part of the overall 
masterplan for Hampton East. The land for the new primary school was agreed as part of the S106 
Agreement for Hampton and there is an obligation that this land be transferred over to 
Peterborough City Council at an agreed trigger point of the overall development taking place. 
 
The outline permission is also supported by a Framework Plan and Hampton East Development 
Area Brief (HEDAB) which were both approved in 2015. These documents set out the broad 
position of the various land uses within the site including the approximate location of the schools, 
local centres, main areas of open space and main streets and road connections.   
 
The HEDAB also sets out the main design principles for each area within the Hamptons East which 
developers should follow when making their reserved matters applications. The applicant has 
provided a statement of compliance with the HEDAB and Officers are satisfied the proposal is in 
general accordance with this.  This is set out further under the ‘Design and Layout’ section below.  
 
There have been public comments made that residents were not made aware that a school site 
was planned in this location. In response, this specific site has been identified for some years for a 
new primary school as explained above.  
 
Comments have also been made objecting to the fact that the school will be a faith school with 
selective pupil entry requirements. Appropriate account has been made in the consideration of the 
anticipated catchment area of the school which is covered in further detail below under ‘Highway 
Impacts and Parking’. The fact that the school is intended to be a faith school and there is an 
admissions policy is not a material planning consideration in any other respect. Appropriate 
account has duly been taken of the relevant duties under Equality Duty and Human Rights 
legislation.  
 
Conclusion 
In summary, Officers are satisfied that this reserved matters application is considered to accord 
with the outline planning permission and the approved development area brief.  As such the 
principle of development for a school on this site is acceptable.  
 
 
2. Highways Impacts and Parking 
 
Traffic Impacts 

100



 

 21 

The highway impacts of Hamptons East as a whole were considered when the original outline 
permission was granted. The transport figures were reviewed as part of the 2002 application for 
and confirmed as part of the application made in 2016 for its renewal.  The school has been 
included within the masterplan for Hamptons East for some years and taken into account within the 
strategic transport modelling submitted with the original outline application. 
 
A transport assessment (TA) has been submitted with the application. It should be noted that the 
applicant was under no obligation to submit any further traffic assessment material for the 
proposed school and the Local Highway Authority (LHA) would be unable to request any significant 
infrastructure improvements as a result of this development, as the impacts were assessed at the 
outline stage. 
 
The primary reason for the TA being submitted was to help inform an on-going study into existing 
and potential traffic issues in the area, which is currently being undertaken by the LHA.  
 
Specifically, the TA seeks to establish the transport impact of the proposed school specifically at 
the Aqua Drive/Eagle Way/A15 signalised junction. The LHA in its review of the TA has identified a 
number of deficiencies in the methodology and modelling, critically the lack of validation of the 
base LinSig model.  
 
This being the case there can be no certainty that the base model accurately represents the 
situation is terms of queues and delays at the time of the surveys. Observations made at the time 
would suggest that queues and delays were significantly lower than predicted by the modelling.  
 
The LHA is of the view that there is currently no benefit in undertaking new surveys, given the 
national restrictions which have been in place due to the Covid pandemic, as this would mean that 
traffic volumes could not be said to be ‘normal’ in terms of traffic modelling guidance.  
 
As indicated, the proposed school is expected to largely serve local families, but some account has 
been taken that as a result of parent preference there may be some children that apply to join the 
school who live outside of the immediate surrounding area and which may widen the catchment 
area for the school leading to a large increase in car usage. This has been a particular concern 
raised through the public consultation with a number of different percentages being quoted from 
different sources about what the actual catchment of the school could be anticipated to be.   
 
The proposed trip generation of the school, including a 10% externalisation factor was previously 
discussed and agreed with Officers at the pre-application stage. This been compared to other 
school sites in Peterborough (including two Roman Catholic schools) and is considered to correlate 
well with other sites. Officers are therefore satisfied that this represents are realistic assumption to 
be used and also within the Peterborough context. 
 
The distribution of the trips through the Hartland Avenue/A15 and Aqua Drive/A15 junctions is also 
considered to be a reasonable assumption on the basis the at the majority of ‘external’ trips will 
originate in the existing Hampton Vale and Hargate areas. It is noted that currently the Hartland 
Way/A15 junction is subject to significant congestion during the school peak period and this is why 
the LHA is undertaking a study in this area to identify improvements to alleviate this issue.  
 
Observations undertaken in association with this study have not identified any such issues at the 
Aqua Drive/A15 junction during school peak times. Whilst the predicted school traffic will add to 
congestion at the Hartland Way junction, this has been factored into the data being used in the 
study of this area. The LHA is of the view that the additional traffic through the Aqua Drive junction 
will be able to be accommodated without any severe impact on the operation of this junction.  
 
The school will be required to produce a robust travel plan which will require management of the 
traffic associated with the school – see further below. As part of this monitoring, the number of 
pupils arriving by car will be carried out with appropriate interventions being implemented to reduce 
car travel to the site.  

101



 

 22 

 
The LHA has concluded that whilst the TA conclusions in terms of traffic modelling could not be 
verified, the transport implications of the development are considered to be acceptable. This is on 
the basis that the predicted trip generation will not cause an unacceptable impact, and the fact that 
as stated the school was included in the transport modelling submitted with the original Hamptons 
East outline application. 
 
 
Public comments 
It is acknowledged that a significant number of the objections received are in relation to concerns 
over the school causing potential impacts on the local highway network given the current situation 
referred to above and also that the school population could travel from further afield due to it being 
a faith school. The traffic impact has been reviewed on the basis of the predicted flows and in 
consideration of the fact that this is a reserved matter application. Some additional commentary is 
provided below to clarify this in relation to the representations made.  
 

• Traffic in this area is extremely busy without people travelling at peak times to drop children 
at school.  
Officer response: Journeys to school are a consequence of any residential development 
and therefore school traffic will be on the local network irrespective of where the school is 
located. 
  

• The Transport Assessment during AM Peak (07:45-08:45) predicts 27 pupils will arrive by 
car. There will be 656 students when the school is fully open. Using National Travel Survey 
data around 465 cars would be expected in the morning and afternoon.  
Officer response: Local Census and survey data has been used in the calculation of the 
vehicle trips to and from the site, as well as information from other comparable schools. It is 
unclear as to the origin of the Travel Survey data referred to in this comment. Whilst 
National Travel Survey Data is useful in some instances it is, by its very nature, based upon 
a wide range of sites that would not take into consideration this specific site and its 
surroundings. 
  

• Objection over absence of correct infrastructure and facilities to deal with the sheer number 
of vehicles, congestion and parking issues.  
Officer response: The overall amount of planned development for housing at Hampton has 
been taken account of in the strategic traffic modelling. The school places will also fill 
incrementally over a number of years whilst the development at Hamptons East completes. 

 
• The traffic issue is further exacerbated by the road access to the site with only two main 

access routes. Hartland Avenue to the north and Aqua Drive to the south.  
Officer response: Hampton East is an on-going development. As it progresses there will be 
more highway links and public transport provision.  Future links to the main highway 
network will be implemented as part of the ongoing Hampton East Development, with 
connections through to Waterhouse Way and up to the A15 London Road through the 
future Hampton Woods and Hampton Beach developments.   

 

• Hartland Avenue contains Hampton Gardens Secondary School, which is not fully occupied 
already leads to back to back traffic and parking on the residential roads in the area at peak 
times. This is with a secondary school which has a far lower proportion of car travel as 
shown in the National Travel Survey. This would result in cars using the Aqua Drive route. 
Officer response: The highway issues at Hampton Gardens School are currently being 
looked at by Peterborough Highway Services as part of their study of the A15 corridor 
(London Road) within the Hampton area. It has always been anticipated that, once the 
Hampton East development is fully built out, traffic will use all available routes to enter and 
leave Hampton East to dilute the impact of vehicles on any one particular junction.  Whilst it 
is acknowledged that parking on residential roads and congestion occurs outside the 
Hampton Gardens School at peak times, the LHA could not require this development to 

102



 

 23 

solve existing problems at other sites. Once the roads have become highway, the 
introduction of any necessary parking restrictions could be considered. 
  

• Staff travel: out of the 75 staff members the Transport Assessment says that only 11 will 
arrive by car in the AM and PM peak. This seems unlikely and will further add to the traffic 
impact.  
Officer response: The assessment is based upon external network peak hour trips i.e. 
those that arrive from outside the Hampton East area. The majority of staff will arrive before 
peak times in the morning. This is not an unusual situation and occurs at numerous other 
schools. 

  
• There is also 30 nursery places, nearly all of these children will be taken to the school via 

car.  
Officer response: It is agreed that a significant number of Nursery trips will be by car. 
However these trips will be linked to trips to work which would have been on the local 
network irrespective of the school development. 

  
• Transport Assessment was done in 2019 when around 254 people lived in Hampton East, 

currently there are around 967. The growth factor used in the TA has a huge discrepancy 
because of the huge brand new development which is not accounted for. 
Officer response: The 2019 surveys are the most recently available data. It is not possible 
to carry out accurate surveys during national restrictions on the movement of people. The 
growth factors that have been applied are localised factors produced from data which takes 
into consideration specific developments in the City. 
  

• Figure 9 of the Transport Assessment suggests only 63 vehicles will leave Aqua Drive in 
the AM peak in 2026 and 24 will join onto Aqua Drive, before the school is taken into 
account. Even during 2021 lockdown, far more cars then this use the Aqua Drive/A15 
junction. 
Officer response: As previously stated, the traffic flows are based upon known survey data 
undertaken at a time before the current/recent national restrictions. Any surveys undertaken 
during the time of national restrictions could not be considered to be a measure of the 
highway network under ‘normal circumstances’ and would therefore not be accurate to use 
for future traffic predictions.   

  
• Unless the school can prove the locality of its 80% catholic students this can only be worse 

than Lakeside edge.  
Officer response: This school is not specifically restricted to Catholic Faith students and the 
majority of pupils are anticipated to come from the Hampton East area. 

 

• A small increase in catchment size can drastically in the proportion of car usage compared 
to walking.  

Officer response: Whilst the propensity to walk diminishes with distance, there is no data 
to suggest that small increases in catchment will have significant impacts. 
 

 
Provision for accessing the site by vehicle, bus, walking and cycling  
As indicated, the school will be served via a vehicular access off Aqua Drive. An ‘in and out’ 
arrangement is proposed for the car park which is acceptable in principle. The entry and exit will be 
barrier controlled and as indicated in the car parking strategy these will open at school arrival and 
departure times to allow parents to use the car park drop off.  These are shown to be set back a 
suitable distance from the Highway and further details of the barriers will be secured via condition. 
 
Conditions requiring the provision of visibility splays to the new access will be imposed in the 
interests of highway safety.  The visibility splays drawing does not include the required splays from 
the substation service bay. These will require a minor alteration to the position of the substation, 

103



 

 24 

but this would not appear to impact on the other elements of this submission and can be dealt with 
via planning condition which is acceptable in this instance. 
 
In addition to the main vehicular access off Aqua Drive on the south side of the site, there will 3 
pedestrian and cycle access points, including 2 on Aqua Drive and one off Hartland Avenue to the 
east of the site. These will provide good connections to the surrounding school catchment area as 
well as ensuring no cross-over with vehicle or service delivery zones inside the site. Associated 
with the on-site parking facilities, the school will be on a bus route and users will also be able to 
make use of the pedestrian/ cycle routes across the Hampton development so promoting these 
modes of travel in the Travel Plan is essential.   
 
 
Parking provision 
Policy LP13 sets out maximum car and cycle parking standards for schools.  These are 1 car 
space per full time member of staff, plus additional drop-off facilities which are considered on a 
case-by-case basis. For cycle stands 1 cycle stand per 8 staff member is required, plus 1 stand per 
6 pupils.  
 
The scheme as submitted showed a barrier controlled car park area with a total of 76 staff parking 
spaces which accords with the proposed staff numbers; a total of 8 drop-off bays; and spaces for 
cycle parking (staff, visitor and pupils).  
 
The LHA raised initial concerns and requested a number of areas of improvement for the parking 
arrangements for the school to address inadequate drop-off arrangements; insufficient pupil cycle/ 
scooter parking; insufficient cycle parking for staff and other visitors; together with a lack of motor 
cycling spaces and car parking recharging points. Clarification was also sought of how school 
coaches will be able to access the school. 
 
Following discussions with Officers, the applicant has reviewed the proposals and revised plans 
have been submitted to address the points raised. The amendments show an increase in the 
number of drop-off bays from 8 to 30; an increase in cycle/ scooter provision; and a number of 
motor cycling parking spaces.  The drop-off bays will be available during the school day for visitor 
use. 
 
Further evidence of a commitment to a robust Travel Plan and parking management plan has also 
been submitted. An interim car parking strategy has been prepared to be read alongside the 
framework Travel Plan. This details how the one-way system will be implemented and also how 
parking will be managed, particularly at drop-off and pick-up times and how pupils can gain access 
to the school safely. It also explains about transport for school trips etc. 
 
Some related amendments to the parking areas to assist with better zoning of the drop-off bay and 
staff parking areas have been carried out, together with achieving better turning and reversing 
arrangements. The proposal for an ‘in and out’ access remains.  
 
A larger section of the car park is now shown to be ducted for easy future conversion to EV bays 
28no. in total, with a 4no. bays (5%) being provided from construction. The demand for these bays 
should be monitored through the travel plan, with additional charging facilities being installed as 
demand increases. 
 
The amendments to the on-site cycle parking arrangements adequately address the main 
concerns made by the LHA and Peterborough Cycle Forum about the need for sufficient and 
conveniently located cycle parking to meet the needs of different users including over the lifetime 
of the development. 
 
Through revisions made this equates to a total of 90 cycle spaces  - 70 cycle spaces for pupils; 10 
spaces for staff members; and a further 10 spaces for visitors. Officers are satisfied that the cycle 
parking for staff, pupils and visitors is now shown to be in accordance with the standards set out in 

104



 

 25 

Policy LP13. An additional 40 pupil scooter spaces are to be provided. Future expansion areas 
have also been identified, to enable additional facilities to be provided as the demand increase. 
This will be monitored through the Travel Plan, and expanded accordingly. 
 
The cycle parking provision has been designed to accord with best parking guidance such LTN 1-
20, Cycle Infrastructure Design (DfT, July 2020) where possible, but this has needed to be 
balanced with the other requirements and Government standards for the new school in the 
available limited budget. Further details of the cycle stands and shelters can be secured via a 
condition. 
 
Whilst the cycle parking areas provides for some areas of covered parking, it has not been 
possible to accommodate a separate cycle by-pass adjacent to the rising barriers which are 
installed at the access and egress points in line with the Cycle Forum’s comments.  
 
Regarding the latter point made to widen the pathways to accommodate cycling within the site. The 
surrounding roads which the school will be accessed from shared-use footway/ cycleways. The 
applicant has responded that the site layout is unable to accommodate cycle lanes due to there 
being constrained space.  As this is a primary school development, it is not considered necessary 
to have separate cycle lanes as cyclists would be expected to dismount at the pavement and push 
their bicycle to the designated parking space. The school would also not allow cycling on site due 
to health and safety concerns, as it would introduce a risk of collisions between cyclists and the 
pedestrians.  Therefore, cyclists will be expected to dismount and wheel their cycles to the 
designated cycle shelters.  
 
In terms of visitor cycle parking, this is shown as uncovered on the current plans, however, the 
travel plan does allow for flexibility so that if there was a proven demand for covered visitor space 
in the future, this could be considered and implemented via the Travel Plan. 
 
 
Travel Plan/ Parking Management Plan 
In conjunction with a good parking scheme being achieved on site the LHA has been clear that the 
proposed Travel Plan for the school will need to be robust in order to develop a culture of 
sustainable travel from initial occupation to ensure that walking, cycling, and public transport are 
the natural choices for school journeys.  This position is supported by the Council’s Travel Choice 
Team. 

 
In the light of the above, a full detailed Travel Plan and parking management plan will need to be 
secured via planning condition. The requirement for a parking management plan (with regular 
reviews) will also ensure the parking facilities are suitable and are being promoted by the school.  
The parking management plan will also need to have a clear mechanism for preventing highway 
parking by school traffic (including parents). 
 
The applicant has also been advised, however, that the delivery vehicle swept path analysis (and 
the lining details) demonstrate that the delivery vehicle will access the site in contraflow to the main 
directional arrows for the car park. This, and the shared-use of some of the drop-off bays for 
deliveries mean that deliveries to the site should be managed to occur outside of school hours 
wherever possible, and definitely outside of drop-off and pick up times. This can be controlled 
through the future parking management plan. 
 
It is acknowledged that there has been concerns from the objections received about the proposed 
parking and drop off provided which would not cater for the volume expected and that is not a true 
reflection of the needs of the school. This will result in causing congestion to and in the area, and 
parking issues for the local residents with other side roads and cul-de-sac being used. There would 
be inadequate traffic measures for expected volume of traffic. No bus parking/turning around 
points. Also, there is a need to ensure safe pedestrian access.  
 

105



 

 26 

In response, the parking provided is now in accordance with the Local Plan Policy LP13 relating to 
parking of cars, cycles/ scooters and motorcycles.  Unlike some other schools, including Hampton 
Gardens secondary school, this school will have the advantage of a number of dedicated drop-off 
bays to take traffic off the surrounding roads at the start and end of the school day.  There will be a 
pedestrian crossing facility within the site to enable safe access from the drop-off bays to the 
school doors. Pedestrian crossing points (dropped kerbs) will also be provided on the roads around 
the site. There will be a bus stop immediately adjacent to the site on Hartland Avenue (once this 
route is completed), and there are also laybys nearby for school trips to collect / drop off pupils. 
 
In summary, Officers are satisfied that, subject to the aforementioned conditions, the amount and 
type of proposed parking to be provided accords with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019).  
 
Conclusion 
It is not considered that the proposal would unduly impact on the surrounding highway network. 
The site is accessible by a choice of means of transport the proposal would ensure that a safe and 
convenient access for all users would be available. Satisfactory provision has been made for car 
and cycle parking, including car drop off/ pick arrangements. The Local Highways Authority raise 
no object to the proposal. 
 
Having assessed all of the above matters and subject to the imposition of appropriate highway 
conditions, Officers are satisfied that the proposal complies with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 
 
 
3. Design and Layout 
 
Building Design 
The proposed two storey building and associated hard standing (pedestrian walkways and parking 
and delivery areas) is focussed in the southern portion of the site, with the remainder being open 
and green and to be used for play and PE purposes.  
 
The building layout has been influenced predominantly by the functional requirements from the 
school’s perspective, as well as the site itself and the locations of surrounding features and uses. 
The building will directly face onto Hampton Water’s proposed village centre. 
 
The building layout is centred around a main centre, whilst the two teaching wings lead off from 
this. Classrooms to accommodate the youngest children are on the ground floor allowing access to 
outdoor play/ learning areas. Classrooms for older children are located on the first floor.  
 
There are a number of access points into the building from different parts of the school site to 
provide appropriate safeguarding measures and parental access.  The main hall is located at front 
of the building and its corner position allows it to form a focal landmark building with its entrance at 
this point.  
 
The school building is of modular construction and will be a pre-engineered module unit 
manufactured off-site. It will extend to a maximum height of around 7.5 metres. The school building 
is an inverted L shape in approximate terms, measuring 69 metres in length and 56 metres in 
width.  
 
Overall, the design of the new building is considered to be acceptable and appropriate in its scale 
and massing within other buildings in this part of Hampton, which are 2 to 3 storey in height and 
residential in character. There is also a mixed use site opposite which is intended for some 
commercial uses.  It includes a strong entrance feature at the inter-section of two primary streets 
and which the HEDAB highlights as an important area of public realm and the school will assist in 
providing for a community focus within the village centre. 
 

106



 

 27 

Some details of external materials have been indicated on the submitted plans, it is proposed to 
use a mix of brick and timber with blue coloured panelling to reflect the school’s branding and also 
tie into the surrounding water features. Linking to the surrounding housing, the base of the school 
up to the first floor will be a buff brick base.  The indicative colour pallet draws on that envisaged 
for the adjacent residential development as set out in the HEDAB. 
 
A planning condition will be attached stipulating further details of the external materials of the 
buildings are to be submitted and agreed by the local planning authority.   
  
It is normal for a school to have signs and logo at its entrance. There have been concerns raised 
over the appropriateness of including a religious symbol such as crucifix on the front of the 
building. Some images have been shown on the submitted drawings for illustrative purposes only, 
and would be considered further through an application to discharge the proposed planning 
condition on external details, so far as it relates to being a planning matter.  
 
 
Noise  
A Noise Assessment has been submitted with the application in line with outline planning condition 
C20. The main noise sources to impact the site is road traffic on the A15/ London Road 
(approximately 200m away) along with traffic on the access road currently used by construction.  
Noise from temporary construction works was also noted during the surveying periods.  
 
The report concludes that suitable internal noise levels for general teaching areas can be achieved 
by following the recommendations for appropriate mitigation within the report to achieve better 
sound insulation which are advisory only.  
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer accepts the findings of the report and no conditions 
have been requested regarding necessary mitigation required. Condition C20 can therefore also be 
discharged. 
 
 
Playing Field Provision and Community Use of Schools 
As set out above, the application includes a range of outdoor play including a large area of hard 
play, with playing fields to be marked out for sports use.  
 
It is proposed that planning conditions are imposed in respect of the layout out of the playing fields 
to meet Sport England requirements as well as restrictions on their use (for sports purposes only). 
 
At this point, the school has indicated it does not intend for the facilities to be opened up to the 
wider community. This is a matter that has been raised through the public consultation on the 
applications over concerns that the school could be used during the evenings and weekends for 
other uses such as church services or for hire. Also, that a chapel may be included in the proposal 
for these purposes. To confirm there is no separate chapel proposed to be constructed as part of 
this application.  
 
The planning application is only being considered for that proposed with no other additional 
buildings on site for wider community use. Notwithstanding this, it is normal practice to secure via 
condition details to be approved by the local planning authority of any intended community use of 
the school building or indoor/ outdoor school facilities. This condition will therefore be imposed.  
 
Some comment has been raised through the public consultation that the site identified for the 
school also includes a community social hall. Whilst there is a requirement in the S.106 agreement 
that this should be provided in this part of Hampton, this has not formed part of the proposals for 
the school site.  
 
It is understood that that the landowner / master developer O&H is currently reviewing its 
outstanding community provision requirements across the wider development, which also includes 

107



 

 28 

other sports provision, with a view to consolidating the provision elsewhere.  The matter of the 
community hall is therefore being dealt with outside the remit of this planning application. The 
Council’s education team has also advised that it there has been a move away from providing a 
community hall or room within school buildings, such as was done on the first primary schools in 
Hampton. Rather the preferred approach nowadays to provide these types of facilities separate to 
a school due to practical reasons. 
 
 
Impact on Neighbour Amenity 
Proposals which have the potential to introduce noise and disturbance to an area are assessed 
against Local Plan Policy LP17 (Part A).  This advises that development should not result in an 
unacceptable impact on the amenity of existing occupiers or nearby properties. 
 
There are no existing properties to the south or east of the site, although planning permission has 
recently been granted on parcels R12/R13 which runs along the opposite side of Hartland Ave 
parallel to the eastern boundary of the application site. The housing will be separated by 25 metres 
to the site boundary and 34m to the nearest part of the new school building as this is set back into 
the site.  
 
To the east of the site on parcels R16/R19 the closest existing housing is located on Broadstone 
Drive and which front the western boundary of the application site.  Between both parcels there is a 
landscape buffer approximately 30 metres wide but the overall separation distance is 40 metres 
from the proposed P.E. areas and car park which are located along this boundary. The nearest 
dwellings to the school building would be 64 metres away.   
 
These are all considered to be acceptable separation distances and the proposal is not expected 
to have any detrimental effect on neighbouring properties, in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy, 
shadowing or over bearing impact for these neighbours. 
 
Some neighbour representations have been received which raise concerns that the school site is 
closer to the housing than anticipated, but no comments have been received regarding these 
potential amenity nuisances. 
 
Conditions will be stipulated, however, requiring appropriate levels of background noise and 
lighting that may impact on those nearby, including neighbours. The existing requirement under the 
outline planning permission for a Construction Management Plan will also negate potential issues 
which may arise during the construction stage of the development.  
 
Having reviewed the potential noise from the school building including plant, the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer has advised that a planning condition should be imposed to limit the 
plant noise.  The applicant has been made aware of the noise levels emitted from the site should 
not exceed set levels.   
 
 
Security 
The applicant has stated within their submission that the proposed site layout will provide for a high 
level of security to ensure safety and ease of management of the site. These include indicative 
details of measures such as appropriate boundary treatment for the different areas of the school. 
For example, suitable fencing will be erected around the perimeter of the site and car park barriers 
to prevent unauthorised access.  
 
The Police Crime Prevention Design Team has raised no objections to the proposals in terms of 
community safety and vulnerability to crime.  
 
Subject to these matters set out above being satisfactorily addressed through conditions, Officers 
consider the development will accord with Policies LP16, LP17 and LP21 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 

108



 

 29 

 
 
4. Landscape and Ecological Impacts  
 
Arboricultural and Landscape Impacts 
No arboricultural information supports the application as there is no existing trees on-site.  
 
In terms of new hard boundary treatment, the front boundary along Aqua Drive will feature 0.6 m 
high timber knee rail to ensure the safety of the users of the school but maintaining an open aspect 
to the front entrance of the school. The rest of the school site will secured with a perimeter fence of 
2.4m weld mesh fencing.   
 
In order to ensure that sufficient new soft landscaping is introduced to break up the extent of hard 
surfacing and boundary treatments, the proposed planting will consist predominantly of native trees 
around the perimeter of the site. A small orchard is also proposed to the west of the school building 
to aid learning opportunities for pupils.  
 
There is low level planting to the south and east of the site to include hedgerows and grassed 
areas.  There will also be an area off the car park and along part of the eastern and western site 
boundaries for wildflower planting which will have a positive contribution towards bio-diversity.   
 
The Council’s Tree Officer finds the landscaping proposal to be acceptable, subject to the final 
details being, via planning condition.  A Landscape Management Plan will be secured by condition. 
 

 
Ecology Impacts 
In terms of biodiversity, an accompanying extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report has assessed 
the conservation value of the site, including the likely presence of rare or protected species. This is 
in accordance with the requirements of outline planning condition C14. 

 
Previous data collected for adjacent developments show that great crested newts, water voles and 
common lizards are present in the wider catchment. However, this site is now surrounded by 
ongoing and completed construction with any adjacent areas largely with only recently created 
habitats and landscaped areas (including the new waterbodies). The report concludes that within 
the application site no habitats or features were recorded contains no features with potential to 
support protected species.  
 
The Wildlife Officer is satisfied that any impacts the proposed construction and continued operation 
of the development will be suitably mitigated, and those recommendations which are made for the 
development will result in a positive impact on biodiversity.  
 
Whilst the landscape plan does make reference to such recommendations, it is suggested that 
each should be integrated into the landscape design itself together with the landscape and 
management plan. This will be particularly important for the meadow areas which require an 
appropriate cutting regime as raised by the Wildlife Officer.  All lighting design should also follow 
the recommendations given and this is will conditioned accordingly.  Otherwise, condition C14 may 
be discharged.  
 
Having considered the landscaping and ecological impacts, subject to above conditions, the 
proposal is considered to accord with Policies LP28 and 29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
 
5. Flood Risk and Drainage  

 
The application is supported by a drainage layout for the site and a detailed Flood Risk 
Assessment which includes details about how the scheme complies with the Hampton Phase 2 
Surface Water Strategy as required by conditions C16 and C17 of the outline permission.   

109



 

 30 

 
The Council’s Drainage Team, in its capacity as the Lead Local Flood Authority, has raised no 
objection to these outline planning conditions being discharged. However, they have requested the 
imposition of a further condition under this application requiring the submission and approval of 
further detail detailed design of the surface water drainage, including for the proposed MUGA and 
sports field. This is in order to ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated 
within the development. This is considered to be a reasonable request and will be secured by 
condition. 
 
Outline planning condition C15, requires a scheme for foul sewerage disposal to be submitted prior 
to the commencement of development. Anglian Water has reviewed the applicant’s submitted foul 
drainage strategy under planning application 21/00257/DISCHG and confirmed that consider that 
the impacts on the public foul sewerage network are acceptable and this condition may be 
discharged. 
 
Therefore, the proposal accords with Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
 
6. Other matters 

 
Archaeology  
This part of Hampton appears to have been heavily truncated during clay extraction and has lost 
large areas of archaeological potential.  No further archaeological assessment has therefore been 
required.  
 

Contamination  
Details on the ground conditions of the site from previous land uses were submitted with for the 
outline planning application. A number of outline conditions relating to ground conditions (C11, C12 
and C13) including the need for further potential assessment work in respect of contamination on a 
site by site basis were imposed and remain valid for this site.  The applicant has submitted details 
to discharge the first of these conditions (C11a) under planning application 21/00257/DISCHG 
relating to further investigation on the soils and ground gas. Some remedial work and ground 
protections measures are required for areas not covered by the building footprint or hard standing.  
 
The Council’s Pollution control Team is satisfied that the submitted information is acceptable and 
the condition can be discharged in part pending further details on the methods of remediation to be 
submitted. The intended remedial works will need to be verified once they have taken place as 
required by the other relevant outline planning conditions (C11b, C12 and C13).  
 
Subject to these outline conditions, the proposed development complies with Policy LP33 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 

 
Construction Management 
The requirement for a Construction Management Plan (CMP) is required by condition C6 of the 
outline planning consent in order to mitigate against that including the impacts of construction on-
site such as dust and noise control during demolition/ construction; hours of working and deliveries; 
plant & machinery.  The applicant has submitted details of the CMP under planning application 
reference 21/00257/DISCHG which is acceptable and this condition may be discharged.  
 
 
Fire Hydrants 
The Fire Service has requested that provision be made for fire hydrants. This is considered to be a 
reasonable request and will be secured by condition as such provision is not already covered by 
the outline planning condition or S.106 Agreement. 
 
 

110



 

 31 

S106/CIL 
This development is covered by a S106 Agreement as part of the outline permission and is not 
therefore CIL liable. 
 
 
7. Miscellaneous - Items not covered in the above report 
 
Comments have been made regarding the impact of property prices in the area.  Officer response: 
This is not a material planning consideration. 
 
Comments have been made the school will cause litter and anti-social behaviour. Officer response: 
This is a matter that will need to be managed by the school if there are any direct impacts caused 
by its users. 
 
Comments have been made that the proposal could lead to air pollution. Officer response: A Travel 
Plan is required to ensure that users of the school will be encouraged to access the school via a 
choice of means of transport which will help to minimise car journeys.  
 
Comments made on financial contributions made from the Diocese to the school project. Officer 
response: This is not a material planning consideration. 
 
Comments about the school having a selective admissions policy: The school’s admission policy 
has been subject to separate consultation undertaken by Peterborough City Council and does not 
form part of the consideration of this application. 
 
Comments about what the potential content of the school curriculum. Officer response: This is not 
a material planning consideration. 
 
 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically: 
 
- The principle of locating a school on this site was established by the granting of outline planning 
permission.  The development will help meet the existing demand for school places arising from 
the development of Hampton and in the neighbouring areas.  The proposal accords with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (Paragraph 94) and Policy LP05 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019) and approved masterplan.  
 
-  The traffic impacts of the development were assessed at the outline planning stage and found to 
be acceptable. The development will provide for a satisfactory level of parking and gives some 
opportunities for travel by bus, walking and cycling.  The development will also be subject to a 
detailed Travel Plan and Parking Management Plan.  As such the proposal is considered to accord 
with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
   
- The design of the new building is considered to be acceptable for the location.  It is also not 
considered that there would be any unacceptable adverse impact upon neighbouring residents.  
The development is therefore considered to comply with Policies LP16 and LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
- New landscaping and biodiversity enhancement measures are proposed. The development will 
not have any unacceptable ecological impacts. The development therefore accords with Policies 
LP28 and LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
- Subject to a condition the site can be adequately drained in accordance with Policy LP32 of the 

111



 

 32 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Planning Permission is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
 

 
C1  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and details:- 

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9112-P06 Location Plan  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9100-P09 Site Plan  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9104-P07 Levels  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9105-P07 Fencing  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9106-P08 Deliveries  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9107-P06 Fire Tender Access  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9108-P08 Sports pitches  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9109-P05 Landscape layout  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9110-P06 Visibility Splays  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9111-P05 Site sections  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9113-P05 Planting Plan 1 of 2  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9114-P05 Planting Plan 2 of 2  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9115-P05 Planting details and Softworks Schedule  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9102-P08 Access &Security Schematic  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9103-P06 External Works  

- FS0980-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9116-P01 External Canopies  

- FS0980EFAA-AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0001_P08 Proposed Drainage Layout FS0980EFAA-
AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0002_P07 Proposed Drainage Layout – continued  

- FS0980EFAA-AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0003_P03 Surfacing Layout Sheet 1  

- FS0980EFAA-AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0004_P03 Surfacing Layout Sheet 2 

- FS0980EFAA-AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0008_P04 Proposed Impermeable Areas Plan  

- Date 20/04/2021 Drainage Calculations 1  

- Date 20/04/2021 Drainage Calculations 2 

- FS0980EFAA-AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0013_P02 Overland Flows Layout Sheet 1  

- FS0980EFAA-AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0014_P02 Overland Flows Layout Sheet 1  

- FS0980-AVE-XX-00-RP-C-0001-Drainage Strategy (updated version)  

112



 

 33 

- 21-0377.1- St John Henry Newman Primary School TP-05-02-21 Rev 2 

- N005v2 Indicative Car Park Strategy  

- Outline Landscape Maintenance Specification JHN-DLA-ZZ-00-DR-L-9201-P01 

- Geo-Environmental Appraisal 10-1582 Proposed School, Hampton Waters, Peterborough - 
Geoenvironmental Appraisal Report FINAL 

- Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report Hampton Waters Sch - Ph1 Report July 2020 

- Letter Addendum to Phase 1 Ecology Report Letter Addendum_Hampton Waters 
Ph1_Jan2021 

- Preliminary Flood Risk Appraisal CCL-21-0377 PFRA St John Henry Newman Primary 
School 

- Noise Assessment WIE17992-100-R-1.2.2_Acoustics-Draft-CPs-Report 

- FIRST FLOOR PLAN FS0980-DLA-B1-01-DR-A-2001_RevP04_GA 

- ROOF PLAN FS0980-DLA-B1-02-DR-A-2002_RevP02_GA 

- GROUND FLOOR PLAN FS0980-DLA-B1-GF-DR-A-2000_RevP04_GA 

- ELEVATIONS FS0980-DLA-B1-XX-DR-A-2030_RevP03_GA 

- Proposed Drainage Layout Details Drawing 1 FS0980EFAA-AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0010_P01 

- Proposed Drainage Layout Details Drawing 2 FS0980EFAA-AVE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0011_P01 

- Sustainable Drainage Assessment P3220 

- MUGA Drainage – Indicative Proposals  

- Sustainable Drainage Operation and Maintenance Manual P3220 

- Additional Noise Assessment RTP.200714.0 – Hampton Water School Peterborough – 
Noise Assessment 

Reason: To clarify the approved details and to ensure that the development accords with the 
reasoning and justification for granting permission as set out above. 

 
 
C2 The vehicle parking, drop off and delivery areas, and associated turning areas hereby 

approved shall be laid out with marked bays and ready for use prior to first operational use of 
the building in accordance with the approved site plan drawing JHN DLA ZZ 00 DR L 9100 
P09 prior to the first use of the building. The parking and turning areas shall thereafter be 
retained and shall not be used for any purpose other than parking and turning of vehicles, 
unless expressly permitted by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to ensure that sufficient parking and turning space is available in accordance 
with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

C3  Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to their implementation a scheme of cycle and 
scooter stands and shelters (day 1 provision and future expansion areas) shown on the 
approved site plan drawing JHN DLA ZZ 00 DR L 9100 P09 along with details of the type of 
cycle/ scooter stands and shelters to be provided shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  

113



 

 34 

The initial cycle/ scooter parking shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the approved 
details prior to first occupation of the building to which it relates, with the future expansion 
areas being brought forward in conjunction with the travel plan measures. Once installed, all 
cycle parking facilities shall thereafter be retained. 

Reason: In order to ensure that sufficient and suitable cycle parking is available in accordance 
with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

C4 The accesses hereby approved shall be provided in accordance with the details shown on the 
approved site plan drawing JHN DLA ZZ 00 DR L 9100 P09 prior to first occupation of the 
building. They shall thereafter be retained in accordance with the approved plans. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 

 

C5  The gradient of the accesses shall not exceed 1:20 for a distance of 15 metres from the back 
edge of the proposed public highway. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 

 

C6  Prior to first use of the building hereby approved visibility splays shall be provided in 
accordance with the details shown on the approved visibility splays plan drawing JHN DLA ZZ 
00 DR L 9110 P06. The splays shall thereafter be maintained and retained free from any 
obstructions over 600mm in height above ground level. 

Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 

 

C7   Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans drawings JHN DLA ZZ 00 DR L 
9100 P09 and JHN DLA ZZ 00 DR L 9110 P06, prior to construction of the substation, a 
drawing showing the vehicle-to-cycle and vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays from the 
associated service bay shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The substation and associated service bay shall be constructed in accordance with 
the approved details and the splays retained thereafter free and from any obstruction over 
600mm in height above ground level. 

Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 

 

C8  Notwithstanding the submitted information prior to the implementation of any trees located 
within 4.5 metres of the highway, details of the proposed tree pits shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policies LP13 and LP29 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

114



 

 35 

C9  Within two months of the commencement of development, a detailed external lighting scheme 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting 
scheme shall include the design of the lighting columns, details of the lighting for both 
adoptable and private areas and a lux plan showing the extent of the illumination. All lighting 
design should follow the recommendations given within section 4.24 of the approved Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey (Ecologylink, 2020).  The lighting scheme should also include details 
of the proposed times of lower lighting levels for the site.  

For the avoidance of doubt the lighting scheme shall accord with Zone E2 of the Institute of 
Lighting Engineer Guidance (2012). The use of the columns for lighting shall not exceed the 
obtrusive light limits specified in the Institution of Lighting Professionals document "Guidance 
Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light: Guidance Note 01:20".  

Any lighting of private roads or parking areas shall be arranged so that no danger or 
inconvenience is caused to users of the adjoining existing or proposed public highway. 

The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved lighting 
details and installed before the new school is brought into use. 

The applicant is required to demonstrate compliance with this condition e.g. by measurement 
or calculation, in circumstances where reasonable concern arises from resultant lighting levels. 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, highway and community safety in accordance 
with Policies LP13, LP16 and LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
 

C10   The maximum total cumulative plant noise emitted from the site shall not exceed 41 dB LAeq, 
1 hour between 07:00 and 23:00 Monday to Saturday and 31 dB LAeq, 15 minutes at any 
other time. The noise levels should be determined at the nearest noise sensitive premises. 
The measurements and assessment should be made according to BS:4142:2014.  

 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of the adjacent residents including future occupiers in 
accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
 

C11  No above ground development, shall take place until a full and up to date surface water 
drainage layout plan, which includes but is not limited to, details of how the proposed MUGA 
and sports field will drain is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

The drainage system shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 
the use of the building and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved strategy 
and plan.   

 
 Reason: In order to ensure that the site can be adequately drained and that the principles of 

sustainable drainage are incorporated into the development and maintained thereafter, in 
accordance with Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 
 

 
C12  The playing fields shall be used for outdoor sport and for no other purpose including without 

limitation any other purpose in class F2c of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes 
Order as amended or in any provision equivalent to that class in any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification.  

 
Reason: In order to protect the playing fields/tennis courts and synthetic pitch in the future 
from other no sporting uses in accordance with Policies LP21 and LP23 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019).  

115



 

 36 

 
 
C13  Prior to the commencement of its construction, a full technical specification for the proposed 

grass pitches and multi-use games area shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
(a) A detailed assessment of ground conditions of the land proposed for the new playing field 

land as shown on drawing number 2020-104 shall be undertaken (including drainage and 
topography) to identify constraints which could affect playing field quality; and 

(b) Based on the results of this assessment to be carried out pursuant to (a) above of this 
condition, a detailed scheme to ensure that the playing fields will be provided to an 
acceptable quality (including appropriate drainage where necessary) shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after consultation with Sport 
England. 

The specification shall include full details of base construction, surfacing, pitch marking, 
fencing and flood lighting. These details shall comply with Sport England/NGB technical 
guidance including Sport England’s publication ‘Artificial Surfaces for Outdoor Sport’ (2013). 
The pitch/ multi use games area shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. 

  
  Reason: To ensure that the playing field is prepared to an appropriate standard and is fit for 

purpose and to accord with Policies LP21 and LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
 
C14  In the event of the school hereby approved being proposed to be used for community use, a 

scheme for such uses shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall apply to the school building and all indoor and outdoor sports 
facilities on this site and shall include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by non–
educational establishment users/ non-members, management responsibilities, a mechanism 
for review and a programme of implementation. The approved scheme shall be implemented 
upon the commencement of use of school and shall be complied with for the duration of the 
use of the development.  

 
Reason: To secure well managed safe community access to the sports facilities to ensure 
sufficient benefit to the community in accordance with Policies LP17 and LP21 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 
 
C15  Notwithstanding the submitted information within two months of the commencement of the 

development a scheme for the provision of fire hydrants shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and the hydrants shall be installed and ready prior to 
the first occupation of the part of the site which they serve. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that sufficient resources are available for fighting fires in 
accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 
 
C16  Notwithstanding the submitted information (including the interim travel plan and indicative car 

parking strategy), prior to the new school being brought into use a Travel Plan and a Parking 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
The Travel Plan shall contain SMART targets to encourage the use of non-car modes of 
transport to access the school including proposed measures to be implemented to achieve 
the targets and also hard/soft measures to mitigate the effects of the additional pupils/staff 

116



 

 37 

and to reduce car mode share. The Travel Plan shall thereafter be implemented and 
monitored as agreed.  

 
The Parking Management Plan shall set out in detail the methodology which the school will 
use to control and manage staff parking within the site and also to control parent parking in 
the vicinity of the site including pick up/drop off. This plan should be audited on a regular 
basis (no less than annually) to ensure that the parking / drop off facilities are suitable and 
are being promoted by the school.  The development shall thereafter operate in accordance 
with the approved plans.  

 
Reason: In order to promote the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with 
Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

  
 

C17  No above ground development shall take place until samples/details of the following external 
materials to be used in the construction of the new school have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, including:  
- Walling (samples) including brickwork, cladding panels and timber boarding  
- Roofing (details)  
- Windows (details)  
- Doors (details)  
- Rainwater goods (details)  
- Surface of the car park 

 
The samples/details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the 
product type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   

 

 

C18  Notwithstanding the approved schemes for the hard and soft landscaping of the site, within 
two months of the commencement of the development, further details shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, as follows:  
 
- All hard surface finishes including the parking bays and paths. 
- Ecology measures as recommended and set out in Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey 
Report including those measures relating to bat and bird boxes; ‘hedgehog holes’ facilitating 
movement of wildlife between surrounding habitats through appropriate gaps made in the 
fencing; planting of native trees and shrubs and wildflower lawns. 
- A timetable for implementation (where phased). 
- A Management and Maintenance Plan, including those measures set out in the Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report. 
 
The approved hard landscaping/boundary treatment details shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of the building hereby 
permitted. 

 
The soft landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details no later 
than the first planting season following first occupation of the building hereby permitted. 
 
Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die are 
removed, become diseased or unfit for purpose [in the opinion of the Local Planning 
Authority] within five years of the implementation of the landscaping scheme shall be 
replaced during the next available planting season by the Developers, or their successors in 
title with an equivalent size, number and species being replaced. Any replacement trees, 

117



 

 38 

shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting shall themselves be replaced with an 
equivalent size, number and species. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to promote biodiversity in 
accordance with Policies LP16, LP28 and LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 

 
C19  Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to the new school being brought into use, details 

on the proposed car park entrance barrier to the site shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The barriers shall thereafter be installed in 
accordance with the approved details.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and visual amenity of the area, in accordance with 
Policies LP13 and LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
 

C20   Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of development (save for 
enabling works which for the purpose of this permission means remediation works and any 
site preparation works associated with these works) a detailed levels plan showing existing 
and proposed ground and building slab levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.   

 
Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers and/or in 
the interests of the visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policies LP16 
and LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 

 

C21  Prior to the first opening of the new school the footways, carriageway and lighting of the 
access road to the east and south of the site, from which the parking areas will be accessed, 
shall be completed to at least binder course level and open to the public.  

 
Reason: In order to ensure an appropriate and safe access into the site in accordance with 
Policies LP13 and LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   

 

 
 
 
 
Copies to: Councillors Farooq, Howard, Moyo, Cereste, Sharp and Wiggins 

118



The Site

Print Date: 26/05/2021

Committee Location Plan 21/00150/HHFUL Pond House The Park Wisbech Road Thorney Peterborough PE6 0SA NTS

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:1,000

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

Scale
119



This page is intentionally left blank

120



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee 15 June 2021     Item No. 3 
 
Application Ref: 21/00150/HHFUL  
 
Proposal: Ground and first floor extension to front, sides and rear of the property 
 
Site: Pond House, The Park, Wisbech Road, Thorney 
Applicant: Dr A Qayyum 
  
Agent: Mr Sajjad Panjwani 
  
Referred by: Executive Director of Place and Economy 
Reason: Constitutional - Applicant’s spouse is an elected Member 
 
Site visit: 02.03.2021 
 
Case officer: Karen Ip 
Telephone No. 01733 453405 
E-Mail: karen.ip@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: REFUSE   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and surroundings 
The application site comprises a two storey detached residential dwelling located within an 
extensive plot to the rear of properties fronting Wisbech Road to the north.  The site sits adjacent 
to Thorney Park (to the south and west) and is partially within the designated Thorney 
Conservation Area. Properties surrounding the site vary in style and sizes, with the prevailing 
character being large detached dwellings set within spacious plots.   
 
The dwelling is sited to the northern-most area of the plot, with a large number of mature trees both 
within and surrounding the site. Those trees to the north-western corner of the site are subject to 
formal protection by way of a Tree Preservation Order.   
 
Proposal 
The applicant is seeking planning permission for the construction of ground and first floor 
extensions to the front, rear and both sides of the property.  The overall effect would be to 
completely remodel the entire appearance of the property.   
 
To the front (north) elevation, the proposal would extend at two storeys forwards by some 2.9 
metres, with two small gable projections in addition (to 3.7 metres).  The existing attached garage 
would also be extended upwards, to one and a half storeys in height.  The rear elevation would be 
extended outwards at two storeys by some 3 metres, with two larger gable projections beyond this.  
Whilst the western side elevation would be extended by approximately 3.5 metres at two storeys.   
 
The proposal also includes converting the existing garage into a habitable space.  
 
It should be noted that the proposal has been amended from that which was originally submitted.  
The original application sought the construction a detached 4 berth garage, however this has now 
been removed from the proposal. 
 

121



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
17/02011/HHFUL Proposed extensions and alterations Refused  07/09/2018 

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. 
 
Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions.  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area or its setting, or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 
only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 
 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
LP29 - Trees and Woodland  
Proposals should be prepared based upon the overriding principle that existing tree and woodland 
cover is maintained. Opportunities for expanding woodland should be actively considered.  
Proposals which would result in the loss or deterioration of ancient woodland and or the loss of 
veteran trees will be refused unless there are exceptional benefits which outweigh the loss. Where 

122



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

a proposal would result in the loss or deterioration of a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order 
permission will be refused unless there is no net loss of amenity value or the need for and benefits 
of the development outweigh the loss. Where appropriate mitigation planting will be required. 
 
Peterborough Design and Development in Selected Villages SPD (2011) 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Conservation Officer (26.03.21 and 05.05.21) 
Objection - The proposals are incongruous with the setting of the Thorney Conservation Area. The 
building needs simplifying and designing in a proportionate manner that respects and reflects the 
distinctive local character of the conservation area in which it stands. 
 
Historic England (27.04.21) 
No comments 
 
Thorney Parish Council (04.05.21) 
A majority of Thorney Parish Council are opposed to this development (4 objections, 3 no 
objections). 
 
a) The documents state that the property is not visible from the public realm. This is not the case 
as it is visible from both the Wisbech Road and Thorney Park. Thorney Parish Council continue to 
have concerns over the visual impact this large development would have on the conservation area 
of Thorney. 
 
b) There is a secondary staircase shown at first floor level. Does this give access to additional 
accommodation which is not shown on the drawings or what is its purpose? This needs to be 
clarified please. 
 
c) The Biodiversity Checklist, Question 4 is incorrectly answered as there is a pond in the grounds 
to the rear of the house. This can be seen on the additional drawings which were requested by the 
Tree Officer due to inaccurate information in the application about trees on the site.  
 
There remain some feelings that the proposed building is too large in this location and that it may 
dominate views from the Wisbech Road and the Conservation Area. The second storey above the 
existing garage on the north facing side is of particular concern on Wisbech Road frontage in the 
proposed increase in the mass of the building. This would become a dominant view from Wisbech 
Road, detracting from an otherwise picturesque street scene. Thorney is an historic village and all 
efforts should be made to uphold the conservation status parts of the village hold. We support the 
conservation officer’s comments in this regard. 
 
We are pleased the issue with the garage raised by neighbours has been addressed, by way or 
removing this from the application. 
 
PCC Tree Officer (30.04.21) 
No objection - Pleased to see the garage removed from the proposed development.  Happy to 
accept the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement 
together with the proposed planting.  Please condition accordingly with any future planning 
approval. 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 5 
Total number of responses: 4 (including the Parish Council) 
Total number of objections: 4 
Total number in support: 0 
 

123



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

Two rounds of public consultation have taken place.  The first related to the original proposal and 
the second following removal of the garage from the scheme.   
A total of 3no. objections have been received from neighbours on the following grounds (all were 
received during the first round of consultation): 
 
- The proposed garage would dominate views from neighbouring garden 
- Garages causing loss of light to neighbouring properties 
- Concerns regarding the size of the garage 
- Possible light pollution from security lights. 
- Impacts to the 150 year old Oak tree at the entrance to Pond House 
- Concerns for wildlife habitats close to the West extension of the house 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 
- Design and impact to the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area, 

including heritage assets 
- Neighbour amenity 
- Parking provision 
- Trees 
 
a) Design and impact to the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area, 
including heritage assets 
As set out in Section 1 above, the application site is partially within the designated Thorney 
Conservation Area (CA).  Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 (as amended) requires that special regard be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.  This is further reinforced through 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) which states that great weight should be given to 
the conservation of heritage assets.  
 
Significance is one of the guiding principles in relation to assessing the impact of proposals upon 
the historic environment, and is defined in the NPPF as ‘the value of a heritage asset to this and 
future generations because of its heritage interest’. Such interest may be archaeological, 
architectural, artistic or historic, and it may derive not only from a heritage asset’s physical 
presence, but also from its setting.   
 
Thorney is a historical village with a string of heritage assets in the heart of the village and along 
Wisbech Road. The application site is in a prominent position of the higher grounds which overlook 
Wisbech Road and the properties which front it. Although the existing dwelling itself has no 
distinctive character or architectural merit, and the physical building itself does not sit within the 
CA, due to its prominent position and the fact that the CA surrounds it, it is important for any 
developments to uphold the character of the CA and ensure they complement the flavour of the 
village.  
 
The proposal seeks to considerably enlarge the host dwelling on all sides, with a design which is 
considered to result in wholesale remodelling of the existing dwelling.  This in itself is wholly 
contrary to Policy Thor 7 of the Peterborough Design and Development in Selected Villages SPD 
(2011), which clearly states that extensions should be subservient and smaller than the principal 
building.  However notwithstanding and further to this, it is considered that the proposal would 
result in a form of development which appears incongruous and alien within the surrounding area.  
The overall composition of the resultant dwelling would be to a scale and mass which is considered 
to be unduly obtrusive and harmful to the overall appearance of the surrounding area.   
 
Whilst it is accepted and agreed that the allocation site plot is of sufficient size to accommodate a 
large detached executive-style dwelling, Officers and the Conservation Officer, are of the view that 
the dwelling needs to be remodelled in a sympathetic and holistic manner, to the highest standards 
of design.  The proposal in its current form is considered to represent a poor standard of design, 

124



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

appearing a contrived and awkward arrangement of different building lines and forms such that the 
dwelling loses all structure or visual amenity.  Given its prominent position within the public realm, 
this poor quality of design would be readily noticeable (particularly during winter months when 
trees within the locality have shed) and give rise to harm to the character, appearance need visual 
amenity of the surrounding area.  The proposal is therefore considered to fail to preserve the 
character or appearance of the CA.   
 
The NPPF categorises harm to heritage assets as being either substantial or less than substantial.  
Substantial harm is generally accepted to be the total loss of the significance of an asset, which 
would not be the case in this instance. Therefore, the harm arising from the proposal is categorised 
as less than substantial.  Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires that where less than substantial 
harm is identified, it be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.   
 
In this instance, it is considered that very limited public benefit would result.  The main benefit 
would be private, to the Applicant, through increased living accommodation and property size.  
Some degree of public benefit would however result through the creation of executive, top-of-the-
market housing, which the Council seeks to retain through current Local Plan policies.  However, 
this is not considered to be a benefit of such magnitude that it would outweigh the harm identified 
to the Thorney Conservation Area, given that such harm is required to be afforded great weight.   
 
Based on the above, the proposal is considered to be contrary to Policies LP16 and LP19 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019), paragraphs 193 and 196 of the NPPF, and the Thorney-specific 
policies of the Peterborough Design and Development in Selected Villages SPD (2011). 
 
b) Neighbour amenity 
The application site is located adjacent to a number of neighbouring properties to the north and 
east.  Given this relationship, the main impact would result from the proposed extensions to the 
front and western side of the property.  
 
At present, there is limited separation distance between the application property and the garden of 
No.1 The Park (approximately 15.3 metres), albeit the internal first floor arrangement of the 
property is such that no primary habitable windows look towards this neighbour (windows serving a 
small study not capable of being a usable bedroom, bathroom and landing).   The proposed two 
storey front extension would not only project forward and closer to this neighbouring dwelling 
thereby reducing the separation further, but would also include windows which serve primary 
habitable rooms (namely bedroom 3 and bedroom 5).  As such, the proposal would result in direct 
overlooking towards No.1 with the closest window-to-garden and window-to-window separation 
distances of only 10.9 and 18.9 metres respectively.  As such, the impact of overlooking would be 
greatly increased. In addition, whilst the development is considered unlikely to cause significant 
overshadowing, it is however, considered to be likely result in significant overbearing impact as the 
application property is on a higher ground to this neighbours that it would dominate and oppress 
the neighbour’s garden.  
 
To the north-east, the existing single storey flat roof garage on the site is set some 3.3 metres from 
the shared boundary with No.53 Wisbech Road.  The proposal seeks to increase the height of this 
structure to 5 metres to the eaves and 7 meters to the ridge, with a blank gable wall facing towards 
this neighbour.  Given the orientation and lack of separation, it is considered that this would result 
in an unacceptably overbearing impact to the garden and primary habitable rooms of No.53 such 
that unacceptable harm to the amenities of occupants would result.   
 
To the east, the neighbouring dwelling of No.53A is a bungalow structure. The proposal would 
result in a new facing primary habitable window (serving bedroom 6) towards this neighbour at first 
floor level which would introduce new potential for overlooking.   However, a separation distance of 
some 25 metres would be achieved between the development and the neighbour's side elevation, 
and this is therefore considered sufficient to ensure that no unacceptable loss of privacy would 
result. This distance would also ensure that the extension would not unduly overshadow or be 
overbearing to this neighbour.  

125



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

 
Neighbours at No.53 Wisbech Road further to the east, share their rear boundary with the 
application site, albeit at the south-eastern most end. There is no impact to these neighbour’s 
amenities which would result from the proposed development.  
 
Based on the above, the proposal would result in unacceptable harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants and is considered to be contrary to Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019). 
 
c) Parking provision 
The proposal would result in the loss of 2no. existing parking spaces through conversion of the 
existing garage. However, there would still be enough parking spaces retained within the site to 
accommodate a minimum of 2 vehicles (albeit far more could be accommodated).  This would 
therefore accord with the Council's adopted minimum parking standards for the size of dwelling 
proposed.   
 
The proposal would therefore not unduly harm the safety of the public highway, in accordance with 
Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
d) Trees 
As detailed in Section 1 above, there are a number of trees both within and immediately adjacent 
to the site which are subject to formal protection by virtue of a Tree Preservation Order.  The 
application has been accompanied by a detailed Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method 
Statement, which includes a tree protection plan to demonstrate how the development can be 
achieved without harming these important trees.  The Council's Tree Officer has accepted these 
documents and confirmed that the proposal would not harm the roots of the trees within the 
development area.  
 
Subject to a condition securing compliance with the submitted information, the proposal would not 
result in unacceptable harm to trees of key amenity value, in accordance with Policy LP29 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
6 Conclusions 
 
The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below. 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Planning Permission is 
REFUSED for the following reasons: 
 
   
R 1 The proposal by virtue of its design, size, scale and mass, fails to respect, reflect or be 

subservient to the host dwelling.  Furthermore, the proposal is considered to represent poor 
design through the creation of a dwelling which appears contrived, unduly dominant and 
obtrusive.  Given the prominent siting of the application site, the proposal would be readily 
visible from the public realm and this would therefore heighten the harm arising from the 
design.  The proposal would therefore fail to preserve the character or appearance of the 
Thorney Conservation Area, such that less than substantial harm would result.   

 
It is not considered that the public benefits of the proposal would outweigh this harm, and 
therefore the proposal is contrary to Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019), paragraphs 193 and 196 of the NPPF, and the Thorney-specific policies of the 
Peterborough Design and Development in Selected Villages SPD (2011). 

 

126



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

 
R 2 The proposal, by virtue of its siting, layout and design, would result in an unacceptable level 

of harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupants.  The proposal would result in an 
unacceptable degree of direct overlooking to the garden and primary habitable rooms of 
No.1 The Park, and would result in undue overbearing and dominance to the garden and 
primary habitable rooms of No.53A Wisbech Road.  The proposal is therefore contrary to 
Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
 
Copies to Councillors: Allen, Brown and Simons  
 

127



This page is intentionally left blank

128


	Agenda
	4.1 23 March 2021
	4.2 13 April 2021
	4.3 20 April 2021
	5.1 21/00287/R3FUL - Land At Bishops Road Eastgate Peterborough
	Item 5.1 Committee Report FINAL

	5.2 21/00229/REM - Land East Of Aqua Drive Hampton Water Peterborough
	Item 5.2 Committee Report 21-00229-REM 03.06.21 FINAL

	5.3 21/00150/HHFUL - Pond House The Park Wisbech Road Thorney
	Item 5.3 21 0015 HHFUL - Pond House - FINAL




